

LUND UNIVERSITY

On Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis

Salim, Saman

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Salim, S. (2020). On Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 On Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis

On Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis

Saman Salim, MD



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Clinical Research Centre, Malmö. May 30th 2020 at 09:30.

> Faculty opponent Professor Carl-Magnus Wahlgren (MD, PhD) Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Faculty of Medicine	
Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö	
	Date of issue
	May 30 th 2020
Author: Saman Salim	Sponsoring organization
On Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis	

Abstract

Background: Mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) is a rare but life-threatening condition which without treatment can develop into bowel ischaemia, bowel gangrene, peritonitis, and death. Main causes of MVT are coagulation disorders, abdominal inflammatory conditions, malignancies, and liver diseases. Currently available investigations fail to identify a causal factor in about 20 % of patients. Since MVT is extremely seldom diagnosed on clinical grounds, computed tomography (CT) with intravenous contrast enhancement and imaging in the portal phase has become the most important, reliable, and accurate imaging for diagnosis of MVT. Immediate anticoagulation therapy after diagnosis has been proposed as the first-line treatment option. When to perform thrombophilia testing in venous thromboembolism, and how to interpret the results, is debatable.

Aims:

The aims were to study:

- Prognostic factors, outcome, failure rate of anticoagulation as monotherapy, and to identify when bowel
 resection was needed.
- Clincal efficacy and safety of direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs) and vitamin K antagonists (VKA) in MVT patients
- The association of CT findings at admission and bowel resection rate in patients with MVT.
- Differences in risk factor profiles between patients with MVT and systemic venous thromboembolism (VTE).

Methods: Retrospective study of consecutive patients with MVT diagnosed between 2000 and 2017 at Skåne University Hospital, Sweden. For the comparative study, 1465 consecutive patients with VTE between 1998 and 2008 were retrieved from the Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS).

Results: Among 120 patients, seven died due to autopsy-verified MVT without bowel resection and 15 underwent immediate bowel resection without prior anticoagulation therapy. The remaining 98 patients received anticoagulation monotherapy, wherof 83 (85%) were treated successfully. Computed tomography showed successful recanalization of thrombois in 71% of patients on VKA and 69% of patients with DOACs (p=0.88). No difference in major bleeding (p=0.54) was found between VKA and DOACs. The presence of mesenteric oedema (p=0.014), small bowel wall oedema(p<0.001), small bowel dilatation (p=0.005), and ascites (p=0.021) were associated with increased bowel resection rate. Patients with MVT have a higher prevalence of cancer (19.2% versus 12.1%; p=0.026) and lower prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation (26.6% versus 38.9%; p=0.031) than those with systemic VTE.

Conclusion: Contemporary data show that monotherapy with anticoagulation is an effective first choice in acute MVT patients if diagnosed early in the course. Anticoagulation treatment with DOACs appears to be able to replace VKA in patients with MVT. The presence of abnormal intestinal findings secondary to MVT confers an excess risk of need of bowel resection due to infarction. The high prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation in patients without cancer in both MVT and VTE groups, suggests that screening for factor V Leiden mutation in this population should be considered in both groups.

Key words: Mesenteric venous thrombosis, Intestinal ischaemia, Venous thromboembolism, Thrombophilia, Anticoagulation, Direct oral anticoagulants, Vitamin K antagonists.

Classification system and/or index te	rms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical inform	nation	Language Eng	
ISSN 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-872-8	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 91	Price	
	Security classification		

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Samar Jalium

Date 2020-04-21

On Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis

Saman Salim, MD



Supervisor: Professor Stefan Acosta Co-supervisor: Associate Professor Johan Elf Co-supervisor: Moncef Zarrouk, MD, PhD Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden

Cover photo: The Sea Serpent Fountain placed in the Grand Square in Trelleborg, Sweden. The sea serpent sprays out its venom with anticoagulative power to rescue the sea mermaid's life by dissolving her deadly mesenteric venous thrombosis.

Copyright pp 1-91 Saman Salim, MD Paper 1 © World Journal of Surgery Paper 2 © Phlebology Paper 3 © Emergency Radiology Paper 4 © Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden ISBN 978-91-7619-872-8 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

To my **family**

Table of Contents

List of Publications	10
Thesis at a glance	11
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	12
Abbreviations	14
Introduction	15
Normal mesenteric circulation	15
Mesenteric ischaemia	18
History of MVT	19
Epidemiology of MVT	20
Thrombophilia	20
Inherited thrombophilia	21
Acquired thrombophilia	22
Pathogenesis of MVT	25
Clinical presentation	26
Diagnosis	26
Clinical examination	
Laboratory evaluation	
Imaging	
I reatment	
Surgery	20
Endovascular therapy	
Outcome	
Aims of the studies	37
Methods	
Ethics	
Setting	
Overview of the studies	
Data collection	40

Retrieval of patients with MVT40 Retrieval of patients with VTE40
Treatment strategy at the study centre
Definitions41
Computed tomography42
Statistical methods
Results45
Paper I
Paper II
Paper III
Paper IV
Discussion
Epidemiology
Aspects on age and gender60
Thrombophilia in the population60
Screening for inherited thrombophilia61
Clinical diagnosis – still ''impossible''?61
Early diagnosis
Summary of initial management63
The importance to scrutinize the CT images
The place of DOACs in MVT64
The place of endovascular therapy
Suggested algorithm for management of MVT67
Chronic MVT68
Late small bowel stricture
Short bowel syndrome
Strengths and limitations of the studies69
Conclusion71
Future perspectives73
Acknowledgements75
References

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals and reprinted with permission from their respective publishers.

- I. Salim S, Zarrouk M, Elf J, Gottsäter A, Ekberg O, Acosta S. Improved prognosis and low failure rate with anticoagulation as first line therapy in mesenteric venous thrombosis. World J Surg 2018; 42: 3803-3811
- II. Salim S, Ekberg O, Elf J, Zarrouk M, Gottsäter A, Acosta S. Evaluation of direct oral anticoagulants and vitamin K antagonists in mesenteric venous thrombosis. Phlebology 2019; 34: 171-178.
- III. Salim S, Ekberg O, Elf J, Zarrouk M, Gottsäter A, Acosta S. Clinical implications of CT findings in mesenteric venous thrombosis at admission. Emerg Radiol 2018; 25: 407-13
- IV. Salim S, Zarrouk M, Elf J, Gottsäter A, Sveinsdottir S, Svensson P, Acosta S. Clinical implications of different risk factor profiles in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis and systemic venous thromboembolism: a population-based study. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2019; 47: 572-577.

Thesis at a glance

Paper	Aim	Method	Main results
 Improved prognosis and low failure rate with anticoagulation as first- line therapy in mesenteric venous thrombosis. 	Evaluate outcome, prognostic factors, and failure rate of anticoagulation as monotherapy, and to identify when bowel resection was needed	Retrospective study of consecutive patients with MVT diagnosed between 2000-2015	Among the 98 patients receiving anticoagulation treatment, 83 (85%) were successfully treated with heparin as monotherapy without need for surgical intervention. Overall 30- day mortality rate was 10.8%.
II. Evaluation of direct oral anticoagulants and vitamin K antagonists in mesenteric venous thrombosis.	Evaluate clinical efficacy and safety of DOACs and VKA in patients with MVT	Retrospective study of 102 patients with MVT treated between 2004 and 2017 at a centre with a conservative medical first approach. Median clinical follow-up was 4 years.	Computed tomography showed successful recanalization of thrombosis in 71% of patients on VKA and 69% of patients on DOACs (p=0.88). No difference in major bleeding (p=0.54) was found between VKA and DOACs.
III. Clinical implications of CT findings in mesenteric venous thrombosis at admission	Evaluate the association of computed tomography (CT) findings at admission and bowel resection rate in patients with MVT	Retrospective study of MVT patients treated between 2004 and 2017. CT images at admission and at follow-up were scrutinized according to a predefined protocol	The presence of mesenteric oedema ($p=0.014$), small bowel wall oedema ($p=0.001$), small bowel dilatation ($p=0.005$), and ascites ($p=0.021$) were associated with increased bowel resection rate.
IV. Clinical implications of different risk factor profiles in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis and systemic venous thromboembolism: a population-based study	To compare acquired and inherited risk factors in MVT versus VTE	Retrospective study of consecutive patients with MVT diagnosed between 2000-2015. VTE patients were retrieved from the Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS), including 1465 consecutive unselected VTE patients between 1998 and 2008.	Patients with MVT have a higher prevalence of cancer and lower prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation than those with systemic VTE.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Akut blodpropp i den övre stora tarmvenen (mesenterialvenstrombos)

Bakgrund

Mesenterialvenstrombos (MVT) är en sjukdom som innebär att patienten utvecklat en blodpropp i en av de stora tarmvenerna. Sjukdomen är ovanlig, och leder mycket ofta till svår syrebrist i tarmen (tarminfarkt) och död. Det är en av de svåraste akuta buksjukdomarna att diagnosticera på kliniska grunder. För bara några årtionden sedan upptäcktes en ansenlig del av patienterna först genom fyndet av död tarm vid obduktion, medan allt fler patienter numera kan diagnostiseras mycket tidigare med hjälp av moderna röntgenundersökningar. Sjukdomen indelas i primär och sekundär MVT beroende på om det föreligger en utlösande orsak till sjukdomen. Primär MVT innebär att man inte finner orsak till sjukdomen medan sekundär, som är den vanligare formen, innebär att det finns en bakomliggande förklaring såsom ärftliga orsaker som gör att blodets levringsförmåga ökar, cancersjukdomar eller inflammatoriska tillstånd i buken, exempelvis bukspottkörtelinflammation.

Syfte med studierna avseende akut blodpropp i den övre stora tarmvenen

- Att studera prognostiska faktorer, utfall, frekvensen av misslyckad behandling med blodförtunnande läkemedel och identifikation när tarmkirurgi behövs.
- Att studera behandlingseffekten och säkerheten av nya och gamla blodförtunnande läkemedel.
- Att studera kopplingen mellan röntgenfynd och tarmkirurgi.
- Att studera skillnader i riskfaktorer mot patienter som drabbats av blodpropp i andra kroppsdelar och lungor.

Sammanfattande metod och resultat av avhandlingens studier

Sammantaget bygger avhandlingen på fall av patienter diagnostiserade med MVT på Skånes universitetssjukhus mellan åren 2000-2017. Sjukdomens kliniska förlopp och utfall studeras först (delarbete I), och i dagens moderna sjukvård diagnostiseras trots allt majoriteten av patienter i tid med röntgenundersökningar (skiktröntgen) och dessa kan i huvudsak behandlas med blodförtunnande läkemedel utan kirurgi. Införandet av nya blodförtunnande läkemedel på marknaden gav oförändrat med blödningskomplikationer och var lika effektivt att lösa upp blodproppen som gamla blodförtunnande läkemedel (delarbete II). I delarbete III studerades skiktröntgenfynden vid MVT med avseende på utbredning av venpropp och tarmpåverkan samt dess kliniska betydelse. Patienter med tarmförändringar vid skiktröntgen löper större risk att genomgå kirurgi. Riskfaktorer vid MVT jämfördes sedan med annan form av propp i vensystemet i samma befolkning efter sammanslagning av två databaser. Patienter med MVT hade i högre frekvens cancer och lägre frekvens av genmutationen kallad "faktor V Leiden" (delarbete IV).

Slutsatser

Blodförtunnande läkemedel är en effektiv förstahandsbehandling vid akut MVT. Behandling med nya blodförtunnande läkemedel förefaller vara lika bra som det gamla blodförtunnande läkemedlet warfarin. Det är viktigt att behandlade läkare detaljstuderar röntgenbilderna tillsammans med röntgenläkare för att identifiera högriskpatienter för kirurgi. Den höga förekomsten av trombofili faktorn,"faktor V Leiden mutation", stödjer att man bör screena för den faktorn i vår population för att kunna ge patienten en förklaring till att denne drabbats, såvida patienten inte har en sekundär MVT t.ex. cancersjukdom.

Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
СТ	Computed tomography
DOAC	Direct oral anticoagulants
DVT	Deep vein thrombosis
ESVS	European Society for Vascular Surgery
FVL	Factor V Leiden
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
INR	International normalized ratio
JAK2 V617F	Janus-activated kinase gain of function substitute of valine to phenylalanine at position 617
LMWH	Low molecular weight heparin
MATS	Malmö Thrombophilia Study
MVT	Mesenteric venous thrombosis
PE	Pulmonary embolism
РТ	Prothrombin
PVT	Portal vein thrombosis
SMA	Superior mesenteric artery
TIPS	Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt
VKA	Vitamin K antagonists
VTE	Venous thromboembolism

Introduction

Normal mesenteric circulation

The mesenteric blood circulation consists primarily of three major arteries (celiac artery, superior mesenteric artery, and inferior mesenteric artery) and two major veins (superior and inferior mesenteric veins) which are connected by smaller arterioles, capillaries and venules. This cascade, also known as the splanchnic circulation, courses through the mesentery, providing blood to and draining it from the digestive organs. The celiac artery is the first major branch of the abdominal aorta and, together with its branches, provides oxygenated blood to the stomach, proximal duodenum, part of the pancreas, spleen, liver, gallbladder, and biliary tree. The superior mesenteric artery (Figure 1) arises just inferior to the celiac artery and supplies arterial blood to the rest of the duodenum and pancreas, the entire small intestine, and the large intestine up to the splenic flexure. The inferior mesenteric artery is the third main branch of the abdominal aorta and provides blood to the remainder of the colon and rectum. The inferior mesenteric vein joins the splenic vein, and the superior mesenteric vein and anastomose to form the portal vein (Figure 2)[1].



Figure 1. Frontal view of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA) and its branches. The large vessel (blue) beside the SMA is the superior mesenteric vein. Wikimedia Commons.



Figure 2. The portal vein and its tributaries. It is formed by the superior mesenteric vein, inferior mesenteric vein, and splenic vein. Wikimedia Commons.

Mesenteric ischaemia

Mesenteric ischaemia occurs when the blood flow in the mesenteric circulation does not meet the metabolic demands of the bowel, resulting in ischaemia, intestinal necrosis, and eventually patient death if untreated[2]. Acute mesenteric ischaemia accounts for about 1:1000 acute hospital admissions in Europe and in USA[3]. Although mesenteric ischaemia is relatively uncommon, it can be life-threatening, and its recognition is therefore crucial to reduce the high mortality rates (50 to 80%)[4-7]. Four different etiological forms of mesenteric ischaemia have been identified: arterial embolism, arterial thrombosis, venous thrombosis and nonocclusive (low-flow) mesenteric ischaemia. Arterial embolism is the most frequent cause, accounting for 45 % of acute intestinal ischaemia[8]. The majority of emboli arise from the heart in the setting of cardiac arrythmia. Other sources of emboli include intracardiac thrombosis, valve vegetations, and atheromatous plaque in the aorta. Arterial thrombosis accounts for approximately 25% of cases of acute mesenteric ischaemia[8]. This entity occurs in the setting of severe atherosclerosis of the superior mesenteric artery (SMA), typically at its origin[9, 10]. The exact aetiology of the SMA occlusion, embolism or thrombosis, is sensitive to changes of preventive activity towards cardiovascular disease in terms of prophylaxis against arterial embolism, smoking cessation, medication against atherosclerotic disease. The embolism/thrombosis ratio of acute SMA occlusion today is probably near 1. There will always be a number of indeterminate cases of acute SMA occlusions, even if this percentage will decrease with time due to increased activity with high resolution computed tomography angiography (CTA)[11].Nonocclusive mesenteric ischaemia accounts for about 20 % of cases of mesenteric ischaemia. It is poorly understood but is thought to occur as a result of splanchnic hypoperfusion and vasoconstriction. MVT causes 10% of cases of acute intestinal ischaemia. This condition occurs in a variety of clinical settings, such as trauma, hypercoagulable states, liver cirrhosis, and malignancies [12]. Dissection of the SMA, either isolated or in combination with aortic dissection, does not belong to the classical aetiologies of acute mesenteric ischaemia. Differences and similarities in clinical presentation for acute embolic and thrombotic SMA occlusion, and MVT are outlined in Table 1.

	SMA embolus	SMA thrombus	MVT	
Age ≥ 80 years	++	+	-	
Age < 50 years	-	-	+	
Women > Men	+	+	+/-	
Atrial fibrillation	++	-	-	
Previous myocardial infarction	++	+	-	
Stroke	+	++	-	
Previous symptoms of chronic mesenteric ischaemia	-	++	-	
Previous DVT or PE	-	-	++	
Symptoms				
Sudden onset	++	+/-	-	
Insidious onset	-	+	+	
Abdominal pain	++	+	+	
Vomiting	++	++	+	
Diarrhoea	+	+	+	
Bloody stools	+	+	+/-	
Synchronous embolism	++	-	-	

Table 1. Clinical presentation at admission to hospital in patients with acute mesenteric ischaemia[13]

++, Factors likely to be present, +, factor perhaps present, -, factor unlikely to be present. DVT: deep vein thrombosis. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis. PE: Pulmonary embolism. SMA: Superior mesenteric artery.

History of MVT

In 1921, Dr. Cokkinis stated: "Occlusion of the mesenteric vessels is regarded as one of those conditions of which the diagnosis is impossible, the prognosis is hopeless, and the treatment almost useless' [14]. This pessimism expressed by Dr. Cokkinis for almost 100 years ago, is unfortunately still shared by many physicians today. Such an attitude results from the continued poor outcome of most patients with acute mesenteric ischaemia. However, remarkable advances in medical and surgical aspects since Cokkinis era, has now made it possible to save lives of a substantial proportion of patients with mesenteric ischaemia[15]. MVT was recognized as a cause of intestinal gangrene already in 1895 by Elliot, who treated the infarcted bowel by resecting it, creating two stomas, and reanastomosizing them two weeks later[16]. Before recognition of nonocclusive mesenteric ischaemia, MVT was thought to be the principal cause of acute mesenteric ischaemia, and it was not until 1935 it was described as a distinct cause of mesenteric ischaemia, differentiated from mesenteric arterial occlusion by Warren and Eberhard[17]. During the same year, Donaldson and Stout performed dog experiments showing that MVT might not lead to gangrene, may allow spontaneous recovery, and was probably related to the same factors causing venous thrombosis in other parts of the body[18]. Following the development of heparin, anticoagulants were first used to treat MVT in 1940[19], and were shown to be associated with improved outcome

by Naitove and Weisman in 1965[20]. The first thrombectomy was described by Bergentz as an adjunctive treatment during laparotomy in 1974[21], and Yankes reported the first use of percutaneous transhepatic local thrombolytics to treat MVT in a high-risk surgical candidate in 1988[22].

Epidemiology of MVT

A population based study in the city of Malmö, Sweden, including 402 patients with acute mesenteric ischaemia with an autopsy rate of 87 %, showed that 16 % of patients were diagnosed with MVT[23]. The estimated overall incidences of MVT in Malmö 1970 to 1982[24] and 2000 to 2006[25] were similar, 2.7/100.000 personyears in 2000 to 2006 with equal incidences in both genders.

Thrombophilia

Thrombophilia (also called hypercoagulability) is the predisposition to thrombosis (formation of a clot within a blood vessel) secondary to an inherited or acquired condition[26]. The pathogenesis of thrombosis is multifactorial, already described in 1856 by the German pathologist Dr. Rudolf Virchow. He postulated three major factors that contribute to thrombosis, including: stasis (slow blood flow), endothelial injury (intravascular vessel wall damage) and hypercoagulability. The interplay between these factors, known as Virchow's triad, has influenced the present's day understanding of thrombus pathogenesis and is still a valid and useful concept. Virchow was referring to venous thrombosis, however his concepts are also relevant to the development of arterial thrombosis[27]. Stasis of blood flow mainly occurs in the setting of venous thrombosis due to the higher blood pressure in arteries as compared to veins[28]. Reduced venous blood flow during, for instance, liver cirrhosis, long-distance travel, immobilization, or in obese or pregnant woman, has convincingly shown to increase the risk of deep vein thrombosis (DVT)[29]. Endothelial injury and alteration of the vessel wall mostly occur in arteries due to several diseases and conditions such as smoking, chronically elevated blood atherosclerotic pressure, and disease secondary to hyperlipidaemia. Hypercoagulability can occur due to several clinical conditions, such as pregnancy, use of oral contraceptive medications, malignancies (paraneoplastic syndrome) and inherited thrombophilias[30].

Inherited thrombophilia

At present time, only a small number of genetic mutations have been shown to markedly increase the risk for VTE (major thrombophilia). These include: different loss-of-function mutations of the inhibitors of plasma coagulation that lead to deficiencies of antithrombin, protein C, and protein S, gain-of-function mutations (known as factor V Leiden) that results in resistance to activated protein C, and the guanin to adenine mutation at nucleotide 20210 of the prothrombin gene (FII20210A). Further hereditary conditions which may increase the risk of thrombosis are non-O blood group, elevated factor VIII, IX and XI levels, certain types of fibrinogen disorders, and hyperhomocysteinemia[31]. There are a growing number of, perhaps less important genetic mutations, that appears to be associated with VTE[32].

Antithrombin deficiency

This was the first recognized inherited risk factor for VTE, identified by Egeberg in 1965. He demonstrated that antithrombin activity was subnormal in affected members of a Norwegian family who suffered from venous thrombosis[33]. Antithrombin plays a key role in anticoagulation and inhibits the thrombin-mediated formation of fibrin clot and the generation of thrombin by activated factor X. Antithrombin deficiency is however very rare, the prevalence rates of 1 in 500 to 1 in 5000 in the general population have been reported[34, 35].

Protein C deficiency

A couple of years later, in the early 1980s, deficiencies of two other anticoagulant proteins, protein C and its co-factor protein S were discovered as distinct hereditary risk factors of VTE[36, 37]. The principal function of protein C is its anticoagulant property as an inhibitor of coagulation factors V and VIII. A deficiency of protein C leads to an inability of the normal cleaving of factor Va and VIIIa, ultimately increasing the propensity to thrombosis. The prevalence of heterozygous protein C deficiency in the general population is estimated to about 1 per 200 to 500[38, 39].

Protein S deficiency

Protein S deficiency and its connection with VTE was first reported in 1984[36]. Protein S physiologically serves as a co-factor for activated protein C and enhances its capacity to inactivate factor Va and factor VIIIa. Deficiency of protein S thus results in loss of the normal cleaving of factor Va and VIIIa and consequently increased risk of thrombosis. The prevalence in the general population remains unknown but is estimated to be less than 0,5%[40].

Activated Protein C resistance and Factor V Leiden mutation

Another decade later, in 1993, a major breakthrough came from Prof. Dahlbäck's laboratory in Malmö, Sweden, where they described a poor anticoagulant response to activated protein C on plasma samples taken from Swedish families with recurrent VTE. They named this phenomenon as "activated protein C resistance"[41]. It was later found that activated protein C resistance, in at least 90 % of the cases, was caused by a single point mutation in the gene for coagulation factor V[42]. Bertina et al, reported this genetic defect in 1994 (a single G to A nucleotide change at position 1691, leading to the substitution of arginine by glutamine at amino acid position 506) and named it as factor V Leiden mutation(FVL)[43]. This mutation renders factor V relatively resistant to degradation by protein C. As a result, factor V remains active which allows for longer duration of thrombin generation and predisposes to VTE. FVL is the most common genetic risk factor for VTE in northern Europe, found in approximately 20-25 % of patients with VTE and 50 % of patients with familial thrombophilia[44, 45]. The prevalence of FVL varies widely by population, it is most prevalent in people of northern European descent (ranging from 3-15%) and extremely rare in African, Asian and Australian indigenous population[46].

Prothrombin G20210A mutation

Prothrombin (factor II) is the precursor molecule of thrombin, which activates coagulation factors V and VIII and converts fibrinogen to fibrin. Prothrombin G20210A gene mutation, first described in 1996, is a single G to A point mutation at nucleotide position 20210 at the 3'-untranslated region of the prothrombin gene, resulting in increased plasma prothrombin levels. It is the second most common hereditary risk factor for venous thrombosis after FVL in healthy individuals of Caucasians origin. The prevalence of this mutation is 2-5 % in the general population and 6-18% in VTE patients[47].

Acquired thrombophilia

Surgery and trauma

Major general surgery (abdominal or thoracic surgery that require general anesthesia ≥ 30 minutes) and major orthopaedic surgery (lower extremity orthopaedic operations) are well known transient risk factors leading to a temporarily increased risk for VTE[48, 49]. Studies have shown that without antithrombotic prophylaxis, the incidence of thrombosis has been reported as high as 30 % while it was around 5 % when prophylaxis were given[49-51]. The surgical procedures with the highest VTE risk are hip and knee arthroplasty, major vascular surgery and neurosurgery[51-55].

Trauma, particularly multiple trauma, is also a well-established risk factor for developing VTE[56, 57]. Studies have shown that nearly 60 % of high risk trauma patients will develop a deep vein thrombosis if no prophylaxis is given[58, 59].

Age

The risk of VTE is strongly associated with age. VTE is uncommon in children and the risk increases exponentially with increased age for both men and women. The incidence rate increases from <5 cases per 100.000 persons <15 years old to almost 500 cases per 100.000 persons at age 80 years[60].

Immobilization and long-distance travel

Immobilization has been difficult to define, and it is challenging to estimate what effect it has on the risk for VTE. However, a study performed by Gibbs et al.[61] found that 15% of patients of patients on bed rest for < 1 week before death had venous thrombosis at autopsy, while the incidence rose to 80% when in bed for a longer period. The influence of immobility on VTE is striking in studies of hemiplegia; Warlow et al.[62] found asymptomatic deep vein thrombosis in 60% of paralyzed limbs of stroke patients compared with 7% in the non-paralyzed limbs. Although immobility and prolonged bed rest alone does not provide adequate reason for prescribing antithrombotic prophylaxis, combined with the presence of other risk factors, it is usually motivated.

Long distance air travel, the so called ''economy class syndrome'' and its associated risk for VTE has gained a lot of interest in the popular press the last decades. It was first reported as a risk factor in 1954, where the first case of VTE after a flight from Australia to the United Kingdom was described[63]. In a randomized controlled study of 231 participants without a prior history of VTE who were boarded on flights of >8 hours in duration, were randomized to compression stockings or not. Those randomized to compression stockings had no evidence of DVT on following duplex ultrasonography. Contrariwise, 10 % of untreated individuals developed asymptomatic DVT[64]. Despite these findings, there is general consensus that clinically significant VTE after air travel is rare[65, 66], and that the benefits of providing VTE prophylaxis during long distance flights are doubtful[67].

There are no studies prior to this thesis on the association between immobilization, long distance travel and MVT.

Obesity

Obese (body mass index $[BMI] > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$) individuals are at an increased risk for VTE compared with individuals who are of normal weight. The extent of the effects of obesity on VTE depends not only on total body fat, but also on the distribution of adipose tissue (e.g., central obesity)[68-70].

Malignancy

Cancer has been one of the best-known acquired risk factors for VTE. Already in 1865, Armand Trousseau, reported the relationship between cancer and thrombosis. Occurrence of venous thrombosis may be caused by venous obstruction due to local cancer growth and/or being part of a paraneoplastic syndrome. Several studies have established that thrombosis is a common complication for patients with malignancies, contributing to the second-leading cause of mortality in cancer patients[71, 72]. Studies have shown, that cancer patients undergoing surgery, have a 2-3-fold higher risk of VTE compared to patients undergoing surgery for non-malignant conditions. However, since malignancy is associated with other risk factors, the direct effect of malignancy on VTE is still uncertain. The incidence of VTE varies depending on which type and stage of cancer the patient has, where metastatic cancer disease is the strongest risk factor[73]. In general, patients with cancer have a 4-5 fold increase in their risk of VTE compared to the general population, and chemotherapy treatment is an additional risk factor for these patients[74-76].

Pregnancy and puerperium

Pregnant women have a 4-5 higher VTE risk than non-pregnant women[77, 78]. In postpartum, the risk is even higher (20-fold)[77]. This can be explained by physiological changes that normally occur during pregnancy with a shift towards a hypercoagulable state due to elevated coagulations factors, Von Willebrand factor, and fibrinogen[79]. The hypercoagulable state has likely been evolved to protect women from fatal bleeding during delivery and the postpartum period. Indeed, in the developing world, bleeding at the time of miscarriage or childbirth is still the leading cause of maternal death. The overall incidence of VTE during pregnancy is about 2 per 1000 births[80-82].

Oral contraceptives and hormone replacement therapy

The combined estrogen/progestogen oral contraceptive pill became available as contraceptives in the 1960s, shortly thereafter, reports suggested an alarming incidence of VTE in otherwise healthy young women taking these drugs[83]. Woman in their postmenopausal age treated with estrogen/progestogen compounds as a part of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) also have increased risk of VTE, about 2-4 fold[84-87]. There are numerous different brands of oral contraceptives with different chemical compositions. The VTE risk differs depending on the estrogen dose, type of progestin, duration of use, and administration route[88]. Consequently, this has led to a gradual reduction in the estrogen dose over the past couple of years[89]. Large studies have shown that the risk for VTE within women on combined oral contraceptives is around 3-5 fold compared with non-use[90]. However the incidence of VTE among combined oral contraceptive users remains low (8-10 events per 10 000 women-years of exposure), which is much lower than

the incidence of VTE during pregnancy and the postpartum period[91, 92]. The risk for VTE is lower when using low dose second generation combined oral contraceptives[93-96] but with the use of "mini-pills" (containing only progestogen), there is almost no increased risk[95].

JAK-2 V617F mutation

The janus-activated kinase gain of function substitute of valine to phenylalanine at position 617 (JAK-2 V617F) mutation is present in the majority of patients with myeloproliferative cancer, nearly 100% incidence in patients with polycythaemia vera and in about 50 % in patients with essential thrombocytosis and primary myelofibrosis[97-101]. Numerous studies have found that JAK-2 V617F is frequent in patients with splanchnic venous thrombosis, but rare in patients with venous thrombosis at other locations or with arterial thrombosis[102].

Lupus anticoagulant and Cardiolipin antibodies

Lupus anticoagulant and cardiolipin antibodies fall under the category of antiphospholipid antibodies (a heterogenous group of immunoglobulins directed against phospholipids, protein-phospholipid complexes and plasma proteins). They have both been recognized as markers for increased risk of thrombosis, spontaneous abortion, and cerebral ischaemia. Antiphospholipid antibodies is present in approximately 5 % of the general population and has been found in up to 30 % of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus[103]. Of note, administering direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs) instead of vitamin K antagonists (VKA) to patients with antiphospholipid syndrome has recently been warned for due to failure of prevention of venous thromboembolism[104].

Pathogenesis of MVT

Mesenteric venous thrombosis is classified as either primary or secondary. Primary MVT is an idiopathic condition whereas secondary MVT implies that an etiologic factor has been found. There are three major pathways for the pathogenesis of MVT[105]:

- 1. Direct injury such as abdominal trauma, post-surgical trauma, acute pancreatitis and inflammatory bowel disease. Surgical procedures at higher risk of MVT are splenectomy and bariatric surgery.
- 2. Local venous congestion or stasis such as portal hypertension/liver cirrhosis, severe congestive heart failure (ejection fraction < 20 %) and morbid obesity (BMI \ge 40 kg/m²).

3. Thrombophilia. Acquired thrombophilia such as cancer, especially pancreatic, and oral contraceptive use. Inherited thrombophilia such as Factor V Leiden mutation.

As our ability to diagnose inherited thrombotic disorders improves, the proportion of patients with primary MVT continues to decline. Currently, an etiologic factor can be identified in about 75 % of patients [106]. Systemic factors predisposing to MVT include inherited and acquired hypercoagulable states. Inherited thrombophilic states include factor V Leiden, prothrombin gene mutation, protein C and protein S deficiency, and antithrombin III deficiency, whereas acquired thrombophilic states include cardiolipin antibodies, lupus anticoagulants and JAK2 V617F mutation[105].

Clinical presentation

MVT can present in different clinical forms, acute, sub-acute and chronic[107]. The acute form is most common, accounting for 60 % to 80 % of MVT, characterized by acute onset of symptoms within 24-72 hours of thrombus formation whereas the sub-acute type presents during days to weeks of nonspecific symptoms[108, 109]. The chronic form is usually detected as an incidental finding on radiological examinations, typically together with evidence of portal hypertension, such as gastro-oesophageal varices and splenomegaly[110]. The abdominal pain of acute or sub-acute MVT is mid abdominal and colicky, suggesting an origin from the small intestine. Melena, hematemesis, or haematochezia occurs in only 15 %, whereas occult bleeding may be present in 50 % of the cases[106]. Fever and signs of peritonitis suggests progression of ischaemia to intestinal infarction[111].

Diagnosis

Given its nonspecific symptoms, low incidence and low awareness among clinicians, MVT is an insidious and difficult diagnosis to make. The disease may lead to life threatening complications such as bowel ischaemia, bowel gangrene and peritonitis if left untreated. Therefore, an early diagnosis and prompt effective treatment are critical to improve clinical outcome.

Clinical examination

Within the spectrum of patients presenting with acute abdominal pain, it is difficult to delineate those with MVT. There are no clinical features (symptoms, abdominal

findings, laboratory tests) that are specific for MVT, therefore a high index of suspicion is necessary to make an early diagnosis in patients with the acute or subacute forms or identify those with chronic thrombosis. The abdominal examination varies highly from nonspecific discomfort during palpation to severe, pain out of proportion to the examination. Fever is typically absent or low grade unless peritonitis or sepsis has developed[112].

Laboratory evaluation

No single biomarker is sensitive or specific for the diagnosis of MVT. The presence of increased serum lactate levels and metabolic acidosis may serve to identify patients with established bowel infarction, but this is a late finding[106]. Leukocytosis may be the only initial abnormal laboratory finding[113]. Plasma D-Dimer testing at presentation has a role in the diagnosis of acute venous thromboembolism. Especially normal plasma D-dimer can together with a low probability at clinical examination be used to rule out VTE[114]. Plasma D-dimer is reported to be elevated in MVT[25, 115], but the test is unspecific for any form of acute mesenteric ischaemia[116].

Imaging

Until recently it has been difficult to diagnose MVT without laparotomy. However, recent advancement in radiology has led to earlier diagnosis, making it possible to treat patients early in the course of the disease[24]. There are a number of potential imaging modalities for diagnosis of MVT such as ultrasound, computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and angiography. There has not been any comparative studies between the different imaging modalities. Contrast enhanced helical CT-imaging with three-phase scan is currently the golden standard diagnostic test for MVT [117]. CT can accurately visualize both the extent of thrombosis within the portomesenteric venous system and secondary abnormal intestinal findings (Figure 3). Thrombosis within the superior mesenteric vein is, in contrast to isolated portal vein thrombosis, associated with symptoms related to intestinal ischaemia in the overwhelming majority (92%)[118], and often results in intestinal infarction if left untreated [23, 118]. In retrospective studies, the accuracy of abdominal CT for the diagnosis of MVT is at least 90 percent [119-124]. On CT, the diagnosis of MVT is made by the presence of venous filling defects or absent flow in the mesenteric veins during the venous phase. A central low attenuation within a sharply defined, enhanced venous wall defines the defect[120]. Other associated findings include enhanced bowel wall and/or mesenteric strandings related to edema, and changes associated with bowel obstruction or intestinal infarction (bowel wall thickening >3mm, intestinal pneumatosis, portal vein gas, bowel dilatation, unexplained ascites)[125].



Figure 3. CT features of MVT

A 53-year-old man with previous history of treatment with VKA for three months due to DVT. Blood screening for thrombophilic disorders showed that he had activated protein C resistance in the homozygous form. The patient was admitted with acute abdominal pain, and CT with intravenous contrast enhancement in the portal phase showed MVT (multiple thin arrows). Note the secondary intestinal abnormalities such as dilated small bowel loops (thick arrow), mesenteric oedema (dashed line) and ascites (dotted line).

Treatment

Successful treatment of MVT rests on (I) preventing intestinal infarction and thereby minimizing the extent of bowel resection in acute MVT; (II) Diagnosing patients with hypercoagulable states and treating them with long-term anticoagulant therapy[126]. After diagnosing acute MVT, the treatment is predominantly conservative, consisting of systemic anticoagulation to minimize extension of thrombus, full bowel rest, total parenteral nutrition, analgesia, and careful, close monitoring for any signs of clinical deterioration[127-132].

Anticoagulation

Immediate unfractionated heparin therapy intravenously has been proposed as firstline treatment option as its effect can be reversed immediately if an emergency operation is needed[25]. Low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) administered subcutaneously is often used in clinical practice to patients with milder symptoms at presentation. LMWH may also be used following intravenous heparin therapy when the patient has improved. Once the patient's condition has stabilized, and no further intervention is planned, the patient can be transitioned to an oral anticoagulant (vitamin K antagonist or direct oral anticoagulants)[133]. According to the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS) guidelines[134], anticoagulation is given for six months in the presence of an identifiable transient risk factor, whereas patients with underlying thrombophilia or idiopathic MVT may be considered for lifelong anticoagulation since relapse of MVT is highly fatal[127, 135, 136].

Vitamin K antagonist

Vitamin K antagonists (VKA) has been around since the late 1950's [137]. Lifelong anticoagulation with VKA with a targeted international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.0 to 3.0 is the standard of care in patients where long-term management is indicated. Increased percentage of time in therapeutic range is important to decrease bleeding and thromboembolic complications[138]. Warfarin is the most commonly used VKA and acts by inhibiting enzymes involved in the hepatic synthesis of the vitamin K-dependant coagulation factors II, VII, IX, and X, as well as the natural anticoagulants protein C and protein S[139]. Despite its effective pharmacological properties, VKA treatment is limited by factors such as a narrow therapeutic index, drug-drug interactions, food interactions, slow onset and offset of action, and the need for routine monitoring of the INR. Thus, the shortcomings associated with VKA have spurred the search for oral anticoagulants with better pharmacokinetics. VKA is, however, still considered first choice option in patients on dialysis/severe renal insufficiency (estimated glomerular filtration rate [GFR]<30 $ml/min/1.73m^2$)[140] and in antiphospholipid syndrome[104].

Direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs)

The novel direct oral anticoagulants were introduced on and after 2008[141]. Currently, there are five DOACs on the market including direct thrombin inhibitor (dabigatran) and factor Xa inhibitors (apixaban, betrixaban, edoxaban. rivaroxaban). Several randomized controlled trials have shown that they are noninferior to conventional treatment (parenteral anticoagulation with unfractionated heparin or LMWH followed by VKA) for the treatment of acute VTE[142-147]. Apixaban[148], rivaroxaban[149] and edoxaban[150] are the three DOACs shown to be effective treatment options similar to LMWH in cancer associated venous thromboembolism. All DOACs should be avoided in patients with gastrointestinal cancer due to increased bleeding risk[151]. Given their predictable anticoagulant response, they do not require regular monitoring. Other advantages, as compared to VKA, include rapid onset and offset of action and fewer drug, supplement and dietary interactions. One important concern has been that there was no specific antidote for DOACs. This is however no longer the case. Two specific antidotes have been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA): idarucizumab (Praxbind®) for reversal of dabigatran (Pradaxa®) and andexanet alfa (AndexXa®) for the reversal of apixaban (Eliquis®) and rivaroxaban (Xarelto®)[152, 153]. DOACs are well established as first-line treatment for deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE) but have, however, been scarcely studied in MVT. The properties of the different anticoagulation drugs are summarized in Table 2.

P							
	Heparin	LMWH	Apixaban	Rivaroxaban	Edoxaban	Dabigatran	Vitamin K antagonist
Target	Antithrombin III facilitator	Antithrombin III facilitator	Factor Xa inhibitor	Factor Xa inhibitor	Factor Xa inhibitor	Factor Ila inhibitor	Inhibits vitamin K dependant clotting factors (II, VII, IX, X) and protein C and S
Time to peak effect	2-3 h	2-4 h	1 – 2 h	2 – 4 h	1 – 2 h	1 – 3 h	4 h (peak therapeutic effect 5-7 days)
Half-life	1-2 h	3-4h	8-14 h	7 – 11 h	5 – 11 h	14 – 17 h	20-60h
Renal elimination		80 %	27 %	33 %	50 %	80 %	
Contraindication/not recommended	Active bleeding. Septic Septic Known hypersensitivity or adverse reaction.	Previous hepatin-induced hepatin-induced hrombocytopeni known hypersensitivity or activerse reaction. Cand,min) Active pleeding. Active peptic ulcertation.	CrCl < 15 mL/min. Severe hepatic limpairment (Child Pugh C) or hepatic disease associated with coagulopathy.	CrCI <30 mL/min (FDA); CrCI <15 mL/min (EMA) = The Moderate or severe hepatic impairment. (Child Fungh B and C) or hepatic disease associated with coagulopathy.	CrCl <15 mL/min. Moderate or severe hepatic. impairment. (Child Pugh B and C) or Id Pugh B and C) hepatic disease associated with coagulopathy.	CrCl <30 mL/min. Concomitant treatment with P-gp inhibitors patients with CrCl <50 mL/min.	Known hypersensitivity or adverse reaction. Decompensated liver disease. Pregnancy.
Reversal agent	Protamine sulphate	Protamine sulphate	Andexanet	Andexanet	Andexanet	Idarucizumab	Prothrombin complex concentrate
Severe obesity (BMI ≥ 40kg/m²)	ŧ	+	-/+	-/+	-/+	-/+	ŧ
Active cancer	ŧ	ŧ	+	+	+		
Pregnancy	ŧ	‡					
Increased risk of bleeding (prediction model VTE- BLEED[15d]; 0-1=low risk, ≥2=high risk)	77	-1+	Active cancer(1.5) Male patient with uncontrolled hypertension (2) Anternia (1) History of Deceding(1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) Rend bysfunction (CrCl 30-60 mL/min) (1.5)	Active cancer(1.5) Male patient with uncontrolled hypertension (2) Anaemia (1) History of bleeding(1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) (1.5) (1.5)	Active cancer(1.5) Male patent with uncontrolled hypertension (2) Anaemia (1) History of bledding(1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) (CrCl 30-60 mL/min) (1.5)	Active cancer(1.5) Male patient with uncontrolled hypertension (2) Anaemia (1) History of Beeding(1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) Rend bysfunction (Crcl 30-60 mL/min) (1.5)	Active cancer(1.5) Male patient with uncontrolled hypertension (2) Anaemia (1) History of bleeding(1.5) Age>60 years (1.5) Renal dystunction (CrCl 30-60 Renal dystunction (CrCl 30-60
++, Recommended, + Might be recon	nmended, - Not reco	ammended, +/- Indiffe	erent. CrCl: Creatinine	eclearance, EMA: Europ	ean Medicines Agency,	FDA: US Food and Dru	ug Administration, P-gp: Plasma-

++, Recommended, + Might be recommended, - Not recommended, +/- Indifferent. CrCI: Creatinine clearance, EMA: European Medicines Agency, FLM: US Food and Urug Adminisuration, F-gp: Frasine-glycoprotein. VTE: Venous thromboembolism. Child-Pugh score is used to assess the prognosis of chronic liver disease, mainly cirrhosis. The score employs five clinical measures of liver disease, each measure is scored 1-3 with 3 indicating most severe derangement. Class A: 5-6 points, Class B: 7-9 points, Class C: 10-15 points. The table is based on the following references;[140, 149, 150, 155-157]

Table 2. Anticoagulation in VTE.

Surgery

Surgical exploration is limited to patients with peritonitis and definite signs of bowel infarction. When there is indication for abdominal exploration, an open approach is preferred over laparoscopic technique, since the extent of oedema and resulting abdominal distension, make laparoscopic approach problematic. Furthermore, insufflation of the abdomen can exacerbate mesenteric venous hypertension[107]. The aim of resection is to conserve as much bowel as possible. Determining the extent of bowel resection during abdominal explorations is challenging. The border between ischemic bowel and viable bowel is often diffuse and subtle in the acute stage of MVT[158](Figure 4). A way to avoid resecting bowel that might be viable, is to perform a follow-up (second-look) laparotomy 24 hours later. This is especially useful in patients who have extensive bowel involvement but some venous flow[159, 160]. Grossly infarcted small bowel should be resected (Figure 5). The bowel ends can be left without performing anastomosis or stoma until second look, or can be primarily anastomosed. Heparin therapy should start immediately after the operation.



Figure 4. Ischemic bowel due to MVT

A 47-year-old man with a history of DVT and PE treated with a vena cava filter presented with a 3-day history of lower abdominal pain and obstipation a few days after discontinuation of VKA treatment. He developed signs of generalized peritonitis 12 hours after admission. At laparotomy, 0.4 m of the most reddish and severely ischaemic segment (thin arrow) was resected and anastomosed. Note the distended small bowel loops (thick arrow) and the oedema in the adjacent mesentery (dashed line). The patient recovered and was prescribed lifelong treatment with VKA.



Figure 5. Development of transmural bowel necrosis after failure of conservative anticoagulation therapy

A 50-year old male patient was treated with three weeks of LMWH due to a CT verified MVT. Explorative laparotomy was performed due to clinical deterioration and showed a demarcated 1 meter long transmural green necrosis of the jejunum (arrow) with a large perforation. Note the dilated small bowel loop with apparent normal colour lying in parallel (dashed line). The patient recovered after bowel resection, open abdomen therapy with negative pressure wound therapy (separate mini image at the lower right corner), and reanastomosis of the stapled bowel ends at second look. Screening for thrombophilia showed that the patient was positive for JAK2 V617F mutation and a bone marrow biopsy diagnosed a polycythemia vera. The patient is scheduled for life long VKA therapy, and therapy against his hematologic malignancy.

Endovascular therapy

Currently there are no studies with comparative data, to help establish the indication for endovascular treatment of MVT. Endovascular treatment might be an option in selected patients unresponsive to conventional anticoagulation[25]. During recent years, a number of different endovascular procedures for the treatment of MVT have been developed.

These include percutaneous transhepatic mechanical thrombectomy[161], percutaneous transhepatic thrombolysis (Figure 6A)[162, 163], percutaneous transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunting (TIPS)[164] with mechanical aspiration thrombectomy and direct thrombolysis (Figure 6B)[165, 166], thrombolysis via the SMA(Figure 6C)[167], and thrombolysis via a surgically placed mesenteric vein catheter (Figure 6D)[168].

These techniques can provide rapid thrombus removal or dissolution, especially after TIPS and stent placement to create a low-pressure run-off[169]. Mechanical thrombectomy is most effective in cases of acute rather than chronic thrombus. Thrombolysis via the SMA is less effective and more time-consuming since it

requires longer infusion times and higher doses of thrombolytic agent. Furthermore, it is also associated with an increased risk of bleeding. An alternative technique for clot fragmentation in cases of refractory thrombus and fixed venous stenosis is balloon angioplasty. Aspiration thrombectomy is another technique that relies on vacuum and suction force to remove the clot, it is performed with at stiff, large-diameter (at least 8 Fr), angled catheter connected to a Luer-Lok[™] syringe (Bluebird Medical, Gothenburg, Sweden) to create vacuum effect[165].

Figure 6A-D. Schematic drawings of various ways of local delivery of thrombolysis for MVT. Artist © Robin Tran Usually a special catheter with multiple side holes will be placed directly in the thrombus (Figures A, B, D). An occluding ball wire at the catheter tip end hole (not shown) will allow for even pressure distribution of lytic agent at the side holes. Typically, an intestinal segment of the jejunum and/or ileum[24] will be swollen and ischaemic.



Figure 6A. Percutaneous transhepatic access.



Figure 6B. Percutaneous transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt including stentgraft placement in the shunt.



Figure 6C. Percutaneous transfemoral access and indirect thrombolysis by an endhole catheter placed in the superior mesenteric artery.



Figure 6D. Intra-operatively placed catheter in the superior mesenteric vein at laparotomy.
Open and hybrid vascular surgery

Open surgical thrombectomy after laparotomy and exposure of the superior first described 1968[170]. During mesenteric vein was in а pancreaticoduodenectomy for pancreatic cancer, the small bowel was found to be deeply evanotic and oedematous. The superior mesenteric artery and superior mesenteric vein were explored, and a superior mesenteric vein thrombosis was detected, which was immediately treated with open surgical thrombectomy without need of bowel resection. The second described case was reported from former colleagues at Malmö General Hospital in 1974[21]. Bowel resection was followed by open surgical thrombectomy with the use of Fogarty balloon catheter. After venotomy of the superior mesenteric vein, at the lower border of pancreas and just below the entrance of the splenic vein, thrombectomy of the extrahepatic porta, intrahepatic portal branches, splenic vein and superior mesenteric vein, was performed. A baby-feeding tube was left in the peripheral mesenteric vein after abdominal closure for delivery of continuous heparin infusion for five days, whereafter the catheter was removed without complications. A larger series of 31 patients treated surgically for acute portomesenteric thrombosis was reported in 1997[171]. Surgical thrombectomy was performed in eleven patients, and in five of those, additional treatment with continuous local thrombolysis with high-dose recombinant tissue plasminogen activator was administered via a catheter placed into a distal mesenteric vein for 2-3 days (Figure 6D). The catheter was removed after thrombolytic therapy without complications. In a modern series of nine patients[172], bowel resection was followed by fluoroscopic guided balloon thrombectomy followed by completion control venography. When the balloon catheter could not pass from the superior mesenteric vein into the portal vein, a guidewire was used to gain access for proper thrombectomy of the portomesenteric system. Postoperative systemic anticoagulation was administered, followed by long-term peroral anticoagulation treatment.

Outcome

Compared to other forms of acute mesenteric ischaemia, MVT has a better prognosis. In a large systematic review of nearly 3700 cases of acute mesenteric ischaemia, the overall mortality rate of patients with MVT was 44 %[7]. Due to better recognition and earlier treatment, morbidity and mortality related to MVT have improved[24, 131, 132, 173, 174]. With prompt diagnosis and treatment with anticoagulation, mortality rates for acute MVT in modern studies have been reported to be 10-20 % [24, 120, 130, 175-177]. The reported MVT recurrence rate seems to be low while patients are receiving anticoagulation [178, 179].

Aims of the studies

Paper I

To evaluate outcome, prognostic factors, and failure rate of anticoagulation as monotherapy, and to identify when bowel resection was needed.

Paper II

To assess the clinical efficacy, safety, and thrombus recanalization of DOACs and VKA therapy in MVT.

Paper III

To evaluate the association of CT findings at admission and bowel resection rate in patients with MVT.

Paper IV

To compare acquired and inherited risk factors in MVT versus VTE.

Methods

Ethics

All studies were performed according to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration of Human Rights. The four responsible hospital area managers gave written permission to retrieve patient record data on patients with MVT between 2000 and 2006 after written request. Retrieving data on patients with MVT between 2007 and 2017 and conducting the prospective Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS) were approved (diary numbers 2015/143 and 2007/237, respectively) by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden.

Setting

The four studies included in this thesis (Table 3) were performed on patients diagnosed with MVT between 2000-2015 (paper I+IV) and 2004-2017 (paper II+III) at Skåne University Hospital (SUS) in the southern part of Sweden. SUS is one of the largest hospitals in the country with a primary catchment area of 800.000 inhabitants.

Overview of the studies

Paper	Design	n patients	Timeframe
I	Retrospective cohort study	120	2000-2015
II	Retrospective cohort study	102	2004-2017
111	Retrospective cohort study	102	2004-2017
IV	Population-based study	120 MVT patients 1452 VTE patients	2000-2015

 Table 3. Overview of study designs and patients

Data collection

Retrieval of patients with MVT

Data collection was carried out between 1st January 2000 - 31st of December 2015 (**paper I+IV**) and between 1st of January 2004 - 29th of September 2017 (**paper II+III**). Identification of all MVT patients treated surgically or conservatively at SUS was performed in (1) hospital records based on the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD), tenth edition, codes I81(portal vein thrombosis or MVT) and K55 (mesenteric ischaemia), and (2) *AuriculA*. The Auricula registry (*AuriculA*) is a Swedish national quality registry started in 2004 for patients treated with anticoagulation on various indications. All patient records and CT images in patients with PVT or MVT as well as unclear cases of mesenteric ischaemia were scrutinized and validated. Only patients with symptomatic thrombosis in the superior mesenteric vein with or without anatomical involvement of portal or splenic vein, diagnosed by radiological imaging (CT), laparotomy and/or autopsy, were included in the studies.

The patient series was pragmatically divided at the study protocol stage into two periods, the former (2000-2007) and the latter (2008-2015), for analysis of changes in patient characteristics, risk factor profiles, mode of diagnosis and outcome. Mortality data were obtained from the Swedish population Registry (**paper I**).

Median clinical follow-up time was 48 months (**paper II+III**), 62 months (**paper I**) and 64 months (**paper IV**).

Retrieval of patients with VTE

The Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS) is a prospective population-based study conducted at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, a city of 300.000 inhabitants in southern Sweden. This is the only hospital in the area treating patients with VTE. The MATS cohort includes 1465 consecutive unselected VTE patients that were followed after inclusion of this study (March 1998) until death or the end of the study (September 2017)[180]. Thirteen patients with portal and/or mesenteric vein thrombosis were excluded from this cohort, but those with CT verified MVT were included in the MVT cohort. Seventy percent of all patients treated for VTE at SUS were included in the study. The remaining 30 % were excluded due to unwillingness to participate, language barrier, dementia, or other severe illness that prevented the patient from participating. The patients had to have objectively verified DVT or PE with phlebography, duplex ultrasound, CT, lung scintigraphy or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Other inclusion criteria in MATS were age >18 years and ability to communicate in the Swedish language. All patients were treated in accordance to the standard treatment protocol of SUS. Included patients were required to submit

blood samples, answer a questionnaire and were evaluated concerning risk factors for VTE. Malignancies were present or diagnosed at the time of VTE diagnosis. No documentation of myeloproliferative disease was done. End of follow-up for VTE patients was September 6, 2017. Median follow up time were 11.4 (interquartile range |IQR] was 6,5-13.7) years. The DNA mutations for factor V Leiden and Prothrombin were analysed using Taqman allele discrimination with gene specific assays for the two factors (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Treatment strategy at the study centre

After diagnosis of MVT with CT, the mainstay of treatment was conservative with immediate full anticoagulation with either intravenous unfractionated heparin infusion or subcutaneous LMWH, full bowel rest, total parenteral nutrition, and analgesia. Patients admitted with peritonitis or rapid progression toward peritonitis underwent laparotomy and bowel resection. Patients not responding to anticoagulation underwent endovascular measures with or without local thrombolysis, and those not responding to this therapy were subjected to laparotomy. Clearly necrotic and demarcated bowels were resected and anastomosed. Bowels with unclear viability were usually evaluated at a second-look laparotomy, and bowel resections were followed by anastomoses or diverting stomas. Patients with identified transient risk factors were usually treated with oral anticoagulation for 6 months, whereas those with permanent risk factors or unidentified risk factors were prescribed lifelong anticoagulation. DOACs were introduced for treatment of MVT at the study centre in 2015. There was no evidence of non-compliance in patients with DOACs and time in therapeutic range (TTR) during warfarin treatment in our country is as high as 76.5 %[181]. Median followup time in patients with DOACs was 25 months (paper II).

Definitions

Primary MVT is defined as an idiopathic condition, whereas secondary MVT is defined by an identified etiologic factor. Patients with abdominal pain of less than 4 weeks duration were classified as having acute MVT. Those with symptoms for 4 weeks or more but without bowel infarction, and those with asymptomatic MVT diagnosed incidentally on abdominal imaging as a clinically nonsignificant finding were defined as chronic MVT. Extensive thrombosis was defined as having mesenteric (both central and peripheral), portal, and splenic vein thrombosis. The first 5 cm of the proximal superior mesenteric vein was defined as central. Small

bowel dilatation was defined as ≥ 4 cm in bowel diameter. Patients initially treated with LMWH for some weeks, and later changed for VKA or DOACs were considered as treated with either of the respective oral anticoagulants. Major bleeding was defined according to the criteria of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis[182], as a fatal and/or symptomatic bleeding in a critical area or organ, bleeding leading to a reduction of 2 g/dl or more in haemoglobin concentration, or necessitating transfusion of two or more blood units. Gastrointestinal bleeding included oesophageal variceal bleeding. Previous cardiovascular disease was defined as previous myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, history of coronary artery bypass grafting, percutaneous coronary intervention, stroke, or transient ischemic attack. Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was calculated as a simplified variant of Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group (MDRD)[183]. Advanced renal insufficiency was defined as GFR<25 ml/min/1.73m². Renal insufficiency by serum creatinine alone was defined as a serum creatinine higher than 105 mmol/l (1.2 mg/dl) in men and 90 mmol/l (1.0 mg/dl) in women. The term thrombophilia was used as a common denominator for factors that might provoke MVT, such as cancer, coagulation disorders, previous or concomitant venous thromboembolism (VTE), oral contraceptive use, or estrogen substitution. Inherited thrombophilic factors were defined as factor V Leiden mutation, prothrombin gene mutation, or deficiencies of protein C, protein S, or antithrombin. Acquired thrombophilic factors were defined as JAK2 V617F mutation, lupus anticoagulant, or cardiolipin antibodies. Malignancy was defined as the presence of solid cancer or myeloproliferative disease. A transient risk factor was defined as either recent surgery within 6 weeks, abdominal trauma or inflammatory disease such as acute pancreatitis. Short bowel syndrome was defined as bowel resection leading to unable to meet nutrition needs with enteral supplements and requires parenteral nutrition[184]. Follow-up CT was defined as the last available CT of the abdomen with intravenous contrast and imaging in the parenchymal/venous phase. Successful recanalization was defined as partial or complete recanalization of the portomesenteric venous system at the follow-up CT after treatment.

Computed tomography

Clinical data provided in the referral letter for initial radiological examination at admission were retrieved in a Sectra radiological information system (Sectra AB, Linköping, Sweden). Multi-detector row CT (MDCT) was usually performed with a 0.75-mm slice thickness (Siemens Sensation 16, Erlangen, Germany). Multi-planar reconstruction in axial, coronal, and sagittal planes was usually obtained with a 5-mm thickness. Single-slice CT was usually performed with slice thickness of 3– 5 mm. Patients were examined in the portomesenteric venous phase. Intravenous contrast medium was non-ionic contrast medium 300–320 mg I/ml with a total dose

of 90 ml, flow rate of 3 ml/s, and delay of 70 s. The diagnostic and follow-up CT scan images of all patients were scrutinized and evaluated by an experienced radiologist (Olle Ekberg) aware of the diagnosis but blinded concerning which treatment the patient received. The main objective was to describe vascular and intestinal findings systematically in a predefined protocol[119]. Bowel wall thickness was assessed on non-contracted intestinal segments and defined as normal if 3 mm or less[185]. The patency of the portomesenteric venous system at follow-up CT was categorized as progression, unchanged, partial regression, and complete regression.

Statistical methods

In all papers the data management and statistical analyses were carried out by using SPSS statistics software, version 22.0 and 23.0 (Chicago, Illinois, USA) with the addition of GraphPad in paper II and III.

In **paper I**, age and gender-specific total incidence rates were based on the number of patients diagnosed with MVT residing in Malmö and expressed as number of cases per 100,000 person-years. Population data, overall and gender-specific, for Malmö in 2008 obtained from Statistics Sweden were used for calculation of incidence. Differences in proportions were evaluated using chi-square or Fisher's exact test. Age was expressed as median (range). Variables associated with 30-day mortality (p<0.1) were further tested in a multivariable binary logistic regression model and expressed in terms of odds ratios (OR) with 95 % confidence interval (CI). A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

In **paper II**, **III** and **IV**, distribution of variables was expressed with median value and IQR. Differences in proportions were evaluated using the chi-square or the Fisher's exact test. Quantitative differences between groups were assessed with the Mann-Whitney U test.

In **paper II**, The Spearman rank test was used for calculating correlations. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

In **paper III**, when risk factor evaluation for bowel resection was performed, factors with p < 0.1 in the uni-variable analysis were entered in a multi-variable regression analysis and expressed in odds ratio (OR) with 95 % confidence interval. The Spearman rank test was used for calculating correlations. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

In **paper IV**, cumulative survival was analysed using the Kaplan-Meier method and life table analysis. Log rank test was used in the overall comparison of survival curves for the MVT versus systemic VTE group. Patients were censored for death in both groups until end of follow-up, September 6, 2017. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Paper I

Incidence

One hundred and twenty patients, 67 men (31 residing in Malmö) and 53 women (27 residing in Malmö), were diagnosed with MVT from 2000 to 2015. The overall incidence rate of MVT in Malmö was estimated to 1.3/100,000 person-years (1.4/100,000 person-years in men and 1.2/100,000 person-years in women).

Patient characteristics

Median age at admission was 58 (range 19–95) years. Median BMI was 27.5 (IQR 25.2–30.0; n=50) in men and 25.8 (IQR 23.7–33.4; n=38) in women. Acute MVT was found in 115 (96%) patients, and primary and secondary MVT in 26 (22%) and 94 (78%) patients, respectively. Risk factors such as any direct injury to the vein due to disease or surgery were found in 35 (29%) patients, local or systemic venous congestion in 19 (16%), and thrombophilia in 72 (60%). Twenty (17%) patients had abdominal malignancies. History of previous venous thromboembolism was documented in 24 (20%) patients.

Among 89 tested, 39 (44%) patients had positive tests for inherited or acquired coagulation disorder. The most common thrombophilia was activated protein C resistance (Factor V Leiden mutation), occurring in 22 (18% of all patients or 25% of tested patients) patients (19 in heterozygous and three in homozygous genotype). In nine patients with myeloproliferative disease, eight (89%) were JAK-2 V617 mutation positive. Patients diagnosed in the former period (2000–2007) were older (p=0.013) and had higher proportions of abdominal malignancy (p=0.009) and activated protein C resistance (p=0.002) compared to those diagnosed in the latter period (2008–2015) (Table 4).

Factors	Former period (n = 58)	Latter period (n = 62)	Uni-variable analysis (<i>p</i> value)
Median age (years; IQR)	64 (50-73)	54 (47-65)	0.013
Women (%)	27 (47)	26 (42)	0.61
Acute pancreatitis(%)	10 (17)	7 (11)	0.35
Recent abdominal surgery	5 (9)	3 (5)	0.35
Thrombophilia	40 (69)	32 (52)	0.053
History of previous venous thromboembolism	12 (21)	12 (19)	0.86
Abdominal malignancy	15 (26)	5 (8)	0.009
Positive test for inherited or acquired coagulation disorder	20/36 (56)	19/53 (36)	0.066
Activated protein C resistance (Factor V Leiden mutation)	15/36 (42)	7/53 (13)	0.002

Table 4. Patient characteristics and risk factors for MVT in the former (2000-2007) and the latter (2008-2015) parts of the study

IQR: Interquartile range. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis.

Mode of establishing diagnosis

During the latter time period, all patients were diagnosed by radiological imaging, in 97% of cases by CT with intravenous contrast enhancement. During this period, CT was more frequently used for MVT diagnosis compared to the former time period (p < 0.001). During the former time period, there were six autopsy-verified deaths in patients not undergoing bowel resection, of whom two died outside of hospital.

Bowel resection

Bowel resection rates did not differ between the two periods. Among the 98 patients receiving anticoagulation treatment, 83 (85%) were successfully treated with heparin as monotherapy without need for surgical intervention (Figure 7). Throughout the study period, fifteen patients underwent explorative laparotomy and bowel resection without preoperative diagnosis, and another 15 patients underwent bowel resection or endovascular therapy due to failure of anticoagulation as monotherapy. Endovascular therapy was performed in eight patients, out of whom three underwent bowel resection.

Late small bowel complications

Small bowel resections of 0.05 and 0.1 m of length due to late small bowel strictures at five and three months after index admission, respectively, were performed in two patients. One of these patients had severe heart failure, malnutrition and a low serum albumin of 20 g/L, why an ileostomy was created instead of bowel anastomosis. She developed short bowel syndrome and died 1.5 months after this operation. Another

two patients developed transient short bowel syndrome after bowel resection of 3.0 and 1.3 m, respectively, and creation of ileostomies. The remaining lengths of small bowel were 2.5 and 1.5 m, respectively. Both patients were operated with take down of their ileostomies and reanastomosis of the small bowel ends at 13 and 19 months of follow up, respectively, which cured them from short bowel syndrome. Both patients received parenteral nutrition support through a subcutaneous vein port (Port-a-Cath) during the time they had ileostomies and both central venous catheters were infected with septicaemia.

Endovascular therapy

The endovascular procedures performed were thrombolysis via the superior mesenteric artery (n=4), transjugular intrahepatic portal shunt (TIPS) with stenting (n=2), transjugular mechanical thrombectomy (AngioJet® device [MEDRAD, Warrendale, Pennsylvania, USA]) and thrombolysis (n=1), transhepatic stenting (n=1), transhepatic mechanical thrombectomy (AngioJet®), and Fogarty catheter balloon thrombectomy (n=1). Another two TIPS procedures failed. Local thrombolysis via the superior mesenteric artery was not considered first option but was used in combination with other endovascular therapies in three patients. In the fourth patient, TIPS was not considered an option due to the advanced extent of portomesenteric venous thrombosis, and 56 mg recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA) was continuously infused into the superior mesenteric artery over 60 h with success and without need of bowel resection. The sum of procedures performed exceeds eight, reflecting that a combination of techniques was often used. The median dose of thrombolytic agent, alteplase (Actilyse®; Boehringer, Ingelheim, Germany), administered locally in the mesenteric circulation, was 30 mg (range 14-56) in the four treated patients. One patient underwent a failed TIPS combined with thrombolysis via the superior mesenteric artery, complicated by perihepatic hematoma requiring explorative laparotomy for control of bleeding. Lifelong anticoagulation therapy after successful non-operative management was given to 49% (17/35) of patients in the former period and 71% (34/48) in the latter (p=0.040).





Factors associated with 30-day mortality

Overall 30-day mortality rate was 10.8, 19.0% in the former time period versus 3.2% in the latter time period (p=0.006). The 30-day mortality after surgery (bowel resection and/or endovascular therapy) was 12.5% (2/16) in the former period versus 7.1% (1/14) in the latter (p=1.0). Age \geq 75 years, management during the former as opposed to the later time period, pancreatic malignancy, and renal insufficiency at admission were all associated with increased 30-day mortality in uni-variable analysis. Age \geq 75 years (OR 12.4, 95% CI [2.5–60.3]), management during the former time period as opposed to the latter period (OR 8.4, 95% CI [1.3–54.7]), and renal insufficiency at admission (OR 8.0, 95% CI [1.2–51.6]) were independently associated with increased 30-day mortality in the multivariable analysis. For comparison of bowel resection rate and 30-day mortality rate, results in paper I were compared with contemporary published series on MVT (Table 5).

Table 5. Contemporary publi	shed series on Mv	Т							
First author (publication year)	Population, Country	Number of patients	Mean or median age	Female sex (%)	Study period	Frequency of bowel resection (%)	Frequency of endovascular procedure (%)	30-day or in- hospital mortality rate (%)	Diagnostic autopsy (%)
Al-Thani[186] (2015)	Qatar	35	45	12 (34.3)	2005 - 2012	28/35 (80)	(0) 0	6/35 (17.1)	0 (0)
Cho[187](2018)*	Korea	41	62	10 (24.4)	2000 - 2017	4/41 (9.8)	0 (0)	2/41 (4.9)	0 (0)
Kim[188] (2017)*	South Korea	66	50	20 (30.3)	2002 - 2016	15/66 (22.7)	0 (0)	3/66 (4.5)	0 (0)
Liu[189] (2019)*	China	68	45	18 (26.5)	2009 - 2014	44/68 (64.7)	49/68 (72.1)	2/68 (2.9)	0 (0)
Maldonado[190] (2016)*	NSA	80	58	34 (42.5)	1999 - 2015	4/75 (5.3)	4/75 (5.3)	1/80 (1.2)	0 (0)
Matthaei[191] (2019)	Germany	10	50	5 (50)	2005 - 2015	8/10 (80)	0 (0)	0/10 (0)	0 (0)
Nagaraja[192] (2015)	India	56	50	13 (23.2)	1997 - 2012	51/56 (91.1)	0 (0)	15/56 (26.8)	0 (0)
Wang[193] (2019)	China	78	61	24 (30.8)	2014 - 2018	58/78 (74.4)	0 (0)	Not reported	0 (0)
Yang[194] (2016)	China	32	45	12 (37.5)	2012 - 2014	25/32 (78.1)	15/32 (46.9)	8/32 (25)	0 (0)
Zeng[195] (2017)	China	18	51	6 (33.3)	2013 - 2014	2/18 (11.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	(0) 0
Salim (paper I 2018)	Sweden	120	58	53/120 (44.2)	2000 - 2015	24/120 (20)	8/120 (6.7)	13/120 (10.8)	6/120 (5)
Salim (paper I, latter time period, 2018)	Sweden	62	54	26/62 (41.9)	2008 - 2015	10/62 (16.1)	6/62 (9.7)	2/62 (3.2)	(0) 0
Searched for original articles hits. English language. Only venous thrombosis or splanc patients with MVT were exclt	in Pub Med 15th F original reports wit thric vein thrombo: ded. Unvalidated	[−] eb 2020. Med h ≥10 patients sis without furtl larger (nation o	lical Subject H with MVT witt her specificatic or statewide) c	leading (MeSH) t n or without exter on on location of chort or register-	erm "Mesenteric v rsion to the portal thrombosis or no r studies on mesen	enous thrombosis" or splenic vein wer reported patient ch iteric ischaemia we	and including article e considered. Repo aracteristics or outco ire excluded. MVT: N	es from 2015 - 2020. 17 rts on portomesenteric ome data separately for Mesenteric venous	03

*all selected by diagnosis on CT

thrombosis.

Comments: The total number of patients in the eleven series was 604, of which 212 were females and 392 males. The pooled estimate of proportion of female sex was 35.1% (95% CI 31.3 – 39.1%).

Paper II

Patient characteristics (paper II and III)

During the 14-year period, 102 patients (61 men and 41 women) were diagnosed with MVT. Their median age was 58 years (IQR 47–68). Men (56 [IQR 47–64] years) were younger (p=0.009) than women (65 [IQR 50–72] years). MVT was defined as acute in 100 (98%) patients, and chronic in the remaining 2 (2%). Median BMI was 27.8 kg/m² (IQR 25.5–31.4) in men (n=49) and 25.5 kg/m² (IQR 23.5–33.6) in women (n=34). Seventeen (17%) patients had previously been diagnosed with pancreatitis and 26 (26%) with malignancies. Among 85 patients tested for thrombophilia, 17 (20%) had the factor V Leiden mutation (Table 6), and 9 (11%) had the JAK-2 V617 mutation. In 10 patients with myeloproliferative disease, 9 (90%) were JAK-2 V617 mutation positive.

Anticoagulation therapy groups

Lifelong anticoagulation was initiated in 64 patients (63%). Fifty-six (55%) patients received VKA, 22 (22%) LMWH, and 22 (22%) DOACs. The DOAC prescribed were rivaroxaban (n=14), apixaban (n=5), and dabigatran (n=3). Two patients received no medical therapy at all (Table 6). Patients with MVT and malignant disease were more often (p=0.034) treated with LMWH than VKA. Frequencies of renal insufficiency were the same in DOAC- and VKA treated patients (p=0.19), and median GFR for patients treated with DOACs and VKA were 81ml/min/1.73m² (IQR 66–96; n=22) and 86 ml/min/1.73m² (IQR 70–101; n=54), respectively, p = 0.52.

Variable	All patients (%)	LMWH (%)	VKA (%)	DOACs (%)	No medical treatment (%)
Number of patients	102	22	56	22	2
Median age (IQR); years	58 (47-68)	65 (56-76)	56 (46-65)	58 (48-68)	66 (62-79)
Female sex	41 (40.2)	11 (50.0)	21 (37.5)	7 (31.8)	2 (100)
Lifelong treatment initiated	64 (62.7)	4 (18.2)	41 (73.2)	19 (86.4)	0 (0)
Malignancy	26 (25.5)	10 (45.5)	12 (21.4)	4 (18.2)	0 (0)
Renal insufficiency	16/100 (16)	5 (22.7)	6/54 (11.1)	5/22 (22.7)	0 (0)
Acute pancreatitis	17 (16.7)	5 (22.7)	8 (14.3)	4 (18.2)	0 (0)
Liver cirrhosis	6 (5.9)	2 (9.1)	1 (1.8)	2 (9.1)	1 (50)
Factor V Leiden mutation	17/85 (20.0)	1/11 (9.1)	13/54 (24.1)	3/18 (16.7)	0 (0)
Extensive thrombosisª at diagnostic CT	43 (42.2)	5 (22.7)	27 (48.2)	10 (45.5)	1 (50)
Bleeding complications					
Major bleeding	15/102 (14.7)	4/22 (18.2)	8/56 (14.3)	2/22 (9.1)	1 (50)
Oesophageal variceal bleeding	3/102 (2.9)	1/22 (4.5)	2/56 (3.6)	0/22 (0)	0 (0)
Gastrointestinal bleeding	19/102 (18.6)	4/22 (18.2)	8/56 (14.3)	7/22 (31.8)	0 (0)
Intracranial bleeding	3/102 (2.9)	2/22 (9.1)	1 (1.8)	0 (0.0)	0 (0)

Table 6. Patient profiles, thrombotic and bleeding complications in 102 patients with MVT verified by CT, and treated with anticoagulation during follow-up.

CT: Computed tomography; DOACs: direct oral anticoagulants; IQR: interquartile range; LMWH: low molecular weight heparin; MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis;VKA: vitamin K antagonist.

^aMesenteric (both central and peripheral), portal and splenic vein thrombosis.

Radiological outcome - thrombus recanalization

CT was performed both at diagnosis and after medical treatment in 70 patients after a median follow-up of 6 (IQR 3–28) months. The overall evaluation showed no change in 20 patients, progression of thrombotic status within the portomesenteric venous system in 4, partial regression in 27, and complete regression in 19 patients. Successful recanalization had been achieved in 66% of the 70 patients, 71% of those treated with VKA (n=41) and 69 % of those treated with DOACs (n=16) (p=0.88). Patients with and without extensive thrombosis had complete regression of thrombosis after anticoagulation therapy in 11% (3/27) and 37% (16/43), respectively (p=0.017). When entering extensive thrombosis, age, malignancies, and type of therapy (VKA or DOACs) in a multivariable analysis, none of these variables were associated with successful recanalization. Neither was there any correlation between successful recanalization and the time lapse between diagnostic and follow-up CT (r=0.067, p=0.58). No clinical variable was found to be associated with successful recanalization.

Bowel resection

Among the 102 patients, 17 (17%) underwent bowel resection. There was no difference in bowel resection rate between patients treated with VKA (23% [13/56]) and DOACs (9% [2/22]; p=0.15).

Bleeding complications

The overall rates of major bleeding, intracranial bleeding, gastrointestinal and oesophageal variceal bleeding during anticoagulation were 14.7%, 2.9%, 18.6%, and 2.9%, respectively. The major bleeding rates during VKA and DOAC therapy were 14.3% (8/56) and 9.1% (2/22), respectively (p=0.54). DOAC treatment tended to be associated with a higher rate of gastrointestinal bleeding compared to VKA treatment (p=0.077). Two gastrointestinal bleedings were fatal, one patient with concomitant oesophageal variceal bleeding died at 1 month after initiation of anticoagulation. Three patients suffered from intracranial bleeding; one patient treated with LMWH suffered a subdural bleeding necessitating neurosurgery after 1 month, another patient treated with LMWH had a subarachnoidal bleeding after 28 months, which was managed conservatively. The third patient treated with VKA had an intracerebral bleeding after 8 months, which was managed conservatively.

Venous thromboembolic complications

No MVT recurrence occurred during or after cessation (n=38) of medical treatment. No VTE recurrence occurred during medical treatment. One patient suffered from a DVT in her leg 9 years after cessation of anticoagulation therapy.

Mortality

The 30-day mortality was 7 % (7/102). There was no difference in 30-day mortality between patients treated with VKA and DOAC (3.6% [2/56] and 0% [0/22]; p=1.0), respectively. Total mortality at the end of follow-up was 20 % (20/102). Median survival times from MVT diagnosis to end of follow-up for patients with malignant (n=26) and non-malignant (n=76) disease were 42 (IQR 5–72) and 50 (IQR 24–101) months, respectively, (p=0.19), whereas survival in patients with nonmetastatic (n=17) and metastatic cancer (n=9) was 66 (IQR 27–84) months and 4 (IQR 2–25) months, respectively (p=0.002).

Paper III

Clinical data from the referral letter for initial radiological examination

Among the 102 patients with MVT, initial radiological examinations had been performed by CT in 69 (68%), ultrasound in 26 (26%), plain abdominal X-ray in 5 (5%), and magnetic resonance imaging in 2 (2%). None of the referral letters for initial radiological examination revealed any suspicion of MVT, whereas intestinal ischaemia was suspected in 3 (3%) patients. In these 3 patients with suspected intestinal ischaemia, intestinal ischaemia was mentioned among two, three, or four diagnostic suggestions in the referral letter. The most frequently asked questions concerned intestinal disorders (n=77), inflammatory disorders (n=65), biliary or urinary tract disorders (n=38), malignancies (n=26), and benign disorders of the liver or spleen (n=10).

Vascular and intestinal CT findings

Central and peripheral MVTs were documented in 98 (96%) and 73 (72%) patients, respectively. Extensive thrombosis at diagnostic CT was found in 43 (42%) patients, and intestinal findings in 66 (65%). The most frequent extra-vascular abnormalities were mesenteric oedema (n=63; 62%), ascites (n=52; 51%), small bowel wall oedema (n=40; 39%), and local small bowel dilatation (n=10; 10%) (Table 7). No abnormalities in the colon were found.

Table 7	. Vascular	and intestinal	findinas o	n CT at d	liagnosis	of MVT in	102 patients
		and meoorman			inagrice.e	•••••••	roz panorito

	Frequency (%)	
Vascular findings		
Central MVT	98 (96.1)	
Peripheral MVT	73 (71.6)	
Isolated MVT	14 (13.7)	
Portal vein thrombosis	85 (83.3)	
Extra-hepatic portal venous thrombosis	80 (78.4)	
Intra-hepatic portal venous thrombosis	60 (58.8)	
Splenic vein thrombosis	61 (59.8)	
Venous collaterals	52 (51)	
Extensive thrombosis ^a	43 (42.2)	
Intestinal findings	66 (64.7)	
Mesenteric oedema	63 (61.8)	
Small bowel wall oedema	40 (39.2)	
Local small bowel dilatation	10 (9.8)	
Extensive small bowel dilatation	2 (2.0)	
Gas in the portomesenteric venous system	0 (0.0)	
Ascites	52 (51.0)	

^aMesenteric central, peripheral, portal and splenic vein thrombosis. CT: Computed tomography. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis.

Factors associated with bowel resection

Among the 102 patients, 17 (17%) underwent bowel resection. Previous VTE was associated with increased bowel resection rate (p=0.049). No patient with exclusive transient risk factor (n=15) underwent a bowel resection (p=0.069). No patient with acute pancreatitis (n=17) underwent bowel resection (p=0.068). The presence of any intestinal finding at CT (p=0.026), mesenteric oedema (p=0.014), small bowel wall oedema (p<0.001), small bowel dilatation (p=0.005), and ascites (p=0.021) were associated with increased bowel resection rate (Table 8). After entering small bowel wall oedema, acute pancreatitis, and previous VTE in a multi-variable regression analysis, small bowel wall oedema remained an independent risk factor associated with bowel resection (OR 15.8 [95% CI 3.2–77.2], p=0.001), and previous VTE tended to be a risk factor for bowel resection (OR 3.3 [95% CI 0.9–12.6], p=0.080).

 Table 8. Association between vascular and intestinal findings at initial CT and later need for bowel resection in 102 patients with MVT.

CT findings	Bowel resection	<i>p</i> value
All	17/102 (16.7)	
Extensive thrombosis ^a	10/43 (23.2)	0.13
Isolated MVT	2/14 (14.3)	1.0
Intestinal findings	15/66 (22.7)	0.026
Mesenteric oedema	15/63 (23.8)	0.014
Small bowel wall oedema	15/40 (37.5)	< 0.001
Small bowel dilatation	6/12 (50.0)	0.005
Ascites	13/52 (25.0)	0.021

^aMesenteric central and peripheral, portal, and splenic vein thrombosis. CT: Computed tomography. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis.

Paper IV

Comparison of patient characteristics and acquired risk factors in patients with MVT versus systemic VTE

Patients with MVT (n=120; all symptomatic) were younger (p<0.001), had higher glomerular filtration rate (93 ml/min/1.73m² versus 67 ml/min/1.73m²; p<0.001), lower prevalence of smoking (p<0.001), and had less often undergone recent surgery (p=0.025) compared to patients with systemic VTE. In six individuals with median age 75 years (IQR 60–82) fatal MVT was detected at autopsy. Previous VTE tended to be more prevalent in patients with MVT (p=0.072). The prevalence of cancer (19.2% in MVT versus 12.1% in VTE; p=0.026) and intra-abdominal cancer (16.7% in MVT versus 2.3% in VTE; p<0.001) were both higher in MVT (Table 9). Of nine patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm in the MVT group, eight (89%) were JAK-2 mutation positive. The prevalence of cast therapy, trauma and

immobilization in the VTE cohort were 3.9% (57/1452), 8.2% (119/1452) and 17.1% (248/1452), respectively.

Variable	MVT	Systemic VTE	p value
Number of patients	120	1452	
Median age (IQR); years	58 (47-70)	66 (53-76)	< 0,001
Female sex (%)	53 (44.2)	739 (50.9)	0.16
GFR (ml/min/1.73m ²)	93 (74-116) (n=114)	67 (52-79) (n=970)	< 0,001
Platelet count (x 10 ⁹ /L)	260 (177-340) (n=112)	244 (204-299) (n=1411)	0.35
Ongoing VTE prophylaxis (%)	2/116 (1.7)	30 (2.1)	0.80
Acquired risk factors (%)	82/107 (76.6)	1186/1396 (85.0)	0.022
Previous venous thromboembolism (any)	24/120 (20.0)	203/1451 (14.0)	0.072
BMI ≥ 30 kg/m ²	24/88 (27.3)	296/1364 (21.7)	0.22
Smoking (ex or current)	36/103 (35.0)	771/1346 (57.3)	< 0.001
Surgical intervention (≤ 6 weeks)	8/117 (6.8)	207 (14.3)	0.025
Long travel ≥ 3h	7/117 (6.0)	102 (7.0)	0.67
Malignancy (solid cancer)	23 (19.2)	176 (12.1)	0.026
Intra-abdominal malignancy	20 (16.7)	33 (2.3)	< 0.001
Hormone therapy (female only)	7/53 (13.2)	161/739 (21.8)	0.14
Pregnancy	0/53 (0)	17/739 (2.3)	0.62
None of these acquired risk factors	25/107 (23.4)	210/1396 (15.0)	0.022
Strong provocative risk factor (recent surgery or malignancy)	28/119 (23.5)	356 (24.5)	0.81

Table 9. Comparison of patient characteristics and acquired risk factors in patients with MVT versus systemic VTE

BMI: Body mass index. GFR: Glomerular filtration rate. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis. VTE: Venos thromboembolism.

Comparison of inherited thrombophilia in tested patients with MVT versus systemic VTE

The prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation was lower in patients with MVT compared to patients with systemic VTE (24.7% versus 37.6%; p=0.015). The prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation without presence of cancer was also lower in MVT compared to VTE (26.6% versus 38.9%; p=0.031). There was no difference in prevalence of the prothrombin (PT) mutation between the two groups (Table 10).

Table 10	. Comparison	of inherited	thrombophilia i	n tested patients	s with MVT	versus systemic \	/TE
----------	--------------	--------------	-----------------	-------------------	------------	-------------------	-----

Variable	MVT	Systemic VTE	p value
Number of patients	120	1452	
Heterozygous FVL mutation(%)	19/89 (21.3)	348/1021 (34.1)	0.014
Homozygous FVL mutation (%)	3/89 (3.4)	36/1021 (3.5)	0.94
FVL mutation (any) (%)	22/89 (24.7)	384/1021 (37.6)	0.015
FVL mutation (any) without malignancy (%)	21/79 (26.6)	360/926 (38.9)	0.031
Heterozygous PT mutation (%)	3/89 (3.4)	58/1259 (4.6)	0.79
Homozygous PT mutation (%)	0/89 (0.0)	0/1259 (0.0)	-
PT mutation (any) (%)	3/89 (3.4)	58/1259 (4.6)	0.79
Compound FVL and PT mutation (%)	0/89 (0.0)	11/1245 (0.9)	1.0
FVL or PT mutation(any) (%)	25/89 (28.1)	429/1036 (41.4)	0.014
No FVL or PT mutation (%)	64/89 (72.0)	605/1036 (58.4)	0.013

FVL: Factor V Leiden, PT: Prothrombin, MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis. VTE: Venous thromboembolism.

Comparison of survival in patients with MVT versus systemic VTE

Thirty-day mortality was higher in the MVT group (10.8% versus 0.5% in VTE; p<0.001) but did not differ at long-term follow-up according to the Kaplan–Meier analysis (p=0.73).

Variability of inherited thrombophilia in patients with MVT around the world.
The prevalence of inherited thrombophilic factors are presented in paper I and IV, and these results are included in the
systematic review by Zarrouk [105]. There is a wide variability of inherited thrombophilic factors associated with MVT around
the world (Table 11). While the prevalence of FVL was high in Sweden [100], it was rare in China [181] and India [182]. The
prevalence of PT mutation was highest in Italy [183], and PS deficiency and AT deficiency were found to be highest in Greece
[184]. India had the highest and USA the lowest prevalence of PC deficiency, respectively.

Variable n (%)	Sutkowska[196] (USA)	Ma[197] (Canada)	Yang[198] (China)	Mutreja[199] (India)	Zarrouk[105] (Sweden)	Primignani[200] (Italy)	Starakis[201] (Greece)	Total n (%)	(95% CI)
No. of patients tested for thrombophilia Inherited thrombophilic factor	341	49	50	34	89	73	29		
FVL mutation	35/341 (10.3)	3/49 (6.1)	1/50 (2.0)	0/20 (0)	22/89 (24.7)	2/73 (2.7)	5/29 (17.2)	68/651(10.4)	(8.2- 13.1)
PT mutation	13/341 (3.8)	3/49 (6.1)	N/A	0/34 (0)	3/89 (3.4)	15/73 (20.5)	2/29 (6.9)	36/615 (5.9)	(4.1-8.0)
PS deficiency	12/341 (3.5)	2/49 (4.1)	3/50 (6.0)	4/34 (11.8)	5/89 (5.6)	1/73 (1.4)	7/29 (24.1)	34/665 (5.1)	(3.6-7.1)
PC deficiency	1/341 (0.3)	1/49 (2.0)	4/50 (8.0)	7/34 (20.6)	2/89 (2.2)	2/73 (2.7)	5/29(17.2)	22/665 (3.3)	(2.1-5.0)
AT deficiency	5/341 (1.5)	1/49 (2.0)	2/50 (4.0)	0/34 (0)	(0) 68/0	3/73 (4.1)	4/29 (13.8)	15/665 (2.3)	(1.3-3.7)

Table 11. The prevalence of inherited thrombophilic factors associated with MVT in different populations.

FVL, Factor V Leiden; PS, Protein S; PC, Protein C; AT, Antithrombin; PT, Prothrombin G20210A. N/A: not analysed

Discussion

Epidemiology

A population based study in the city of Malmö, Sweden, including 402 patients with acute mesenteric ischaemia with an autopsy rate of 87%, showed that 16% of patients were diagnosed with MVT[23, 202]. Such firm epidemiological data is very difficult to obtain from other populations. In fact, there are no epidemiological study with accurate estimate on the distribution of aetiologies of acute mesenteric ischaemia[106, 203, 204].

In contrast to the reported 16% of patients with MVT among all patients with acute mesenteric ischaemia[23], a study performed in the city of Mansoura, Egypt, including 101 patients, found the proportion of MVT as an aetiology to be remarkably high, 77% (78 patients). This discrepancy were perhaps mostly attributed to the high prevalence of chronic liver disease secondary to endemic hepatitis C virus infection in Egypt[205].

Another study performed by Nagaraja et al, studied characteristics of 117 Indian patients (85 males and 32 females) with acute mesenteric ischaemia. MVT was seen in 56 patients (48%) and mesenteric arterial occlusion in 61 (52%). The probable reasons why they found MVT in almost half of their patients might be several: Patients with arterial occlusive disease were probably much sicker with more rapid progression of illness, earlier presentation with peritonitis and either died or got operated at another hospital before reaching the study hospital. Patients with MVT had a much longer duration of symptoms (14 vs 2 days), and less frequent peritoneal signs at presentation, which made them eligible for laparotomy during hospitalization. Five (8.9%) had liver cirrhosis, whereas there was no reported data on inherited thrombophilia.

The population-based estimated overall incidence rate of MVT in Malmö citizens between 2000 and 2015 (paper I) was estimated to 1.3/100.000 person-years, a figure in the lower range of incidence reported in the 1970s[24]. This might partly be related to the markedly reduced autopsy frequency[206], from 85%[207] to 12% in the latter time period of the study (paper I). On the other hand, important improvements in diagnostics and treatment of hypercoagulable states have occurred during this period[208] probably resulting in a decrease in venous thromboembolism. However, since MVT is very rarely suspected already in the

emergency setting[202], or sometimes confused with arterial mesenteric ischaemia at laparotomy, and with the contemporary low autopsy frequency in the population, the contemporary true incidence is hard to estimate.

It is important to distinguish MVT from other forms of splanchnic venous thrombosis (portal vein thrombosis, splenic vein thrombosis) since it is an acute abdominal condition with a high risk of developing intestinal infarction and much higher mortality rates[118, 209, 210].

Aspects on age and gender

MVT seems to typically affect middle-aged adults as it is most common in the fifth and sixth decades of life. In the recent published series (Table 5), the mean or median age of MVT patients at presentation was reported to be between 45-62 years. Age ranges are broad and varies depending on the underlying pathogenesis and aetiology. For example, MVT associated with myeloproliferative disease presents at an older age compared to MVT associated with oral contraceptive use or abdominal trauma[126, 211]. Table 5 supports also that MVT is slightly more common in males compared to females.

Thrombophilia in the population

The prevalence of inherited thrombophilia varies widely in different populations depending on their geographical distribution. For example, the prevalence of FVL mutation, which seems to be overrepresented in patients with MVT, is highest in Sweden, Greece and Lebanon where it approximates 15 % in some areas, while on the other hand, it is almost not present in African, Chinese or Japanese populations[46].

In a systematic review performed by Zarrouk et al[105], the most prevalent inherited thrombophilic factors in patients with MVT were FVL mutation (9%), and prothrombin deficiency (7%), whereas the least prevalent were deficiencies of protein C (4%) and antithrombin deficiency(3%). The wide range of frequency of inherited thrombophilic factors in different populations as outlined in Table 10, indicates the necessity to relate these factors to background population-based data in order to estimate their overrepresentation in MVT.

Hence it was of utmost importance that the case-control study in paper IV, comparing thrombophilias in MVT versus systemic VTE were from the same population

Screening for inherited thrombophilia

Several authors have expressed different opinions regarding the clinical utility of thrombophilia testing in MVT. Whom to screen, when to screen and its role in clinical decision making is still a matter of debate. Data and practices relevant to DVT and PE are often extrapolated to aid in the management of venous thrombosis in unusual sites, such as MVT, even though the underlying predisposing factors and pathophysiology of these entities may be different.

Al-Samkari et al[212] suggests that patients with splanchnic venous thrombosis, including MVT, should firstly be screened for local precipitating factors and any blood cell count disturbances prior to evaluation for inherited or acquired thrombophilia. They state that the majority of these local precipitating factors (pancreatitis, diverticulitis, inflammatory bowel disease) will be diagnosed or excluded on CT. There seems to exist general consensus on the concept of testing for inherited thrombophilia and myeloproliferative diseases when there are no strong trigger factors present. Furthermore, if a patient with MVT is diagnosed with antiphospholipid syndrome, this will alter the treatment regime, since these patients preferably should be treated with VKA and not DOACs[213]. For patients in whom the decision of indefinite anticoagulation is made due to the presence of a non-reversible strong risk factor, such as active cancer, further thrombophilia testing has no clinical consequences.

The high prevalence of inherited and acquired thrombophilic factors present in MVT patients[105] and potential severe clinical consequences of recurrence, makes experts tend to offer patients with identified laboratory-confirmed thrombophilia lifelong anticoagulation treatment, despite insufficient evidence for such treatment. Consequently, routine laboratory screening may be considered in patients with MVT without an identified provocative factor on CT scan. The ESVS guidelines recommend indefinite anticoagulation in MVT patients with proven thrombophilia[134].

Clinical diagnosis – still "impossible"?

In a cross-sectional survey among experts on emergency evaluation of abdominal pain, 96.7% (29/30 emergency physicians) answered that it was unacceptable not to diagnose mesenteric ischaemia in the emergency department[214]. The results of this survey are, however, in very strong contrast to real life setting. Indeed, none of the 102 referral letters for the initial radiological examination in paper III expressed suspicion of MVT. Only three referral letters stated "intestinal ischaemia" as one of several possible differential diagnosis. The statement by Cokkinis – "Occlusion of the mesenteric vessels is regarded as one of those conditions of which the

diagnosis is impossible, the prognosis is hopeless, and the treatment almost useless''[14] for almost 100 years ago is still valid, in particular for clinical suspicion of MVT.

Early diagnosis

The diagnosis of acute mesenteric ischaemia is a collaborative effort of emergency department physicians, gastrointestinal and vascular surgeons, and radiologists. In contrast to acute arterial occlusive mesenteric ischaemia, early diagnosis prior to development of transmural bowel infarction is often possible in MVT due to the often insidious onset of abdominal pain with a symptom duration of typically two to three days. The availability of high-resolution CT scanners around the clock has had a tremendous impact on early detection, increased rate of conservative anticoagulation therapy alone and improved prognosis in patients with MVT as clearly demonstrated in paper I. The four series [187-190] that diagnosed all patients by CT in Table 5, had all a low 30-day mortality rate, ranging from 1.2 % to 4.9 %. It is well known that detecting acute mesenteric ischaemia in acute abdomen on CT is more likely if there is a clinical suspicion stated in the referral letter[215]. However, since there rarely are any clinical suspicion of intestinal ischaemia in MVT patients, radiologists have a great responsibility to diagnose this disease whenever possible and routinely describe the mesenteric vessels in acute abdomen when the CT images allows examination, even if the CT protocol not is optimal with contrast enhancement in the arterial and venous phase. Thus, CT scan is most important for diagnosis MVT. In one large series on patients with suspected acute mesenteric ischaemia[216], CT had a sensitivity of 89 % and was false-negative in 19/180 patients. All 19 false-negative patients had surgically proven non-occlusive mesenteric ischaemia. CT had a sensitivity for MVT of 100% (10 correctly diagnosed/10 MVT patients) and a specificity for acute mesenteric ischaemia of 99.5%. Correctness of CT report by the first reader for the diagnosis of MVT was 100% (9/9) in a recent report[215]. In a retrospective study based on 109 patients with diagnosis of acute mesenteric ischaemia between 2006 and 2014, the interreader agreement for 30 patients with MVT and various secondary intestinal abnormalities on CT were 94% and 70-100%, respectively[217]. This report concluded that multiphasic CT scan protocol, including unenhanced, arterial phase and venous phase images, without positive oral contrast agent, improves the interreader agreement for vascular and intestinal abnormalities secondary to acute mesenteric ischaemia.

Summary of initial management

Since no referral letter for the initial radiological examination indicated clinical suspicion of MVT among the 102 patients with confirmed MVT in paper III, it seemed very theoretical and unjustified to start the management algorithm (Figure 8) with "patient with suspected mesenteric venous thrombosis" prior to imaging confirmation by CT. CT with intravenous contrast enhancement and imaging in the portal phase has become the most important, reliable and accurate imaging for diagnosing MVT[218, 219]. A low percentage of patients with MVT will be diagnosed as an incidental finding. The protocol for urgent CT of the abdomen varies with the clinical history provided by the referring physician, and sometimes a second CT with an optimized protocol for imaging may be needed. Diagnosis of portal vein thrombosis with colour Doppler ultrasound alone is not sufficient to evaluate the extent of thrombosis, whether there is an extension to the superior mesenteric vein, and cannot evaluate secondary intestinal abnormalities, and needs to be complemented by CT.

The importance to scrutinize the CT images

When the diagnosis of MVT has been established, it is very important that the responsible physicians taking care of the patient, gastrointestinal surgeon, general surgeon, vascular surgeon or internal medicine physician, scrutinizes the CT images together with the radiologist who has assessed the images and written the preliminary report. In paper III, it was clearly found that secondary intestinal abnormalities such as small bowel wall oedema, small bowel dilatation, mesenteric oedema, and ascites, were prognostic indicators for increased need of bowel resection. Findings of bowel wall thickening, decreased enhancement of bowel wall and ascites were recently found to be associated with increased bowel resection rate in MVT[188]. In paper III, small bowel wall oedema was found to be associated with bowel resection after multi-variable adjustment. In another report performing adjustment for confounders, CT verified dilated small bowel loops, defined as ≥ 2.0 cm, was associated with intestinal necrosis and bowel resection [193]. Patients with thrombosis extending into the portal vein or complete (as opposed to partial) thrombosis of the superior mesenteric or portal vein were also recently reported to have an increased risk of needing a bowel resection [188]. Such information should alert the physicians. Even though no association between extensive thrombosis defined as thrombosis of the central and peripheral part, portal and splenic vein thrombosis, could be shown in paper III, it is highly likely that less extensive thrombosis is associated with more complete radiologic recovery[190] and less risk of long-term sequalae of portal venous hypertension[190, 220].

The place of DOACs in MVT

DOACs are well established as first-line treatment for systemic VTE but have, however, been scarcely studied in MVT. Due to the absence of clinical experience with the use of DOACs in the setting of MVT, there are currently no evidence for or against their use[221]. However, if a decision to use these agents are made, their use should be considered off-label and careful patient counselling and clinical monitoring should follow. Patients receiving DOACs should ideally be included in prospective cohort studies aimed to fill this knowledge gap. Although the use of DOACs in patients with MVT is limited[195], it is better documented than in any other group of venous thromboembolism at unusual sites[222]. Even though paper II is a retrospective study with a small sample size of 22 patients treated for MVT with DOACs, efficacy and safety were the same as the group of patients treated with VKA. In view of the disadvantages of VKA therapy including narrow therapeutic window, extensive food and drug interactions, highly variable dose response, and requirements of frequent dose adjustments and monitoring, DOACs appears to be a better alternative. At present time, renal function (estimated GFR based on serum creatinine, age and gender) is monitored in patients receiving DOACs in Region Skåne every three months the first year and thereafter the intervals are based on the GFR levels. It should also be acknowledged that long term VKA therapy in patients with VTE is associated with a relatively high risk of major bleeding, 0.4-3.8%, compared to DOACs which has a major bleeding risk of 0.1-0.9%[223].

DOACs are 19 times more expensive than VKA therapy according to FASS (Farmaceutiska Specialiteter i Sverige; accessed 2 April 2020, standard VTE dose Xarelto[®] [rivaroxaban] versus Waran[®][warfarine] for one year of therapy). However, the level of maximal yearly cost for each patient is set to 2350 Swedish Crona (213 Euros; www.oanda.com; accessed 1 April 2020), which means that the difference in costs between types of anticoagulants has little influence on choice of anticoagulant in Sweden. DOACs has been considered more cost-effective than VKA for VTE therapy due to increased costs during VKA therapy associated with anticoagulation monitoring and the occurrence of major bleeds [224]. The advantage of DOACs shown from such report[224] can, however, not be easily extrapolated and applied in patients with MVT due to the increased risk of gastrointestinal bleeding that may be further increased during DOAC therapy[151]. It may be wise to treat the patients with LMWH during the first weeks of therapy until clinical stabilization, before changing therapy to DOACs. Such management may decrease the risk of gastrointestinal bleeding. Despite that firm evidence from prospective comparative studies or randomized controlled trials in medical management of MVT are lacking, anticoagulation treatment with DOACs appears to be able to replace VKA in patients with MVT. Hence, DOACs has been first-choice anticoagulation therapy in MVT at the present thesis centre for several years. Suggested anticoagulation management in MVT are shown in Table 12.

	Heparin	LMWH	Apixaban	Rivaroxaban	Edoxaban	Dabigatran	VKA
Initial therapy	+	‡					
Peritonitis	+	+					
Gastrointestinal bleeding (mild, no blood transfusion needed)	+	* +		·			
Maintenance therapy		+	+	+	‡	‡	+
Severe renal impairment	+	‡					+
Severe liver failure	+	+					
Severe obesity (BMI ≥ 40kg/m²)	+	‡	-/+	-/+	-/+	-/+	+
Active cancer	+	‡					ı
Pregnancy	+	‡					

Table 12. Suggested anticoagulation in MVT.

++, Recommended, + Might be recommended, - Not recommended, +/- Indifferent. BMI: Body mass index. LMWH: Low molecular weight heparin. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis. VKA: Vitamin K antagonist. The table is based on the following references:[140, 155, 157] and paper II. #LMWH may be administered subcutaneously as half of the full dose twice daily to reduce the risk of bleeding.

The place of endovascular therapy

A number of endovascular procedures for the treatment of MVT have been developed as outlined. There are no comparative studies between anticoagulation first-strategy and endovascular first-strategy treatment to help us establish the indication for endovascular therapy. In clinical practice, clinical deterioration during anticoagulation will end up with laparotomy with probable bowel resection or an endovascular procedure in centres with experience of endovascular therapy for MVT as outlined in paper I. These procedures may be performed by vascular surgeons or interventional radiologists, depending on organizational structure.

In modern series (Table 5), endovascular therapy was not at all performed in the majority of centres, whereas two centres performed endovascular therapy in 46.9%[194] and 72.1%[189] of the patients, respectively. Both these series had a case-control design, retrospectively comparing different treatment strategies: In the Liu study[189], stratification in three different groups, endovascular local thrombolysis and aspiration of thrombus without need of surgery (n=24), bowel resection (n=19) and both endovascular therapy and bowel resection (n=25). When comparing bowel resection length between the bowel resection group and the combination therapy group, the latter group had a mean of 0.7 m bowel spared. Twenty patients were excluded from the study, of whom ten underwent bowel resection directly and six patients received anticoagulation. Local thrombolysis was given via the percutaneous transhepatic or TIPS approach, or indirect thrombolysis via the SMA, for five days with only two reported haemorrhagic complication. In the Yang study[194], one group underwent emergent laparotomy, open thrombectomy of the superior mesenteric vein, and bowel resection in 13 out of 17 patients followed by anticoagulation versus emergent laparotomy, open thrombectomy of the superior mesenteric vein, with bowel resection in 12 out of 15 patients followed by local indirect thrombolysis via the SMA for three days. Major abdominal haemorrhage was reported for three (20%) in the postoperative thrombolysis group. Of note, mean hospital stay length in group 1 and group 2 were 46 and 23 days, respectively. All patients in group 2 was included after termination of inclusion of all patients in group 1. Repeat bowel resection, short-bowel syndrome and 30-day mortality rate was lower in group 2.

The impression of these two studies from China, compared to the study presented in paper I, latter time period, is that bowel resection rate was too high, 64.7% and 78.1%, respectively. These patients were simply diagnosed too late for being eligible for successful anticoagulation therapy alone, which may be due to factors related to patient delay, doctor's delay or organizational issues. These centres should focus to organize themselves to be able to earlier diagnose MVT to avoid any interventional therapy. The design of the study by Yang[194] is strange by first performing laparotomy and bowel resection and then thrombolysis, which in most

centres would be a contraindication after surgery. The study by Liu[189] could show a benefit of thrombolysis, even though the comparative groups were nonrandomized and highly prone to selection bias. The exclusion of the ten patients that immediately underwent bowel resection was also uncalled for.

As shown in paper I, it is possible to treat the majority of MVT patients with anticoagulation monotherapy if timely diagnosed. Endovascular therapy should preferably be performed in experienced centres in the few patients that clinically deteriorate in order to avoid progression towards bowel infarction and need of bowel resection. In paper I, five out of eight patients did not need bowel resection after successful endovascular therapy. Suggested management algorithm of patients with MVT is presented in Figure 8.



Suggested algorithm for management of MVT

Figure 8. Extented management algorithm of MVT

CT: Computed tomography. MVT: Mesenteric venous thrombosis. TIPS: Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt

Chronic MVT

This thesis deals with acute MVT. The distinction between acute and chronic MVT is, however, not always clear cut. In addition, a substantial proportion of patients with MVT will develop CT features of chronic MVT such a cavernoma (cavernous transformation of the portal vein) and presence of numerous collateral veins around a thrombosed portomesenteric vein system after anticoagulation therapy[220], whereas a minor, but not insignificant, proportion of patients will develop clinical features of portal hypertension and bleeding from oesophageal or gastric varices at the time of presentation[190] or later. It is therefore justified to cover aspects of chronic MVT as outlined in the extended management algorithm (Figure 8).

In case of acute variceal haemorrhage, placement of a balloon tamponade device before, or after failed, endoscopic therapy may be used as a bridge to more definitive therapy[225]. Endoscopic therapy is used to arrest bleeding varices as well as to prevent early re-bleeding. The combination of vasoconstrictor and endoscopic therapy is superior to vasoconstrictor or endoscopic therapy alone for control of acute oesophageal variceal haemorrhage[226].

TIPS creation is a well-established therapy for refractory variceal bleeding. Experience and technical improvements including covered stents have led to improved TIPS outcomes that have encouraged an expanded application such as in portomesenteric venous thrombosis[227]. Emergency TIPS should be considered early to decompress the portal venous hypertension in patients with refractory variceal bleeding once endoscopic sclerotherapy and medical treatment fail, before the clinical condition worsens[228].

Late small bowel stricture

A percentage of patients with MVT will develop a late small bowel stricture. The reported frequencies were 3.0%[188], 5.6%[195] and 9.4%[194] in modern series. These strictures develop as a consequence of the healing process in parallel to the ischaemic insult ending up with fibrosis of the small bowel wall. This fibrosis may be so severe that it completely or almost completely narrows the small bowel lumen resulting in ileus. This condition requires an operation to relief the ileus. Two patients in paper I had to be operated for small bowel stricture after three and four months, respectively. As outlined in the management algorithm (Figure 8), responsible physicians need to be aware of this late bowel complication.

Short bowel syndrome

Apparently, a high percentage of patients will suffer from small bowel syndrome. The reported frequencies were 5.9%[189], 25%[194], 31%[186] and 40%[191] in modern series. These percentages appear to be similar to the historically high rate, 23%[122], of short bowel syndrome, which was thought to be attributed to unnecessarily long bowel resections or failure to recognize the advantage of anticoagulation therapy. Only one patient suffered from a permanent short bowel syndrome after creation of an ileostomy after a small bowel resection of only 0.05 m due to a stricture in paper I. This patient died after 1.5 months after this operation due to multiple comorbidities and short bowel syndrome as a contributory cause of death. Two other patients had transient short bowel syndrome after creation of ileostomies, which resolved after take down and re-anastomosis of bowel ends after 13 and 19 months, respectively. Both had nutritional parenteral support through a subcutaneous venous port (Port-a-Cath), which resulted in further complications with infection of their central venous catheters including septicaemia. These three patients illustrate that the occurrence of short bowel syndrome increases morbidity and mortality and should, if possible, be avoided.

Strengths and limitations of the studies

The main strengths of the studies included in this thesis were the relatively large number of patients and the included autopsy data in paper I. Since thrombophilia profiles may vary greatly in different populations (Table 11), the fact that the compared cohorts in the case-control study (paper IV) are from the same population constitutes an important strength of the study. The studies in this thesis had some limitations. One main limitation is attributed to the retrospective design of data collection (paper I-IV) with missing data. Frequency of former or current smokers were retrieved from patient records, but not reported in paper I, due to difficulties to obtain reliable information. The reported lower frequency of smoking among patients with MVT compared to the prospectively collected data on patients with systemic VTE in paper IV, should therefore be interpreted very cautiously.

The studies spans over almost two decades with potential changes on thrombosis prophylaxis, medication and smoking cessation, which might affect the incidence and mortality of MVT. This confounding factor, time period, has to some extent been accounted for in paper I, where this factor was included in the multi-variable analysis together with other factors associated with 30-day mortality in the univariable analysis

The diagnosis of MVT is rare and extremely difficult to establish clinically without CT, and a prospective study is almost impossible to design. Hence, MVT studies will either by necessity be retrospective, with all the inherent limitations of this study design, or be prospective after diagnosis at CT. A prospective single-centre study will, inevitably take too many years to complete and few investigators are prepared to undertake such a mission.

The series are relatively small in a general perspective, but rather large in comparison with other series (Table 5). The small sample sizes in each anticoagulation therapy group makes group comparison prone to type 2 statistical error. A high-quality evaluation of differences in outcomes between patients treated with DOACs and VKA was therefore not possible (paper II). Follow up CT was performed in less than 70% of patients, mainly attributable to the absence of clear treatment recommendations for MVT patients (paper III). Furthermore, CT protocols at diagnosis and follow-up were often different, due to the wide diversity of questions asked in the referral letter for initial CT. Some initial CT-examinations were performed with oral contrast media, which was never used at the follow-up CT evaluating the extent of portomesenteric venous thrombosis. Moreover, the changes in thrombotic status were assessed by a semi-quantitative ordinal scale between CT-examinations. With a prospective study design, a more modern quantitative evaluation using computer software for automatical or semi-automatical measurements of differences in thrombus volume might be possible.

In paper IV, only factor V Leiden mutation and prothrombin mutation was documented for systemic VTE patients in MATS, whereas a full thrombophilia panel with eight tests including JAK-2 mutation also was available for 74% in the MVT cohort. It would have been very interesting to evaluate differences in prevalence of JAK2 mutation and clinical consequences in JAK2 mutation positivity between these two groups, considering the relative high incidence of myeloproliferative neoplasm in the MVT groups.

Conclusion

- Short-term prognosis in patients with MVT seems to have improved. Contemporary data show that monotherapy with immediate anticoagulation is an effective first-line therapy in patients with MVT
- DOACs and VKA anticoagulation therapy in patients with MVT was clinically and radiologically effective. Bleeding complications during treatment was a concern in both groups, whereas recurrent VTE was not.
- Abnormal intestinal CT-findings secondary to MVT are related to excess risk of bowel resection due to intestinal infarction. Responsible physicians should therefore scrutinize initial CT images together with the radiologist to better tailor clinical surveillance.
- Patients with MVT have different risk factor profiles than those with systemic VTE; higher prevalence of cancer and lower prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation. Intra-abdominal cancer should be excluded in MVT patients, and the high prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation without cancer in both groups suggests that screening for thrombophilia in patients without cancer should be considered in this population.
Future perspectives

There are a number of randomized controlled trials that are warranted in MVT. These RCTs need to be multi-centre due to the rarity of disease. From an ethical point of view, it would be difficult to randomize between surgery and medical therapy when diagnosed. However, a contemporary trial investigating best medical treatment would be appropriate, to randomize between LMWH followed by warfarin versus LMWH followed by DOACs. Endpoints would be bowel resection, survival, quality of life and major bleeding. A cost-effectiveness analysis should follow. On the other hand, it is notably difficult to recruit a high proportion of randomized patients in clinical trials in surgery among those eligible[229], and low rate of included patients in RCTs will not reflect real life setting. Therefore, data from national and international[178] registries will continue to be very important for research purposes.

Non-leg and non-lung VTE or VTE at unusual sites such as MVT represent special conditions. Several aspects of MVT need to be considered when initiating medical therapy. First, MVT is associated with a unique spectrum of several risk factors. Secondly, and very important, MVT is associated with intestinal ischaemia and the ischaemia starts from the mucosa side first, which means that there should be an increased susceptibility for anticoagulation induced gastrointestinal bleeding. Long-term sequalae's due to portal hypertension has not been studied in depth in this thesis, but presence of oesophageal varices possesses a special high-risk for major bleeding, which needs to be considered in patients with MVT. The latest 2016 American College of Chest Physicians treatment guidelines for VTE has identified that determination of optimal anticoagulant management for patients with MVT is one key research priority[140, 230].

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the collaboration and support of many people. You are all aware of who you are and your invaluable contributions. I would especially like to thank:

First and foremost, my mother **Suad**, my father **Niazi** and sisters **Sara** and **Tara** for always giving me love and endless support.

My excellent main supervisor and dear friend, **Professor Stefan Acosta**. Words are not enough to express my sincere gratitude for your endless support. Never have I met such a humble and talented person as you are. A true role model. You were the first one to encourage me to write this dissertation in parallel with achieving my MD. This is as you already knew rarely seen and repeated by many as 'impossible''. But you believed in me and knew all along that I would make it. Your expertise has given this work more focus and clarity. It's been a pleasure to be your student, thank you for all the happy moments and shared laughter.

My talented co-supervisors associate professor **Johan Elf** and MD, PhD **Moncef Zarrouk**. Thank you for your support and for providing great inputs and sharing your experience in manuscript writing with valuable scientific comments and positive feedbacks. It has been a great honour to work with you.

Professor Anders Gottsäter for your excellent support with scientific language editing and inputs to my research papers.

Professor **Olle Ekberg**, for spending hours and hours analysing CT-images and providing me data that were published in paper I-III.

Professor **Peter Svensson** and **Signy Sveinsdottir** for providing us with MATS database and being there to help us whenever needed.

My dear friend and fellow colleague **Mohammed Fakhro**. Thank you for the great discussions we had during our PhD studies and for always being there when I needed advice and help.

My dear friend and great photographer Christer Thorell for taking the portrait photo.

My dear friend Robin Tran for creating Figures 6A-D.

References

- 1. Rogers AI, Deshpande AR. Chapter 58 Ischemic Bowel Disease. In: McNally PR, editor. GI/Liver Secrets (Fourth Edition). Philadelphia: Mosby; 2010. p. 403-10.
- 2. Patel A, Kaleya RN, Sammartano RJ. Pathophysiology of mesenteric ischemia. Surg Clin North Am. 1992;72(1):31-41.
- 3. Stoney RJ, Cunningham CG. Acute mesenteric ischemia. Surgery. 1993;114(3):489-90.
- 4. Beaulieu RJ, Arnaoutakis KD, Abularrage CJ, Efron DT, Schneider E, Black JH, 3rd. Comparison of open and endovascular treatment of acute mesenteric ischemia. J Vasc Surg. 2014;59(1):159-64.
- 5. Chang R-W, Chang J-B, Longo W-E. Update in management of mesenteric ischemia. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(20):3243-7.
- 6. Horton KM, Fishman EK. Multidetector CT angiography in the diagnosis of mesenteric ischemia. Radiol Clin North Am. 2007;45(2):275-88.
- Schoots IG, Koffeman GI, Legemate DA, Levi M, van Gulik TM. Systematic review of survival after acute mesenteric ischaemia according to disease aetiology. Br J Surg. 2004;91(1):17-27.
- 8. Oldenburg WA, Lau LL, Rodenberg TJ, Edmonds HJ, Burger CD. Acute mesenteric ischemia: a clinical review. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164(10):1054-62.
- 9. Caleb MG. Acute bowel ischemia after coronary bypass surgery--a catastrophic event. Singapore Med J. 2001;42(1):33-7.
- 10. Gupta N, Schwenk A, Borgstein R. Acute mesenteric ischaemia on unenhanced computer-tomography. J Radiol Case Rep. 2010;4(9):24-30.
- Acosta S, Wadman M, Syk I, Elmstahl S, Ekberg O. Epidemiology and prognostic factors in acute superior mesenteric artery occlusion. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010;14(4):628-35.
- 12. Robert ME. CHAPTER 13 Inflammatory Disorders of the Small Intestine. In: Odze RD, Goldblum JR, editors. Surgical Pathology of the GI Tract, Liver, Biliary Tract, and Pancreas (Second Edition). Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 2009. p. 321-54.
- 13. Acosta S. Akut mesenteriell ischemi. In Wahlberg E (ed). Akut Kärlkirurgi, 2:a upplagan. 2013.
- Cokkinis AJ. Observations on the Mesenteric Circulation. J Anat. 1930;64(Pt 2):200-5.
- 15. Boley SJ, Brandt LJ, Sammartano RJ. HISTORY OF MESENTERIC ISCHEMIA: The Evolution of a Diagnosis and Management. Surgical Clinics of North America. 1997;77(2):275-88.

- 16. Elliot JW. II. The Operative Relief of Gangrene of Intestine Due to Occlusion of the Mesenteric Vessels. Ann Surg. 1895;21(1):9-23.
- 17. Warren S ET. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1935(61):102-21.
- Donaldson JK, Stout BF. Mesenteric thrombosis: (Arterial and venous types as separate clinical entities) a clinical and experimental study. The American Journal of Surgery. 1935;29(2):208-17.
- 19. Strohl EL LJ. Mesenteric venous occlusion. Arch Surg 1948(60):339-42.
- 20. Primary mesenteric venous thrombosis. Ann Surg. Naitove A, Weisman RE. (161):516–23.
- 21. Bergentz SE, Ericsson B, Hedner U, Leandoer L, Nilsson IM. Thrombosis in the superior mesenteric and portal veins: report of a case treated with thrombectomy. Surgery. 1974;76(2):286-90.
- 22. Yankes JR, Uglietta JP, Grant J, Braun SD. Percutaneous transhepatic recanalization and thrombolysis of the superior mesenteric vein. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1988;151(2):289-90.
- 23. Acosta S. Epidemiology of mesenteric vascular disease: clinical implications. Semin Vasc Surg. 2010;23(1):4-8.
- 24. Acosta S, Ogren M, Sternby N-H, Bergqvist D, Björck M. Mesenteric venous thrombosis with transmural intestinal infarction: a population-based study. J Vasc Surg. 2005;41(1):59-63.
- 25. Acosta S, Alhadad A, Svensson P, Ekberg O. Epidemiology, risk and prognostic factors in mesenteric venous thrombosis. Br J Surg. 2008;95(10):1245-51.
- Fritsma GA, Walenga JM. 39 Thrombotic disorders and laboratory assessment. In: Keohane EM, Otto CN, Walenga JM, editors. Rodak's Hematology (Sixth Edition). St. Louis (MO): Content Repository Only!; 2020. p. 720-45.
- 27. Chung I, Lip GYH. Virchow's triad revisited: blood constituents. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb. 2003;33(5-6):449-54.
- 28. Sundquist K, Sundquist J, Svensson PJ, Zöller B, Memon AA. Role of family history of venous thromboembolism and thrombophilia as predictors of recurrence: a prospective follow-up study. J Thromb Haemost. 2015;13(12):2180-6.
- 29. Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Deep vein thrombosis. Lancet. 2005;365(9465):1163-74.
- 30. Monie DD, DeLoughery EP. Pathogenesis of thrombosis: cellular and pharmacogenetic contributions. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2017;7(Suppl 3):S291-S8.
- 31. Reitsma PH, Rosendaal FR. Past and future of genetic research in thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. 2007;5 Suppl 1:264-9.
- 32. Lindstrom S, Wang L, Smith EN, Gordon W, van Hylckama Vlieg A, de Andrade M, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic association studies identify 16 novel susceptibility loci for venous thromboembolism. Blood. 2019;134(19):1645-57.
- 33. Egeberg O. INHERITED ANTITHROMBIN DEFICIENCY CAUSING THROMBOPHILIA. Thromb Diath Haemorrh. 1965;13:516-30.
- 34. Tait RC, Walker ID, Perry DJ, Islam SI, Daly ME, McCall F, et al. Prevalence of antithrombin deficiency in the healthy population. Br J Haematol. 1994;87(1):106-12.

- 35. Wells PS, Blajchman MA, Henderson P, Wells MJ, Demers C, Bourque R, et al. Prevalence of antithrombin deficiency in healthy blood donors: a cross-sectional study. Am J Hematol. 1994;45(4):321-4.
- 36. Comp PC, Esmon CT. Recurrent venous thromboembolism in patients with a partial deficiency of protein S. The New England journal of medicine. 1984;311(24):1525-8.
- Griffin JH, Evatt B, Zimmerman TS, Kleiss AJ, Wideman C. Deficiency of protein C in congenital thrombotic disease. J Clin Invest. 1981;68(5):1370-3.
- 38. Miletich J, Sherman L, Broze G, Jr. Absence of thrombosis in subjects with heterozygous protein C deficiency. The New England journal of medicine. 1987;317(16):991-6.
- 39. Tait RC, Walker ID, Reitsma PH, Islam SI, McCall F, Poort SR, et al. Prevalence of protein C deficiency in the healthy population. Thromb Haemost. 1995;73(1):87-93.
- 40. Wypasek E, Undas A. Protein C and protein S deficiency practical diagnostic issues. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2013;22(4):459-67.
- 41. Dahlbäck B, Carlsson M, Svensson PJ. Familial thrombophilia due to a previously unrecognized mechanism characterized by poor anticoagulant response to activated protein C: prediction of a cofactor to activated protein C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90(3):1004-8.
- 42. Rosén SB, Sturk A. Activated protein C resistance--a major risk factor for thrombosis. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem. 1997;35(7):501-16.
- 43. Bertina RM, Koeleman BP, Koster T, Rosendaal FR, Dirven RJ, de Ronde H, et al. Mutation in blood coagulation factor V associated with resistance to activated protein C. Nature. 1994;369(6475):64-7.
- 44. Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Lindpaintner K, Stampfer MJ, Eisenberg PR, Miletich JP. Mutation in the gene coding for coagulation factor V and the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and venous thrombosis in apparently healthy men. The New England journal of medicine. 1995;332(14):912-7.
- 45. Rosendaal FR, Koster T, Vandenbroucke JP, Reitsma PH. High risk of thrombosis in patients homozygous for factor V Leiden (activated protein C resistance). Blood. 1995;85(6):1504-8.
- 46. Rees DC, Cox M, Clegg JB. World distribution of factor V Leiden. Lancet. 1995;346(8983):1133-4.
- 47. Poort SR, Rosendaal FR, Reitsma PH, Bertina RM. A common genetic variation in the 3'-untranslated region of the prothrombin gene is associated with elevated plasma prothrombin levels and an increase in venous thrombosis. Blood. 1996;88(10):3698-703.
- 48. Clagett GP, Reisch JS. Prevention of venous thromboembolism in general surgical patients. Results of meta-analysis. Ann Surg. 1988;208(2):227-40.
- 49. Collins R, Scrimgeour A, Yusuf S, Peto R. Reduction in fatal pulmonary embolism and venous thrombosis by perioperative administration of subcutaneous heparin. Overview of results of randomized trials in general, orthopedic, and urologic surgery. The New England journal of medicine. 1988;318(18):1162-73.

- 50. Paiement GD, Bell D, Wessinger SJ, Harris WH. The Otto Aufranc Award paper. New advances in the prevention, diagnosis, and cost effectiveness of venous thromboembolic disease in patients with total hip replacement. Hip. 1987:94-119.
- 51. White RH, Zhou H, Romano PS. Incidence of symptomatic venous thromboembolism after different elective or urgent surgical procedures. Thromb Haemost. 2003;90(3):446-55.
- 52. Geerts WH, Heit JA, Clagett GP, Pineo GF, Colwell CW, Anderson FA, Jr., et al. Prevention of venous thromboembolism. Chest. 2001;119(1 Suppl):132S-75S.
- 53. Raabe A, Gerlach R, Zimmermann M, Seifert V. Practice of perioperative thromboembolic prophylaxis in neurosurgery: results of a German survey. Zentralbl Neurochir. 2000;61(2):103-10.
- 54. Samama CM, Laporte S, Rosencher N, Girard P, Llau J, Mouret P, et al. Rivaroxaban or Enoxaparin in Nonmajor Orthopedic Surgery. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020.
- 55. White RH, Romano PS, Zhou H, Rodrigo J, Bargar W. Incidence and Time Course of Thromboembolic Outcomes Following Total Hip or Knee Arthroplasty. Arch Intern Med. 1998;158(14):1525-31.
- 56. Prevention of venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. NIH Consensus Development. JAMA. 1986;256(6):744-9.
- 57. Shackford SR, Moser KM. Deep Venous Thrombosis and Pulmonary Embolism in Trauma Patients. Journal of Intensive Care Medicine. 1988;3(2):87-98.
- 58. Geerts WH, Code KI, Jay RM, Chen E, Szalai JP. A prospective study of venous thromboembolism after major trauma. The New England journal of medicine. 1994;331(24):1601-6.
- 59. Piotrowski JJ, Alexander JJ, Brandt CP, McHenry CR, Yuhas JP, Jacobs D. Is deep vein thrombosis surveillance warranted in high-risk trauma patients? Am J Surg. 1996;172(2):210-3.
- 60. White Richard H. The Epidemiology of Venous Thromboembolism. Circulation. 2003;107(23_suppl_1):I-4-I-8.
- 61. Gibbs NM. Venous thrombosis of the lower limbs with particular reference to bedrest. Br J Surg. 1957;45(191):209-36.
- 62. Warlow C, Ogston D, Douglas AS. Venous thrombosis following strokes. Lancet. 1972;1(7764):1305-6.
- 63. Homans J. Thrombosis of the deep leg veins due to prolonged sitting. The New England journal of medicine. 1954;250(4):148-9.
- 64. Scurr JH, Machin SJ, Bailey-King S, Mackie IJ, McDonald S, Smith PD. Frequency and prevention of symptomless deep-vein thrombosis in long-haul flights: a randomised trial. Lancet. 2001;357(9267):1485-9.
- 65. Chandra D, Parisini E, Mozaffarian D. Meta-analysis: travel and risk for venous thromboembolism. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151(3):180-90.
- 66. Schünemann HJ, Cushman M, Burnett AE, Kahn SR, Beyer-Westendorf J, Spencer FA, et al. American Society of Hematology 2018 guidelines for management of venous

thromboembolism: prophylaxis for hospitalized and nonhospitalized medical patients. Blood Adv. 2018;2(22):3198-225.

- 67. Lapostolle F, Surget V, Borron SW, Desmaizières M, Sordelet D, Lapandry C, et al. Severe pulmonary embolism associated with air travel. The New England journal of medicine. 2001;345(11):779-83.
- 68. Ageno W, Becattini C, Brighton T, Selby R, Kamphuisen PW. Cardiovascular risk factors and venous thromboembolism: a meta-analysis. Circulation. 2008;117(1):93-102.
- 69. Borch KH, Braekkan SK, Mathiesen EB, Njolstad I, Wilsgaard T, Stormer J, et al. Abdominal obesity is essential for the risk of venous thromboembolism in the metabolic syndrome: the Tromso study. J Thromb Haemost. 2009;7(5):739-45.
- 70. Steffen LM, Cushman M, Peacock JM, Heckbert SR, Jacobs DR, Jr., Rosamond WD, et al. Metabolic syndrome and risk of venous thromboembolism: Longitudinal Investigation of Thromboembolism Etiology. J Thromb Haemost. 2009;7(5):746-51.
- 71. Noble S, Pasi J. Epidemiology and pathophysiology of cancer-associated thrombosis. Br J Cancer. 2010;102 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S2-S9.
- 72. Prandoni P, Falanga A, Piccioli A. Cancer and venous thromboembolism. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6(6):401-10.
- 73. Mandalà M, Falanga A, Roila F, Group EGW. Management of venous thromboembolism (VTE) in cancer patients: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Oncol. 2011;22 Suppl 6:vi85-vi92.
- 74. Fennerty A. Venous thromboembolic disease and cancer. Postgrad Med J. 2006;82(972):642-8.
- Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, Petterson TM, O'Fallon WM, Melton LJ, 3rd. Risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a population-based casecontrol study. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160(6):809-15.
- 76. Levine MN, Lee AY. Treatment of venous thrombosis in the cancer patient. Acta Haematol. 2001;106(1-2):81-7.
- 77. Heit JA, Kobbervig CE, James AH, Petterson TM, Bailey KR, Melton LJ, 3rd. Trends in the incidence of venous thromboembolism during pregnancy or postpartum: a 30-year population-based study. Ann Intern Med. 2005;143(10):697-706.
- 78. Pomp ER, Lenselink AM, Rosendaal FR, Doggen CJM. Pregnancy, the postpartum period and prothrombotic defects: risk of venous thrombosis in the MEGA study. J Thromb Haemost. 2008;6(4):632-7.
- 79. Bremme KA. Haemostatic changes in pregnancy. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol. 2003;16(2):153-68.
- 80. James AH, Bushnell CD, Jamison MG, Myers ER. Incidence and risk factors for stroke in pregnancy and the puerperium. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;106(3):509-16.
- James AH, Jamison MG, Brancazio LR, Myers ER. Venous thromboembolism during pregnancy and the postpartum period: incidence, risk factors, and mortality. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2006;194(5):1311-5.

- James Andra H, Jamison Margaret G, Biswas Mimi S, Brancazio Leo R, Swamy Geeta K, Myers Evan R. Acute Myocardial Infarction in Pregnancy. Circulation. 2006;113(12):1564-71.
- 83. Vessey MP, Doll R. Investigation of relation between use of oral contraceptives and thromboembolic disease. A further report. Br Med J. 1969;2(5658):651-7.
- 84. Daly E, Vessey MP, Hawkins MM, Carson JL, Gough P, Marsh S. Risk of venous thromboembolism in users of hormone replacement therapy. Lancet. 1996;348(9033):977-80.
- 85. Grodstein F, Stampfer MJ, Goldhaber SZ, Manson JE, Colditz GA, Speizer FE, et al. Prospective study of exogenous hormones and risk of pulmonary embolism in women. Lancet. 1996;348(9033):983-7.
- 86. Lowe G, Woodward M, Vessey M, Rumley A, Gough P, Daly E. Thrombotic variables and risk of idiopathic venous thromboembolism in women aged 45-64 years. Relationships to hormone replacement therapy. Thromb Haemost. 2000;83(4):530-5.
- Varas-Lorenzo C, García-Rodríguez LA, Cattaruzzi C, Troncon MG, Agostinis L, Perez-Gutthann S. Hormone replacement therapy and the risk of hospitalization for venous thromboembolism: a population-based study in southern Europe. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;147(4):387-90.
- 88. Olié V, Canonico M, Scarabin P-Y. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and venous thromboembolism. Thromb Res. 2011;127 Suppl 3:S26-S9.
- 89. Vessey M, Mant D, Smith A, Yeates D. Oral contraceptives and venous thromboembolism: findings in a large prospective study. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1986;292(6519):526-.
- 90. Baratloo A, Safari S, Rouhipour A, Hashemi B, Rahmati F, Motamedi M, et al. The Risk of Venous Thromboembolism with Different Generation of Oral Contraceptives; a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Emerg (Tehran). 2014;2(1):1-11.
- 91. Dinger J, Bardenheuer K, Heinemann K. Cardiovascular and general safety of a 24day regimen of drospirenone-containing combined oral contraceptives: final results from the International Active Surveillance Study of Women Taking Oral Contraceptives. Contraception. 2014;89(4):253-63.
- 92. Jackson E. Controversies in postpartum contraception: when is it safe to start oral contraceptives after childbirth? Thromb Res. 2011;127 Suppl 3:S35-S9.
- 93. Kemmeren JM, Algra A, Grobbee DE. Third generation oral contraceptives and risk of venous thrombosis: meta-analysis. BMJ. 2001;323(7305):131-4.
- 94. Lidegaard Ø, Edström B, Kreiner S. Oral contraceptives and venous thromboembolism: a five-year national case-control study. Contraception. 2002;65(3):187-96.
- 95. Lidegaard Ø, Løkkegaard E, Svendsen AL, Agger C. Hormonal contraception and risk of venous thromboembolism: national follow-up study. BMJ. 2009;339:b2890-b.
- 96. van Hylckama Vlieg A, Helmerhorst FM, Vandenbroucke JP, Doggen CJM, Rosendaal FR. The venous thrombotic risk of oral contraceptives, effects of oestrogen dose and progestogen type: results of the MEGA case-control study. BMJ. 2009;339:b2921-b.

- 97. Baxter EJ, Scott LM, Campbell PJ, East C, Fourouclas N, Swanton S, et al. Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. Lancet. 2005;365(9464):1054-61.
- Jelinek J, Oki Y, Gharibyan V, Bueso-Ramos C, Prchal JT, Verstovsek S, et al. JAK2 mutation 1849G>T is rare in acute leukemias but can be found in CMML, Philadelphia chromosome-negative CML, and megakaryocytic leukemia. Blood. 2005;106(10):3370-3.
- 99. Levine RL, Loriaux M, Huntly BJP, Loh ML, Beran M, Stoffregen E, et al. The JAK2V617F activating mutation occurs in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia, but not in acute lymphoblastic leukemia or chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2005;106(10):3377-9.
- 100. Levine RL, Pardanani A, Tefferi A, Gilliland DG. Role of JAK2 in the pathogenesis and therapy of myeloproliferative disorders. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7(9):673-83.
- 101. Scott LM, Scott MA, Campbell PJ, Green AR. Progenitors homozygous for the V617F mutation occur in most patients with polycythemia vera, but not essential thrombocythemia. Blood. 2006;108(7):2435-7.
- 102. Xavier SG, Gadelha T, Rezende SM, Zalcberg IR, Spector N. JAK2V617F mutation in patients with thrombosis: to screen or not to screen? International Journal of Laboratory Hematology. 2011;33(2):117-24.
- 103. Nimmo MC, Carter CJ. The antiphospholipid antibody syndrome: A riddle wrapped in a mystery inside an enigmal1Quote from Sir Winston Churchill, BBC Broadcast, London, England, October 1st 1939 referring to his ability to forecast the action of Russia in response to actions by Germany. Clinical and Applied Immunology Reviews. 2003;4(2):125-40.
- 104. Schaefer JK, McBane RD, Black DF, Williams LN, Moder KG, Wysokinski WE. Failure of dabigatran and rivaroxaban to prevent thromboembolism in antiphospholipid syndrome: a case series of three patients. Thromb Haemost. 2014;112(5):947-50.
- 105. Zarrouk M, Salim S, Elf J, Gottsater A, Acosta S. Testing for thrombophilia in mesenteric venous thrombosis - Retrospective original study and systematic review. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2017;31(1):39-48.
- 106. Kumar S, Sarr MG, Kamath PS. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(23):1683-8.
- Boley SJ, Kaleya RN, Brandt LJ. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. Surg Clin North Am. 1992;72(1):183-201.
- 108. Font VE, Hermann RE, Longworth DL. Chronic mesenteric venous thrombosis: difficult diagnosis and therapy. Cleve Clin J Med. 1989;56(8):823-8.
- McKinsey JF, Gewertz BL. Acute mesenteric ischemia. Surg Clin North Am. 1997;77(2):307-18.
- Blumberg SN, Maldonado TS. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord. 2016;4(4):501-7.
- Hmoud B, Singal AK, Kamath PS. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Clin Exp Hepatol. 2014;4(3):257-63.

- 112. Russell Cori E, Wadhera Rishi K, Piazza G. Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis. Circulation. 2015;131(18):1599-603.
- 113. Akyildiz H, Akcan A, Oztürk A, Sozuer E, Kucuk C, Karahan I. The correlation of the D-dimer test and biphasic computed tomography with mesenteric computed tomography angiography in the diagnosis of acute mesenteric ischemia. The American Journal of Surgery. 2009;197(4):429-33.
- 114. Lim W, Le Gal G, Bates SM, Righini M, Haramati LB, Lang E, et al. American Society of Hematology 2018 guidelines for management of venous thromboembolism: diagnosis of venous thromboembolism. Blood Adv. 2018;2(22):3226-56.
- 115. Destek S, Yabaci A, Abik YN, Gul VO, Deger KC. Predictive and prognostic value of L-lactate, D-dimer, leukocyte, C-reactive protein and neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio in patients with acute mesenteric ischemia. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg. 2020;26(1):86-94.
- 116. Sun DL, Li SM, Cen YY, Xu QW, Li YJ, Sun YB, et al. Accuracy of using serum Ddimer for diagnosis of acute intestinal ischemia: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(13):e6380.
- 117. Hagspiel KD, Flors L, Hanley M, Norton PT. Computed tomography angiography and magnetic resonance angiography imaging of the mesenteric vasculature. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2015;18(1):2-13.
- 118. Amitrano L, Guardascione MA, Scaglione M, Pezzullo L, Sangiuliano N, Armellino MF, et al. Prognostic factors in noncirrhotic patients with splanchnic vein thromboses. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102(11):2464-70.
- 119. Acosta S, Alhadad A, Ekberg O. Findings in multi-detector row CT with portal phase enhancement in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis. Emergency radiology. 2009;16(6):477-82.
- 120. Morasch MD, Ebaugh JL, Chiou AC, Matsumura JS, Pearce WH, Yao JS. Mesenteric venous thrombosis: a changing clinical entity. J Vasc Surg. 2001;34(4):680-4.
- 121. Rhee RY, Gloviczki P. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. Surg Clin North Am. 1997;77(2):327-38.
- 122. Rhee RY, Gloviczki P, Mendonca CT, Petterson TM, Serry RD, Sarr MG, et al. Mesenteric venous thrombosis: still a lethal disease in the 1990s. J Vasc Surg. 1994;20(5):688-97.
- 123. Taourel PG, Deneuville M, Pradel JA, Régent D, Bruel JM. Acute mesenteric ischemia: diagnosis with contrast-enhanced CT. Radiology. 1996;199(3):632-6.
- 124. Vogelzang RL, Gore RM, Anschuetz SL, Blei AT. Thrombosis of the splanchnic veins: CT diagnosis. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 1988;150(1):93-6.
- 125. Lee SS, Ha HK, Park SH, Choi EK, Kim AY, Kim JC, et al. Usefulness of computed tomography in differentiating transmural infarction from nontransmural ischemia of the small intestine in patients with acute mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2008;32(5):730-7.
- 126. Harnik IG, Brandt LJ. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. Vasc Med. 2010;15(5):407-18.
- 127. American Gastroenterological Association Medical Position Statement: guidelines on intestinal ischemia. Gastroenterology. 2000;118(5):951-3.

- 128. Alvi AR, Khan S, Niazi SK, Ghulam M, Bibi S. Acute mesenteric venous thrombosis: improved outcome with early diagnosis and prompt anticoagulation therapy. Int J Surg. 2009;7(3):210-3.
- 129. Brandt LJ, Boley SJ. AGA technical review on intestinal ischemia. American Gastrointestinal Association. Gastroenterology. 2000;118(5):954-68.
- Brunaud L, Antunes L, Collinet-Adler S, Marchal F, Ayav A, Bresler L, et al. Acute mesenteric venous thrombosis: case for nonoperative management. J Vasc Surg. 2001;34(4):673-9.
- 131. Cenedese A, Monneuse O, Gruner L, Tissot E, Mennesson N, Barth X. Initial management of extensive mesenteric venous thrombosis: retrospective study of nine cases. World journal of surgery. 2009;33(10):2203-8.
- 132. Zhang J, Duan ZQ, Song QB, Luo YW, Xin SJ, Zhang Q. Acute mesenteric venous thrombosis: a better outcome achieved through improved imaging techniques and a changed policy of clinical management. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2004;28(3):329-34.
- 133. Ageno W, Dentali F, Squizzato A. How I treat splanchnic vein thrombosis. Blood. 2014;124(25):3685-91.
- 134. Björck M, Koelemay M, Acosta S, Bastos Goncalves F, Kölbel T, Kolkman JJ, et al. Editor's Choice - Management of the Diseases of Mesenteric Arteries and Veins: Clinical Practice Guidelines of the European Society of Vascular Surgery (ESVS). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2017;53(4):460-510.
- 135. Abdu RA, Zakhour BJ, Dallis DJ. Mesenteric venous thrombosis--1911 to 1984. Surgery. 1987;101(4):383-8.
- 136. Petitti DB, Strom BL, Melmon KL. Duration of warfarin anticoagulant therapy and the probabilities of recurrent thromboembolism and hemorrhage. Am J Med. 1986;81(2):255-9.
- Link Karl P. The Discovery of Dicumarol and Its Sequels. Circulation. 1959;19(1):97-107.
- 138. Wieloch M, Sjalander A, Frykman V, Rosenqvist M, Eriksson N, Svensson PJ. Anticoagulation control in Sweden: reports of time in therapeutic range, major bleeding, and thrombo-embolic complications from the national quality registry AuriculA. Eur Heart J. 2011;32(18):2282-9.
- 139. Ansell J, Hirsh J, Hylek E, Jacobson A, Crowther M, Palareti G. Pharmacology and Management of the Vitamin K Antagonists: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). Chest. 2008;133(6):160S-98S.
- 140. Kearon C, Akl EA, Ornelas J, Blaivas A, Jimenez D, Bounameaux H, et al. Antithrombotic Therapy for VTE Disease: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. Chest. 2016;149(2):315-52.
- Loo SY, Dell'Aniello S, Huiart L, Renoux C. Trends in the prescription of novel oral anticoagulants in UK primary care. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2017;83(9):2096-106.
- 142. Agnelli G, Buller HR, Cohen A, Curto M, Gallus AS, Johnson M, et al. Oral apixaban for the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(9):799-808.

- 143. Bauersachs R, Berkowitz SD, Brenner B, Buller HR, Decousus H, Gallus AS, et al. Oral rivaroxaban for symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(26):2499-510.
- 144. Buller HR, Prins MH, Lensin AW, Decousus H, Jacobson BF, Minar E, et al. Oral rivaroxaban for the treatment of symptomatic pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(14):1287-97.
- 145. Hokusai VTEI, Büller HR, Décousus H, Grosso MA, Mercuri M, Middeldorp S, et al. Edoxaban versus warfarin for the treatment of symptomatic venous thromboembolism. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;369(15):1406-15.
- 146. Schulman S, Kakkar AK, Goldhaber SZ, Schellong S, Eriksson H, Mismetti P, et al. Treatment of acute venous thromboembolism with dabigatran or warfarin and pooled analysis. Circulation. 2014;129(7):764-72.
- 147. Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, Mismetti P, Schellong S, Eriksson H, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(24):2342-52.
- 148. Agnelli G, Becattini C, Meyer G, Muñoz A, Huisman MV, Connors JM, et al. Apixaban for the Treatment of Venous Thromboembolism Associated with Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020.
- 149. Simmons B, Wysokinski W, Saadiq RA, Bott-Kitslaar D, Henkin S, Casanegra A, et al. Efficacy and safety of rivaroxaban compared to enoxaparin in treatment of cancerassociated venous thromboembolism. Eur J Haematol. 2018.
- 150. Raskob GE, van Es N, Verhamme P, Carrier M, Di Nisio M, Garcia D, et al. Edoxaban for the Treatment of Cancer-Associated Venous Thromboembolism. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(7):615-24.
- 151. Thapa N, Shatzel J, Deloughery TG, Olson SR. Direct oral anticoagulants in gastrointestinal malignancies: is the convenience worth the risk? J Gastrointest Oncol. 2019;10(4):807-9.
- 152. Siegal DM, Curnutte JT, Connolly SJ, Lu G, Conley PB, Wiens BL, et al. Andexanet Alfa for the Reversal of Factor Xa Inhibitor Activity. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(25):2413-24.
- 153. Pollack CV, Reilly PA, Eikelboom J, Glund S, Verhamme P, Bernstein RA, et al. Idarucizumab for Dabigatran Reversal. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(6):511-20.
- 154. Klok FA, Hösel V, Clemens A, Yollo WD, Tilke C, Schulman S, et al. Prediction of bleeding events in patients with venous thromboembolism on stable anticoagulation treatment. Eur Respir J. 2016;48(5):1369-76.
- 155. Bates SM. Pregnancy-associated venous thromboembolism: prevention and treatment. Semin Hematol. 2011;48(4):271-84.
- 156. Konstantinides SV, Meyer G, Becattini C, Bueno H, Geersing GJ, Harjola VP, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of acute pulmonary embolism developed in collaboration with the European Respiratory Society (ERS). Eur Heart J. 2020;41(4):543-603.
- 157. Nutescu EA, Spinler SA, Wittkowsky A, Dager WE. Low-molecular-weight heparins in renal impairment and obesity: available evidence and clinical practice

recommendations across medical and surgical settings. Ann Pharmacother. 2009;43(6):1064-83.

- 158. Trinkle JK, Rush BF, Fuller MA, Bryant LR, Rams J. The operative management of idiopathic mesenteric venous thrombosis with intestinal infarction. Am Surg. 1969;35(5):338-41.
- 159. Khodadadi J, Rozencwajg J, Nacasch N, Schmidt B, Feuchtwanger MM. Mesenteric vein thrombosis. The importance of a second-look operation. Archives of surgery (Chicago, Ill : 1960). 1980;115(3):315-7.
- 160. Levy PJ, Krausz MM, Manny J. The role of second-look procedure in improving survival time for patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis. Surgery, gynecology & obstetrics. 1990;170(4):287-91.
- 161. Takahashi N, Kuroki K, Yanaga K. Percutaneous transhepatic mechanical thrombectomy for acute mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Endovasc Ther. 2005;12(4):508-11.
- 162. Di Minno MN, Milone F, Milone M, Iaccarino V, Venetucci P, Lupoli R, et al. Endovascular Thrombolysis in Acute Mesenteric Vein Thrombosis: a 3-year followup with the rate of short and long-term sequaelae in 32 patients. Thromb Res. 2010;126(4):295-8.
- 163. Zhou W, Choi L, Lin PH, Dardik A, Eraso A, Lumsden AB. Percutaneous transhepatic thrombectomy and pharmacologic thrombolysis of mesenteric venous thrombosis. Vascular. 2007;15(1):41-5.
- 164. Nakayama S, Murashima N, Isobe Y. Superior mesenteric venous thrombosis treated by direct aspiration thrombectomy. Hepatogastroenterology. 2008;55(82-83):367-70.
- 165. Ferro C, Rossi UG, Bovio G, Dahamane M, Centanaro M. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt, mechanical aspiration thrombectomy, and direct thrombolysis in the treatment of acute portal and superior mesenteric vein thrombosis. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2007;30(5):1070-4.
- 166. Wang MQ, Lin HY, Guo LP, Liu FY, Duan F, Wang ZJ. Acute extensive portal and mesenteric venous thrombosis after splenectomy: treated by interventional thrombolysis with transjugular approach. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15(24):3038-45.
- 167. Hollingshead M, Burke CT, Mauro MA, Weeks SM, Dixon RG, Jaques PF. Transcatheter thrombolytic therapy for acute mesenteric and portal vein thrombosis. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2005;16(5):651-61.
- 168. Ozdogan M, Gurer A, Gokakin AK, Kulacoglu H, Aydin R. Thrombolysis via an operatively placed mesenteric catheter for portal and superior mesenteric vein thrombosis: report of a case. Surg Today. 2006;36(9):846-8.
- 169. Marini M, Gomez-Gutierrez M, Cao I, Selles C, Aguirrezabalaga J, Otero A, et al. Endovascular treatment of splenomesenteric-portal vein thromboses during orthotopic liver transplantation. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2005;16(8):1135-42.
- 170. Mergenthaler FW, Harris MN. Superior mesenteric vein thrombosis complicating pancreatoduodenectomy: successful treatment by thrombectomy. Ann Surg. 1968;167(1):106-11.

- 171. Klempnauer J, Grothues F, Bektas H, Pichlmayr R. Results of portal thrombectomy and splanchnic thrombolysis for the surgical management of acute mesentericoportal thrombosis. Br J Surg. 1997;84(1):129-32.
- 172. Xu R, Tang L, Wang X, Zhang T, Zhou Z, Wang M, et al. Hybrid Therapy Consisting of Bowel Resection and Fluoroscopic-Assisted Balloon Thrombectomy for Small Bowel Infarction Caused by Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis. Ann Vasc Surg. 2019;59:202-7.
- 173. Condat B, Pessione F, Helene Denninger M, Hillaire S, Valla D. Recent portal or mesenteric venous thrombosis: increased recognition and frequent recanalization on anticoagulant therapy. Hepatology. 2000;32(3):466-70.
- 174. Hedayati N, Riha GM, Kougias P, Huynh TT, Cheng C, Bechara C, et al. Prognostic factors and treatment outcome in mesenteric vein thrombosis. Vasc Endovascular Surg. 2008;42(3):217-24.
- 175. Glenister KM, Corke CF. Infarcted intestine: a diagnostic void. ANZ J Surg. 2004;74(4):260-5.
- 176. Kumar S, Kamath PS. Acute superior mesenteric venous thrombosis: one disease or two? Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98(6):1299-304.
- 177. Park WM, Gloviczki P, Cherry KJ, Jr., Hallett JW, Jr., Bower TC, Panneton JM, et al. Contemporary management of acute mesenteric ischemia: Factors associated with survival. J Vasc Surg. 2002;35(3):445-52.
- 178. Ageno W, Riva N, Schulman S, Beyer-Westendorf J, Bang SM, Senzolo M, et al. Long-term Clinical Outcomes of Splanchnic Vein Thrombosis: Results of an International Registry. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(9):1474-80.
- 179. Dentali F, Ageno W, Witt D, Malato A, Clark N, Garcia D, et al. Natural history of mesenteric venous thrombosis in patients treated with vitamin K antagonists: a multi-centre, retrospective cohort study. Thromb Haemost. 2009;102(3):501-4.
- 180. Isma N, Svensson PJ, Gottsäter A, Lindblad B. Prospective analysis of risk factors and distribution of venous thromboembolism in the population-based Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS). Thromb Res. 2009;124(6):663-6.
- 181. Björck F, Sandén P, Renlund H, Svensson PJ, Själander A. Warfarin treatment quality is consistently high in both anticoagulation clinics and primary care setting in Sweden. Thromb Res. 2015;136(2):216-20.
- 182. Schulman S, Angerås U, Bergqvist D, Eriksson B, Lassen MR, Fisher W, et al. Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in surgical patients. J Thromb Haemost. 2010;8(1):202-4.
- 183. Grubb A, Nyman U, Björk J, Lindström V, Rippe B, Sterner G, et al. Simple cystatin C-based prediction equations for glomerular filtration rate compared with the modification of diet in renal disease prediction equation for adults and the Schwartz and the Counahan-Barratt prediction equations for children. Clin Chem. 2005;51(8):1420-31.
- 184. Carroll RE, Benedetti E, Schowalter JP, Buchman AL. Management and Complications of Short Bowel Syndrome: an Updated Review. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2016;18(7):40.

- 185. Maglinte DDT HH. Anatomy of the small intestine In Clinical radiology of the small intestine WB Saunders Philadelphia; 1989. p. 10.
- 186. Al-Thani H, El-Mabrok J, El-Menyar A, Al-Sulaiti M, Tabeb AH, Hajaji K, et al. Clinical presentation and outcome of mesenteric vein thrombosis: a single-center experience. Angiology. 2015;66(3):249-56.
- 187. Cho JW, Choi JJ, Um E, Jung SM, Shin YC, Jung SW, et al. Clinical Manifestations of Superior Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis in the Era of Computed Tomography. Vasc Specialist Int. 2018;34(4):83-7.
- 188. Kim HK, Hwang D, Park S, Lee JM, Huh S. Treatment outcomes and risk factors for bowel infarction in patients with acute superior mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord. 2017;5(5):638-46.
- 189. Liu K, Liu S, Li L, Wang S, Fan X, Wu X, et al. Evaluation of Endovascular Therapy Combined with Bowel Resection Treatment on Patients with Acute Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis. Ann Vasc Surg. 2019.
- 190. Maldonado TS, Blumberg SN, Sheth SU, Perreault G, Sadek M, Berland T, et al. Mesenteric vein thrombosis can be safely treated with anticoagulation but is associated with significant sequelae of portal hypertension. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord. 2016;4(4):400-6.
- 191. Matthaei H, Klein A, Branchi V, Kalff JC, Koscielny A. Acute mesenteric ischemia (AMI): absence of renal insufficiency and performance of early bowel resection may indicate improved outcomes. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019;34(10):1781-90.
- 192. Nagaraja R, Rao P, Kumaran V, Yadav A, Kapoor S, Varma V, et al. Acute Mesenteric Ischaemia-An Indian Perspective. Indian J Surg. 2015;77(Suppl 3):843-9.
- 193. Wang Y, Zhao R, Xia L, Cui YP, Zhou Y, Wu XT. Predictive Risk Factors of Intestinal Necrosis in Patients with Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis: Retrospective Study from a Single Center. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;2019:8906803.
- 194. Yang S, Zhang L, Liu K, Fan X, Ding W, He C, et al. Postoperative Catheter-Directed Thrombolysis Versus Systemic Anticoagulation for Acute Superior Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis. Ann Vasc Surg. 2016;35:88-97.
- 195. Zeng Q, Fu QN, Li FH, Wang XH, Liu H, Zhao Y. Early initiation of argatroban therapy in the management of acute superior mesenteric venous thrombosis. Exp Ther Med. 2017;13(4):1526-34.
- 196. Sutkowska E, McBane RD, Tafur AJ, Sutkowski K, Grill DE, Slusser JP, et al. Thrombophilia differences in splanchnic vein thrombosis and lower extremity deep venous thrombosis in North America. Journal of Gastroenterology. 2013;48(10):1111-8.
- 197. Ma K, Wells P, Guzman C, Anderson D, Blostein M, Hirsch A, et al. A multicenter prospective study of risk factors and treatment of unusual site thrombosis. Thromb Res. 2016;144:100-5.
- 198. Yang S, Fan X, Ding W, Liu B, Meng J, Wang K, et al. D-dimer as an early marker of severity in patients with acute superior mesenteric venous thrombosis. Medicine. 2014;93(29):e270-e.

- 199. Mutreja D, Kotru M, Sazawal S, Ranjan R, Sharma A, Acharya SK, et al. Hereditary and Acquired Thrombophilia in Splanchnic Vein Thrombosis: A Single-Center Experience. Clinical and Applied Thrombosis/Hemostasis. 2013;21(6):521-6.
- 200. Primignani M, Barosi G, Bergamaschi G, Gianelli U, Fabris F, Reati R, et al. Role of the JAK2 mutation in the diagnosis of chronic myeloproliferative disorders in splanchnic vein thrombosis. Hepatology. 2006;44(6):1528-34.
- 201. Starakis I, Mazokopakis EE, Mougiou A, Koutras A, Gogos CA. Thrombophilia and abdominal vessel thrombosis in a Greek University hospital: A five year experience. Gastroenterology Insights. 2010;2(1).
- 202. Acosta S. Mesenteric ischemia. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2015;21(2):171-8.
- 203. Clair DG, Beach JM. Mesenteric Ischemia. The New England journal of medicine. 2016;374(10):959-68.
- 204. Grendell JH, Ockner RK. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. Gastroenterology. 1982;82(2):358-72.
- 205. Kandeel A, Genedy M, El-Refai S, Funk AL, Fontanet A, Talaat M. The prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection in Egypt 2015: implications for future policy on prevention and treatment. Liver International. 2017;37(1):45-53.
- 206. Lindström P, Janzon L, Sternby NH. Declining autopsy rate in Sweden: a study of causes and consequences in Malmö, Sweden. J Intern Med. 1997;242(2):157-65.
- 207. Otterhag SN, Gottsäter A, Lindblad B, Acosta S. Decreasing incidence of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm already before start of screening. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2016;16:44-.
- 208. Wittens C, Davies AH, Bækgaard N, Broholm R, Cavezzi A, Chastanet S, et al. Editor's Choice - Management of Chronic Venous Disease: Clinical Practice Guidelines of the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2015;49(6):678-737.
- 209. Acosta S, Alhadad A, Verbaan H, Ogren M. The clinical importance in differentiating portal from mesenteric venous thrombosis. Int Angiol. 2011;30(1):71-8.
- 210. Sogaard KK, Darvalics B, Horvath-Puho E, Sorensen HT. Survival after splanchnic vein thrombosis: A 20-year nationwide cohort study. Thromb Res. 2016;141:1-7.
- 211. Lim KH, Jang J, Yoon HY, Park J. Acute superior mesenteric vein thrombosis associated with abdominal trauma: A rare case report and literature review. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(47):e8863.
- 212. Al-Samkari H, Connors JM. Approach to thrombophilia testing in patients with splanchnic vein thrombosis. AME Medical Journal. 2018;3(1).
- 213. Chighizola CB, Ubiali T, Meroni PL. Treatment of Thrombotic Antiphospholipid Syndrome: The Rationale of Current Management-An Insight into Future Approaches. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015:951424.
- Mills AM, Dean AJ, Hollander JE, Chen EH. Abdominal pain: a survey of clinically important outcomes for future research. CJEM. 2010;12(6):485-90.
- 215. Lehtimäki TT, Kärkkäinen JM, Saari P, Manninen H, Paajanen H, Vanninen R. Detecting acute mesenteric ischemia in CT of the acute abdomen is dependent on

clinical suspicion: Review of 95 consecutive patients. Eur J Radiol. 2015;84(12):2444-53.

- 216. Henes FO, Pickhardt PJ, Herzyk A, Lee SJ, Motosugi U, Derlin T, et al. CT angiography in the setting of suspected acute mesenteric ischemia: prevalence of ischemic and alternative diagnoses. Abdom Radiol (NY). 2017;42(4):1152-61.
- 217. Copin P, Ronot M, Nuzzo A, Maggiori L, Bouhnik Y, Corcos O, et al. Inter-reader agreement of CT features of acute mesenteric ischemia. Eur J Radiol. 2018;105:87-95.
- 218. Oliva IB, Davarpanah AH, Rybicki FJ, Desjardins B, Flamm SD, Francois CJ, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria ® imaging of mesenteric ischemia. Abdom Imaging. 2013;38(4):714-9.
- 219. Rajesh S, Mukund A, Arora A. Imaging Diagnosis of Splanchnic Venous Thrombosis. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2015;2015:101029-.
- 220. Vietti Violi N, Fournier N, Duran R, Schmidt S, Bize P, Guiu B, et al. Acute mesenteric vein thrombosis: factors associated with evolution to chronic mesenteric vein thrombosis. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2014;203(1):54-61.
- 221. Ageno W, Beyer-Westendorf J, Garcia DA, Lazo-Langner A, McBane RD, Paciaroni M. Guidance for the management of venous thrombosis in unusual sites. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2016;41(1):129-43.
- 222. Mimier MK, Janczak DT, McBane RD, Houghton DE, Wysokinski WE. Thrombosis of atypical location: how to treat patients in the era of direct oral anticoagulants? Pol Arch Intern Med. 2018;128(10):604-8.
- 223. Ageno W, Donadini M. Breadth of complications of long-term oral anticoagulant care. Hematology. 2018;2018(1):432-8.
- 224. Heisen M, Treur MJ, Heemstra HE, Giesen EBW, Postma MJ. Cost-effectiveness analysis of rivaroxaban for treatment and secondary prevention of venous thromboembolism in the Netherlands. J Med Econ. 2017;20(8):813-24.
- 225. Nadler J, Stankovic N, Uber A, Holmberg MJ, Sanchez LD, Wolfe RE, et al. Outcomes in variceal hemorrhage following the use of a balloon tamponade device. Am J Emerg Med. 2017;35(10):1500-2.
- 226. Lo G-H. Endoscopic treatments for portal hypertension. Hepatol Int. 2018;12(Suppl 1):91-101.
- 227. Smith M, Durham J. Evolving Indications for Tips. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol. 2016;19(1):36-41.
- 228. Loffroy R, Favelier S, Pottecher P, Estivalet L, Genson PY, Gehin S, et al. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for acute variceal gastrointestinal bleeding: Indications, techniques and outcomes. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2015;96(7-8):745-55.
- 229. Blazeby JM. Recruiting patients into randomized clinical trials in surgery. Br J Surg. 2012;99(3):307-8.
- Douketis JD. The 2016 American College of Chest Physicians treatment guidelines for venous thromboembolism: a review and critical appraisal. Intern Emerg Med. 2016;11(8):1031-5.

Paper I

ORIGINAL SCIENTIFIC REPORT



Improved Prognosis and Low Failure Rate with Anticoagulation as First-Line Therapy in Mesenteric Venous Thrombosis

S. Salim^{1,3} · M. Zarrouk^{1,3} · J. Elf^{1,3} · A. Gottsäter^{1,3} · O. Ekberg² · S. Acosta^{1,3}

Published online: 17 May 2018 © The Author(s) 2018

Abstract

Background Monotherapy with anticoagulation has been considered as first-line therapy in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT). The aim of this study was to evaluate outcome, prognostic factors, and failure rate of anticoagulation as monotherapy, and to identify when bowel resection was needed.

Methods Retrospective study of consecutive patients with MVT diagnosed between 2000 and 2015.

Results The overall incidence rate of MVT was 1.3/100,000 person-years. Among 120 patients, seven died due to autopsy-verified MVT without bowel resection and 15 underwent immediate bowel resection without prior anticoagulation therapy. The remaining 98 patients received anticoagulation monotherapy, whereof 83 (85%) were treated successfully. Fifteen patients failed on anticoagulation monotherapy, of whom seven underwent bowel resection and eight endovascular therapy. Endovascular therapy was followed by bowel resection in three patients. Two late bowel resections were performed due to intestinal stricture. The 30-day mortality rate was 19.0% in the former (2000–2007) and 3.2% in the latter (2008–2015) part of the study period (p = 0.006). Age \geq 75 years (OR 12.4, 95% CI [2.5–60.3]), management during the former as opposed to the latter time period (OR 8.4, 95% CI [1.3–54.7]), and renal insufficiency at admission (OR 8.0, 95% CI [1.2–51.6]) were independently associated with increased mortality in multivariable analysis.

Conclusions Short-term prognosis in patients with MVT has improved. Contemporary data show that monotherapy with anticoagulation is an effective first choice in MVT patients.

S. Acosta Stefan.acosta@med.lu.se

- ¹ Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden
- ² Department of Translational Medicine, Division of Medical Radiology, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden
- ³ Vascular Centre, Department of Cardio-Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Skåne University Hospital, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden

Background

Within the spectrum of patients presenting with acute abdominal pain, it is difficult to delineate those with mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT). MVT is a rare but life-threatening condition which without treatment can develop into bowel ischemia, bowel gangrene, peritonitis, and death [1]. Main causes of MVT are coagulation disorders, abdominal inflammatory conditions, malignancies, and liver diseases [2]. Currently available investigations fail to identify a causal factor in about 20% of patients [3, 4]. Improved diagnostic workup with computed tomography (CT) may possibly lead to increased detection rates and earlier diagnosis of MVT [3, 4]. Immediate anticoagulation therapy after diagnosis has been proposed as the first-line treatment option [5].

To prospective study, MVT is challenging due to the low incidence of the condition, and large cohort studies would provide a valuable insight into the optimal management. This retrospective study was designed to evaluate prognostic factors and trends in prognosis over time in a large cohort of patients with MVT. Secondary aims were to evaluate the failure rate with anticoagulation as monotherapy, to identify when failures occurred, and when bowel resection was needed.

Methods

Identification of all patients with MVT treated surgically or non-surgically in Malmö University Hospital between 2000 and 2015 based on the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD), tenth edition, codes I81 (portal vein thrombosis [PVT] or MVT) and K55 (mesenteric ischemia), and AuriculA [6] (national quality register for anticoagulant treatment). Patient records and all CT images in patients with PVT or MVT as well as unclear cases of mesenteric ischemia were scrutinized. Patients with thrombosis in the superior mesenteric vein with or without anatomical involvement of portal or splenic veins were included in the present study. Patients diagnosed 2000-2006 have been reported upon previously [7]. The patient series was pragmatically divided at the study protocol stage into two periods, the former (2000-2007) and the latter (2008-2015), for analysis of changes in patient characteristics, risk factor profile, mode of diagnosis, and outcome. In emergencies, single-detector row CT was performed between 2000 and 2003, and multidetector row CT from 2004 and onwards [8]. Mortality data were obtained from the Swedish Population Registry. Median follow-up after diagnosis for patients with MVT was 62 (interquartile range [IQR] 24-128) months. End of follow-up was September 29, 2017. The study was approved by the Research Ethical Review Board in Lund (Dnr 2015/143).

Treatment strategy

After diagnosis of MVT with CT, the mainstay of treatment was conservative with immediate full anticoagulation with either intravenous heparin infusion or subcutaneous LMWH, full bowel rest, total parenteral nutrition, and analgesia. Patients admitted with peritonitis or rapid progression toward peritonitis underwent laparotomy and bowel resection. Patients not responding to anticoagulation underwent endovascular measures with or without local thrombolysis, and those not responding to this therapy was subjected to laparotomy. Clearly necrotic and demarcated bowels were resected and anastomosed. Bowels with unclear viability were usually evaluated at a second-look laparotomy, and bowel resections were followed by anastomoses or diverting stomas. Patients with identified transient risk factors were usually treated with oral anticoagulation for 6 months, whereas those with permanent risk factors or unidentified risk factors were prescribed lifelong anticoagulation. Up to 2014, the vitamin K antagonist (warfarin) was the only oral anticoagulation therapy, whereas direct-acting oral anticoagulants were gradually introduced as a treatment option from 2012.

Definitions

Primary MVT is defined as an idiopathic condition, whereas secondary MVT is defined by an identified etiologic factor. Patients with abdominal pain of less than 4-week duration were classified as having acute MVT. Those with symptoms for more than 4 weeks, but without bowel infarction, and those with asymptomatic MVT diagnosed incidentally on abdominal imaging as clinically nonsignificant findings, were defined as chronic MVT. The term thrombophilia was used as a common denominator for factors that may promote MVT, such as coagulation disorders, malignancy, previous or concomitant venous thromboembolism, and use of oral anticonceptives or estrogen substitution. The presence of inherited thrombophilia such as Factor V Leiden mutation and acquired thrombophilia as JAK2 V617F (janus-activated kinase gain of function substitute of valine to phenylalanine at position 617) mutation was registered. Previous cardiovascular disease was defined as previous myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, history of coronary artery bypass grafting, percutaneous coronary intervention, stroke, or transient ischemic attack. Renal insufficiency was defined as a serum creatinine level higher than 105 µmol/l (1.2 mg/dl) in men and 90 µmol/l (1.0 mg/dl) in women.

Statistical analysis

Data management and statistical analysis were performed using SPSS for Windows (SPSS, version 23.0, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Age and gender-specific total incidence rates were based on the number of patients diagnosed with MVT residing in Malmö, and expressed as number of cases per 100,000 person-years. Population data, overall and gender-specific, for Malmö in 2008 obtained from Statistics Sweden were used for calculation of incidence. Differences in proportions were evaluated using χ^2 or Fisher's exact test. Age was expressed as median (range). Variables associated with 30-day mortality (p < 0.1) were further tested in a multivariable binary logistic regression model and expressed in terms of odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). p < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Incidence

One hundred and twenty patients, 67 men and 53 women, were diagnosed with MVT from 2000 to 2015. The overall incidence rate of MVT in Malmö was estimated to 1.3/100,000 person-years (1.4/100,000 person-years in men and 1.2/100,000 person-years in women).

Patient characteristics

Median age at admission was 58 (range 19–95) years. Median body mass index (BMI) was 27.5 (IQR 25.2–30.0; n = 50) in men and 25.8 (IQR 23.7–33.4; n = 38) in women. Acute MVT was found in 115 (96%) patients, and primary and secondary MVT in 26 (22%) and 94 (78%) patients, respectively. Risk factors such as any direct injury to the vein due to disease or surgery were found in 35(29%) patients, local or systemic venous congestion in 19 (16%), and thrombophilia in 72(60%). Twenty (17%) patients had abdominal malignancies. History of previous venous thromboembolism was documented in 24 (20%) patients. Among 89 tested, 39 (44%) patients had positive tests for inherited or acquired coagulation disorder. The most common thrombophilia was activated protein C resistance (Factor V Leiden mutation), occurring in 22 (18%) patients (19 in heterozygous and three in homozygous genotype). In nine patients with myeloproliferative disease, eight (89%) were JAK-2 V617 mutation positive.

Patients diagnosed in the former period (2000–2007) were older (p = 0.013) and had higher proportions of abdominal malignancy (p = 0.009) and activated protein C resistance (p = 0.002) compared to those diagnosed in the latter period (2008–2015) (Table 1).

Mode of establishing diagnosis

During the latter time period, all patients were diagnosed by radiological imaging, in 97% of cases by CT with intravenous contrast enhancement. During this period, CT was more frequently used for MVT diagnosis compared to the former time period (p < 0.001) (Table 2). During the former time period, there were six autopsy-verified deaths

Table 1 Patient characteristics and risk factors for mesenteric venous thrombosis in the former (2000–2007) and the latter (2008–2015) parts of the study

Factors	Former period $(n = 58)$	Latter period $(n = 62)$	Univariable analysis (p value)
Median age (years; IQR)	64 (50–73)	54 (47-65)	0.013
Women (%)	27 (47)	42 (42)	0.61
Acute pancreatitis (%)	10 (17)	7 (11)	0.35
Recent abdominal surgery	5 (9)	3 (5)	0.35
Thrombophilia	40 (69)	32 (52)	0.053
History of previous venous thromboembolism	12 (21)	12 (19)	0.86
Abdominal malignancy	15 (26)	5 (8)	0.009
Positive test for inherited or acquired coagulation disorder	20/36 (56)	19/53 (36)	0.066
Activated protein C resistance (Factor V Leiden mutation)	15/36 (42)	7/53 (13)	0.002

Table 2 Mode of establishing diagnosis in the former (2000–2007) and the latter (2008–2015) parts of the study

Factors	Former period $(n = 58)$	Latter period $(n = 62)$	Univariable analysis (p value)	
Autopsy frequency (%)	25	12	< 0.0001	
Primary mode of diagnosis				
Autopsy	6 (10.3)	0 (0.0)		
Computed tomography (with intravenous contrast)	41 (70.7)	60 (96.8)		
Ultrasound	0 (0.0)	2 (3.2)		
Operation	11 (19.0)	0 (0.0)	< 0.001	
Bowel resection rate (excluding autopsy cases)	14/52 (26.9)	10 (16.1)	0.16	

in patients not undergoing bowel resection, of whom two died outside of hospital.

Bowel resection and endovascular therapy

Bowel resection rates did not differ between the two periods (Table 2). Among the 98 patients receiving anticoagulation treatment, 83 (85%) were successfully treated with heparin as monotherapy without need for surgical intervention (Fig. 1). Throughout the study period, fifteen patients underwent explorative laparotomy and bowel resection without preoperative diagnosis, and another 15 patients underwent bowel resection (Fig. 2) or endovascular therapy due to failure of anticoagulation as monotherapy. Endovascular therapy was performed in eight patients, out of whom three underwent bowel resection. The two late bowel resections due to intestinal stricture were performed after 3 and 5 months, respectively, after index admission. The endovascular procedures performed were thrombolysis via the superior mesenteric artery (n = 4), transjugular intrahepatic portal shunt (TIPS) with stenting (n = 2), transjugular mechanical thrombectomy (AngioJet® device [MEDRAD, Warrendale, Pennsylvania, USA]) and thrombolysis (n = 1), transhepatic stenting (n = 1), transhepatic mechanical thrombectomy (AngioJet®), and Fogarty catheter balloon thrombectomy (n = 1). Another two TIPS procedures failed. Local thrombolysis via the superior mesenteric artery was not considered first option, but was used in combination with other endovascular therapies in three patients. In the fourth patient, TIPS was not considered an option due to the advanced extent of portomesenteric venous thrombosis,

and 56 mg recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA) was continuously infused into the superior mesenteric artery over 60 h with success and without need of bowel resection. The sum of procedures performed exceeds eight, reflecting that a combination of techniques was often used. The median dose of thrombolytic agent, alteplase (Actilyse®; Boehringer, Ingelheim, Germany), administered locally in the mesenteric circulation, was 30 mg (range 14-56) in the four treated patients. One patient underwent a failed TIPS combined with thrombolysis via the superior mesenteric artery, complicated by perihepatic hematoma requiring explorative laparotomy for control of bleeding. Bowel resection due to late intestinal stricture was performed in two patients (Fig. 3). Lifelong anticoagulation therapy after successful non-operative management was given to 49% (17/35) of patients in the former period and 71% (34/48) in the latter (p = 0.040).

Factors associated with 30-day mortality

Overall 30-day mortality rate was 10.8, 19.0% in the former time period versus 3.2% in the latter time period (p = 0.006). The 30-day mortality after surgery (bowel resection and/or endovascular therapy) was 12.5% (2/16) in the former period versus 7.1% (1/14) in the latter (p = 1.0). Age \geq 75 years, management during the former as opposed to the later time period, pancreatic malignancy, and renal insufficiency at admission were all associated with increased 30-day mortality in univariable analysis. Age \geq 75 years (OR 12.4, 95% CI [2.5–60.3]), management during the former time period as opposed to the latter period (OR 8.4, 95% CI [1.3–54.7]), and renal





Fig. 2 Failure of anticoagulation therapy. A 50-year-old male patient with a history of ulcerative proctitis who was admitted with 3 days of abdominal pain and C-reactive protein (CRP) of 161 mg/L. Diagnosis of mesenteric venous thrombosis (Fig. 2a, long thin arrow) was achieved after computed tomography (CT) with intravenous contrast enhancement and imaging in the portal/parenchymal phase. Note thickening of the jejunum (short arrow) and the mesenteric edema (long thick arrow). The patient had localized signs of peritonitis to the left in the abdomen and absent bowel sounds at the time of diagnosis. Full-dose heparin infusion was started, whereafter the patient improved temporarily but later deteriorated. A new CT (Fig. 2b) after 13 days of heparin therapy showed progression of ascites (thick arrows) and occurrence of gas bubbles (thin arrows) in the jejunal

D

insufficiency at admission (OR 8.0, 95% CI [1.2–51.6]) were independently associated with increased mortality in the multivariable analysis (Table 3).

Discussion

The adjusted results of the present population-based study on 120 patients showed that prognosis for patients with MVT improved during the study period. The increased

wall. Continued conservative therapy resulted in further clinical deterioration, and after 20 days of heparin therapy a CT (Fig. 2c) showed leakage of perorally administered contrast outside of the bowels (arrow). Explorative laparotomy showed a well-demarcated 1-meter-long transmural green necrosis of the jejunum (Fig. 2d) with a large perforation. The patient recovered after bowel resection, open abdomen therapy, and reanastomosis of the stapled bowel ends. Testing for thrombophilia showed that the patient was positive for JAK2 V617F mutation and a bone marrow biopsy diagnosed a polycythemia vera. The patient is scheduled for lifelong vitamin K antagonist therapy, and cytoreductive therapy with interferon, and is also undergoing regular venesection

diagnostic and therapeutic activity, including possibility to perform endovascular therapy, should be related to the current low 30-day mortality rate of 3.2%. Interestingly, the proportions of patients with activated protein C resistance [9], abdominal malignancy [10], and age were lower in the latter period, perhaps reflecting an increased activity in preventing venous thromboembolism including prophylactic anticoagulation therapy in high-risk patients. Since randomized trials comparing safety and efficacy of various treatments most likely will be impossible to



◄ Fig. 3 Endovascular therapy of mesenteric venous thrombosis after failure of anticoagulation treatment. A 53-year-old man with history of 3 months of anticoagulation treatment for deep venous thrombosis in the lower leg and Factor V Leiden mutation in the homozygous form. The patient fell ill with acute abdominal pain, and CT diagnosed an extensive MVT (a, arrow). He underwent transhepatic puncture and access to the portal vein. Venography showed total occlusion of the superior mesenteric vein (SMV) (b, arrow). Mechanical thrombectomy with an AngioJet® device (MEDRAD, Warrendale, Pennsylvania, USA) and endovascular Fogarty catheter thrombectomy were carried out, followed by thrombolysis with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA) into the branches of the SMV and superior mesenteric artery. After a total dose of 25 mg rtPA over 25 h, improved flow in the SMV was noted. Endovascular rethrombectomy with a Fogarty catheter was performed owing to residual clots in the SMV branches (c-f). CT venography before discharge showed no signs of thrombus within the SMV and the proximal parts of the major venous branches (g, arrow). The patient did not recover fully and was readmitted after 3 months with symptoms of bowel obstruction. CT venography showed fully patent SMV (h, arrow), but severe localized fibrosis in the small bowel wall (i, thick short arrows) and adjacent mesenteric fat (i, j, thin long arrow) causing a bowel stricture. Note the narrow bowel lumen at the stricture (i, j, interrupted line). There is a prestenotic bowel dilatation (h, i, j, thick long arrow) and a poststenotic normalized bowel (i, j, thin short arrow). The patient underwent immediate bowel resection of the stricture, recovered and is on lifelong vitamin K antagonist medication

conduct in these patients, evidence will rely upon prospective cohort studies. International, multicenter collaboration is necessary, as exemplified by the prospective study promoted by the International Society on Thrombosis and Hemostasis (ISTH), in which affiliated centers worldwide were invited to participate [11]. In similar future studies, in which a larger proportion of patients will likely receive endovascular therapy [12], it would be preferable to not only report on therapy-related major bleeding complications, thrombotic events, bowel necrosis, and mortality. High-quality data on patency rates of the portomesenteric venous system, and patient-reported outcomes such as quality of life and pain scores before and after conservative and endovascular therapy, would also be helpful to supply physicians and patients with important data to support decision making.

The overall incidence rate of MVT in Malmö was estimated to 1.3 per 100,000 person-years, a figure in the lower range of incidence reported in the 1970s [1]. This might partly be related to the markedly reduced autopsy frequency [13], from 85% [14] to 12% in the latter time period of the present study. On the other hand, important improvements in diagnostics and treatment of hypercoagulable states have occurred during this period [15] probably resulting in a decrease in venous thromboembolism. However, since MVT is very rarely suspected already in the emergency setting [16], or sometimes confused with arterial mesenteric ischemia at laparotomy, and with the contemporary low autopsy frequency in the population the contemporary true incidence is hard to estimate.

The decrease in 30-day mortality from 19.0% during the former half of the study period to 3.2% during the latter has several explanations. Earlier diagnosis by the use of

Table 3 Factors associated with 30-day mortality in 120 patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis

Factors	Number of patients	30-day mortality (%)	Univariable analysis (p value)	Multivariable analysis	
				OR (95% CI)	p value
All patients	120	10.8	-		
\geq 75 years	17	47.1	<0.001 ^a	12.4 (2.5–60.3)	0.002
Female gender	53	17.0	0.054 ^a	2.4 (0.5–11.7)	0.29
Period (2000–2007 vs. 2008–2015)	58 vs. 62	19.0 vs. 3.2	0.006 ^a	8.4 (1.3–54.7)	0.026
Malignancy	23	17.4	0.26	_	
Abdominal malignancy	20	20.0	0.15	_	
Pancreatic malignancy	7	42.9	0.027 ^a	5.1 (0.6-43.6)	0.13
Metastatic malignancy	14	28.6	0.045	_	
History of previous venous thromboembolism	24	12.5	0.77	-	
Activated protein C resistance	22/89	0.0	1.0	_	
Pancreatitis	17	0.0	0.21	_	
Liver cirrhosis	6	33.3	0.13	_	
Inflammatory bowel disease	7	0.0	1.0	_	
Renal insufficiency at admission	20	25	0.035 ^a	8.0 (1.2–51.6)	0.029
Bowel resection	24	8.3	1.0	-	

^aEntered into a multivariable logistic regression model

available high-resolution, high-speed CT scanners around the clock in patients with unexplained abdominal pain would probably help to avoid development of bowel gangrene and peritonitis and the poor prognosis in these cases. CT with intravenous contrast and imaging in the portal phase is clearly the most accurate method of diagnosing the condition [17]. Corroborating other reports [18, 19], the present study showed that a non-operative approach with immediate anticoagulation therapy with unfractionated or low molecular weight heparin at the time of diagnosis was an effective treatment for acute MVT. Explorative laparotomy and bowel resection due to bowel gangrene and peritonitis will always be a way to rescue these patients in cases of rapid development of intestinal infarction, overlooked diagnosis, or late presentation as shown in Fig. 1. The clinician should also remember that the possibility of intestinal infarction is not ruled out until full resolution of pain occurs [2]. The study identified failure of anticoagulation therapy in a small proportion of patients, occurring mainly after days to weeks of medical therapy (Fig. 1).

Endovascular therapy was selectively performed in a few patients and proved to be successful in the majority of these, in whom bowel resection could be avoided. Two patients were operated after 3 and 5 months, respectively, due to late development of severe intestinal stricture with ileus (Fig. 3). CT features such as extensive thrombosis and ascites seem to be predictive factors of poor recanalization on anticoagulant therapy [20]. Clinicians should be aware of the severity of thrombotic and intestinal ischemic lesions on the CT images to be able to proceed with more aggressive approaches, either with endovascular therapy or laparotomy with bowel resection when needed. The 30-day mortality of 3.2% in the present study supports a conservative anticoagulation-first treatment approach (Fig. 4). Endovascular therapy may have a role in patients with extensive portomesenteric thrombosis at diagnosis, but this has to be proven in a large multicenter randomized trial.

The limitations of the present study include mainly its retrospective design. Information on bleeding complications due to anticoagulation therapy was not possible to accurately retrieve. The sample sizes of the patients in the two periods were probably not sufficiently large to be able to show a difference in bowel resection rates. Assuming that the six patients primarily diagnosed at autopsy in the former period would have undergone bowel resection if timely diagnosed, the bowel resection rate would have been significantly higher in the former compared to the latter period (20/58 vs. 10/62, respectively, p = 0.02). The low autopsy frequency during the latter time period might have led to an underestimation of the contemporary 30-day mortality in comparison with the former time period when autopsies were more frequently conducted. Nevertheless, the comparably large sample size in our study enabled us to evaluate our study results with multivariable testing.

In conclusion, short-term prognosis in patients with MVT seems to have improved. Contemporary data show that immediate anticoagulation is an effective first-line therapy in patients with MVT.



Acknowledgements Scandinavian Research Foundation for Venous Diseases.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declared that they have no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://crea tivecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Acosta S, Ögren M, Sternby N-H et al (2005) Mesenteric venous thrombosis with transmural intestinal infarction: a populationbased study. J Vasc Surg 41:59–63
- Björck M, Koelemay M, Acosta S et al (2017) Management of the diseases of mesenteric arteries and veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 53:460–510
- Hamoud B, Singal AK, Kamath PS (2014) Mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Clin Exp Haematol 4:257–263
- Acosta S, Alhadad A, Ekberg O (2009) Findings in Multi-detector row CT with portal phase enhancement in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis. Emerg Radiol 16:477–482
- Morasch MD, Ebaugh JL, Chiou AC et al (2001) Mesenteric venous thrombosis: a changing clinical entity. J Vasc Surg 34:680–684
- Wieloch M, Själander A, Frykman V et al (2011) Anticoagulation control in Sweden: reports of time in therapeutic range, major bleeding, and thrombo-embolic complications from the national quality registry AuriculA. Eur Heart J 32:2282–2289
- Acosta S, Alhadad A, Svensson P et al (2008) Epidemiology, risk and prognostic factors in mesenteric venous thrombosis. Br J Surg 10:1245–1251

- Acosta S, Wadman M, Syk I, Elmståhl S, Ekberg O (2010) Epidemiology and prognostic factors in acute superior mesenteric artery occlusion. J Gastrointest Surg 14:628–635
- Connors JM (2017) Thrombophilia testing and venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med 377:1177–1187
- Hakoum MB, Kahale LA, Tsolakian IG et al (2018) Anticoagulation for the initial treatment of venous thromboembolism in people with cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1:006649
- Ageno W, Riva N, Schulman S et al (2015) Long-term clinical outcomes of splanchnic vein thrombosis: results of an International Registry. JAMA Intern Med 175:1474–1480
- Lerardi AM, Tsetis D, Sbaraini S et al (2017) The role of endovascular therapy in acute mesenteric ischemia. Ann Gastroenterol 30:526–533
- Lindström P, Janzon L, Sternby N-H (1997) Declining autopsy rate in Sweden, a study of causes and consequences in Malmö, Sweden. J Intern Med 242:157–165
- Otterhag SN, Gottsäter A, Lindblad B et al (2016) Decreasing incidence of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm already before start of screening. BMC Cardiovasc Disorder 16:44. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12872-016-0215-5
- Wittens C, Davies AH, Baekgaard N et al (2015) Management of chronic venous disease: clinical practice guidelines of the european society for vascular surgery (ESVS). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 49:678–737
- Acosta S (2015) Mesenteric ischemia. Curr Opinion Crit Care 21:171–178
- Henes F, Pickhardt P, Herzyk A et al (2017) CT angiography in the setting of suspected acute mesenteric ischemia: prevalence of ischemic and alternative diagnoses. Abdom Radiol 42:1152–1161
- Condat B, Pessione F, Denninger M-H et al (2000) Recent portal or mesenteric venous thrombosis: increased recognition and frequent recanalization on anticoagulant therapy. Hepatology 32:466–470
- Condat B, Pessione F, Denninger M-H et al (2001) Current outcome of portal vein thrombosis in adults: risk and benefit of anticoagulant therapy. Gastroenterology 120:490–497
- Primignani M (2010) Portal vein thrombosis, revisited. Dig Liver Dis 42:163–170

Paper II

Evaluation of direct oral anticoagulants and vitamin K antagonists in mesenteric venous thrombosis

Phlebology

Phlebology 0(0) I-8 © The Author(s) 2018 Reprints and permissions: sagepub.co.uk/journalsPermissions.nav DOI: 10.1177/0268355518779517 journals.sagepub.com/home/phl



Saman Salim¹, Olle Ekberg², Johan Elf^{1,3}, Moncef Zarrouk^{1,3}, Anders Gottsäter^{1,3} and Stefan Acosta^{1,3}

Abstract

Background/aim: Mesenteric venous thrombosis is a rare lethal disease. The main aim of the present study was to evaluate clinical efficacy and safety of direct oral anticoagulants and vitamin K antagonists in mesenteric venous thrombosis patients.

Methods: Retrospective study of 102 mesenteric venous thrombosis patients treated between 2004 and 2017 at a center with a conservative medical first approach. Median clinical follow-up was 4 years.

Results: Computed tomography showed successful recanalization of thrombosis in 71% of patients on vitamin K antagonists and 69% of patients on direct oral anticoagulants (p = 0.88). Overall major and esophageal variceal bleeding rate was 14.7% and 2.9%, respectively. No difference in major bleeding (p = 0.54) was found between vitamin K antagonists and direct oral anticoagulants. No mesenteric venous thrombosis recurrence occurred during follow-up, and one venous thromboembolism occurred after cessation of anticoagulation.

Conclusion: Anticoagulation with direct oral anticoagulants and vitamin K antagonists was efficient in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis. Bleeding complications was a concern during treatment in both groups.

Keywords

Mesenteric venous thrombosis, direct oral anticoagulants, anticoagulation, efficacy, safety, recanalization, computed tomography

Introduction

Mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) remains an important cause of intestinal ischemia,¹ though less common than mesenteric arterial thromboembolism. Prothrombotic inherited and acquired factors, and local factors such as malignancies, liver cirrhosis, and inflammatory conditions, are important conditions that predispose for MVT.² MVT is most often diagnosed by contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) with imaging in the venous phase in patients with acute abdomen.³ Initial conservative medical approach with anticoagulation therapy is advocated in patients without peritonitis.⁴

Immediate unfractionated heparin therapy intravenously has been proposed as first-line treatment option as its effect can be reversed immediately if an emergency operation is needed.⁵ Patients with less severe disease may be given low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) for 1–2 weeks, usually followed by oral vitamin K antagonist (VKA) therapy. According to the European Society of Vascular Surgery (ESVS) guidelines, ¹ anticoagulation is given for 6 months in the presence of an identifiable reversible risk factor, whereas patients with underlying thrombophilia or idiopathic MVT may be considered for lifelong anticoagulation since relapse of MVT is highly fatal. Lifelong anticoagulation with VKA with a targeted international normalized ratio (INR) of 2.0:3.0 is the standard of care in patients where long-term management is indicated.⁶ Despite its effective pharmacological properties, VKA

Corresponding author:

Stefan Acosta, Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden.

Email: stefan.acosta@med.lu.se

¹Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden

²Department of Translational Medicine, Division of Medical Radiology, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden

³Vascular Centre, Department of Cardio-Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden
treatment is limited by factors such as a narrow therapeutic index, drug-drug interactions, food interactions, slow onset and offset of action, and the need for routine monitoring of the INR.7 Thus, the shortcomings associated with VKA have spurred the search for oral anticoagulants with better pharmacokinetics. The novel direct oral anticoagulants (DOAC), that is, dabigatran, rivaroxaban, apixaban, and edoxaban are wellestablished as first-line treatment for pulmonary embolism (PE) and deep vein thrombosis (DVT)⁸ but have, however, been scarcely studied in MVT.9 The main aim of the present study was to assess the clinical efficacy, safety, and thrombus recanalization of DOAC and VKA therapy in MVT. On the basis of previous comparative studies in PE and DVT,¹⁰⁻¹⁴ it was hypothesized that VKA therapy was associated with a higher major bleeding complication rate than DOAC in MVT.

Methods

Retrieval of patients with MVT

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund (Dnr 2014/287). MVT patients treated surgically or conservatively at Skåne University Hospital between 1 January 2004 and 29 September 2017, were identified in hospital records and AuriculA¹⁵ (Swedish quality registry for patients with anticoagulation), on treated based the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD), tenth edition, codes I81 (portal vein thrombosis (PVT) or MVT) and K55 (mesenteric ischemia). All patient records and CT images in patients with PVT or MVT as well as unclear cases of mesenteric ischemia were scrutinized. Only patients with symptomatic thrombosis in the superior mesenteric vein with or without the anatomical involvement of portal or splenic vein were included in the present study. The median clinical follow-up time was 48 months (IQR 22-86).

Definitions

Patients with abdominal pain of less than 4 weeks duration were classified as having acute MVT. Those with symptoms for 4 weeks or more but without bowel infarction, and those with asymptomatic MVT diagnosed incidentally on abdominal imaging as a clinically nonsignificant finding were defined as chronic MVT. Extensive thrombosis was defined as having mesenteric (both central and peripheral), portal, and splenic vein thrombosis. The first 5 cm of the proximal superior mesenteric vein was defined as central. Small bowel dilatation was defined as \geq 4 cm in bowel diameter. Patients initially treated with LMWH for some weeks, and later changed for VKA or DOAC were considered as treated with either of the respective oral anticoagulants. Major bleeding was defined according to the criteria of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis,¹⁶ as a fatal and/or symptomatic bleeding in a critical area or organ, bleeding leading to a reduction of 2 g/dl or more in hemoglobin concentration, or necessitating transfusion of two or more blood units. Gastrointestinal bleeding included esophageal variceal bleeding.

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was calculated as a simplified variant of Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group (MDRD).¹⁷ All patients were white Caucasians, and advanced renal insufficiency was defined as GFR < 25 ml/min.

Renal insufficiency by serum creatinine alone was defined as a serum creatinine higher than 105 µmol/l (1.2 mg/dl) in men and $90 \mu \text{mol/l}$ (1.0 mg/dl) in women. The term "thrombophilia" was used as a common denominator for factors that might provoke MVT, such as cancer, coagulation disorders, previous or concomitant venous thromboembolism (VTE), oral contraceptive use, or estrogen substitution. Inherited thrombophilic factors were defined as factor V Leiden mutation, prothrombin gene mutation, or deficiencies of protein C, protein S, or antithrombin. Acquired thrombophilic factors were defined as JAK2V617F (Janus-activated kinase gain of function substitute of valine to phenylalanine at position 617) mutation, lupus anticoagulant, or cardiolipin antibodies. Malignancy was defined as the presence of solid cancer or myeloproliferative disease. A transient risk factor was defined as either recent surgery within 6 weeks, abdominal trauma or inflammatory disease such as acute pancreatitis. Followup CT was defined as the last available CT of the abdomen with intravenous contrast and imaging in the parenchymal/venous phase. Successful recanalization was defined as partial or complete recanalization of the portomesenteric venous system at the follow-up CT after treatment.

Computed tomography

Multi-detector row CT (MDCT) was usually performed with 0.75 mm slice thickness (Siemens Sensation 16, Erlangen, Germany). Multiplanar reconstruction in axial, coronal, and sagittal planes was usually obtained with 5 mm thickness. Single-slice CT was usually performed with slice thickness of 3–5 mm. Patients were examined in the portomesenteric venous phase. Intravenous contrast medium was nonionic contrast medium 300–320 mg I/ml with a total dose of 90 ml, flow rate of 3 ml/s, and delay of 70 s. The diagnostic and follow-up CT scan images of all patients were scrutinized and evaluated by an experienced radiologist (OE) aware of the diagnosis but blinded concerning which treatment the patient received. The main objective was to describe vascular and intestinal findings systematically in a predefined protocol.¹⁸ The patency of the portomesenteric venous system at follow-up CT was categorized as progression, unchanged, partial regression, and complete regression of thrombosis.

Treatment strategy at the study center

After diagnosis of MVT with CT, the mainstay of treatment is conservative with immediate full anticoagulation with either intravenous heparin infusion or subcutaneous LMWH, full bowel rest, total parenteral nutrition, and analgesia. Patients admitted with peritonitis or rapidly progressing toward peritonitis undergo laparotomy and bowel resection. Patients not responding to anticoagulation may undergo endovascular treatment with or without local thrombolysis, and nonresponders are subjected to laparotomy. Clearly, necrotic and demarcated bowels are resected and anastomosed. Bowels with unclear viability may be evaluated at a second look laparotomy, and bowel resections may be followed by anastomoses or diverting stomas. Patients with identified transient risk factors are usually treated with oral anticoagulation for 6 months, whereas those with permanent risk factors or unidentified risk factors are prescribed lifelong anticoagulation. Patients with a malignancy were usually treated with LMWH. DOAC was introduced for treatment of MVT in 2015 at the study center and used at the discretion of the responsible physician. There was no evidence of noncompliance in patients with DOAC and time in therapeutic range (TTR) during warfarin treatment in our country is as high as 76.5%.¹⁹ Median follow-up time in DOAC patients was 25 months.

Statistical methods

Data management and statistical analysis were performed using the SPSS for Windows program package (SPSS version 22.0, Chicago, IL) or GraphPad (GraphPad Software, Inc. La Jolla, CA). Distribution of variables was expressed with median value and interquartile range (IQR). Differences in proportions were evaluated using the chi-square or the Fisher's exact test. Quantitative differences between groups were assessed with the Mann–Whitney U test. The Spearman rank test was used for calculating correlations. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Patient characteristics

During the 14-year period, 102 patients (61 men and 41 women) were diagnosed with MVT. Their median age was 58 years (IQR = 47-68). Men (56 (IQR = 47-64) years) were younger (p=0.009) than women (65) (IQR = 50-72) years). MVT was defined as acute in 100 (98%) patients, and chronic in the remaining 2 (2%). The two patients with chronic MVT had diffuse abdominal pain for 1 month and unspecific intermittent symptoms for several months prior to diagnosis. respectively. Median body mass index (BMI) was 27.8 (IQR = 25.5 - 31.4) in men (n = 49) and 25.5 (IQR = 23.5 - 33.6) in women (n = 34). One (1.0%; 1/100) 95-year-old woman with advanced renal insufficiency received LMWH but died due to intestinal infarction after 1 day of anticoagulation therapy. Seventeen (17%) patients had previously been diagnosed with pancreatitis and 26 (26%) with malignancies. Among 85 patients tested for thrombophilia, 17 (20%) had the factor V Leiden mutation (Table 1), and 9 (9%) had the JAK-2V617 mutation. In 10 patients with myeloproliferative disease, 9 (90%) were JAK-2V617 mutation positive.

Anticoagulation therapy groups

Lifelong anticoagulation was initiated in 64 patients (63%). Fifty-six (55%) patients received VKA, 22 (22%) LMWH, and 22 (22%) DOAC. The DOAC prescribed were rivaroxaban (n = 14), apixaban (n = 5), and dabigatran (n=3). Two patients received no medical therapy at all (Table 1): One patient suffered from concomitant severe bleeding from esophageal varices and died at the intensive care unit 12 days after admission. The second patient with Chron's disease had an MVT at CT, which was dismissed by an ultrasound examination 3 weeks later. CT-enterography was performed 2 months later, and there was no mention of suspicion of MVT in the referral letter and no statement at all regarding the portomesenteric system. The review of the CT images showed unchanged extent of thrombosis in the portomesenteric system. No anticoagulation treatment has been given. Patients with MVT and malignant disease were more often (p = 0.034) treated with LMWH than VKA. Frequencies of renal insufficiency were the same in DOAC- and VKAtreated patients (p=0.19), and median GFR for

Variable	All patients (%)	LMWH (%)	VKA (%)	DOAC (%)	No medical treatment (%)
Number of patients	102	22	56	22	2
Median age (IQR); years	58 (47–68)	65 (56–76)	56 (46–65)	57.5 (47.5–68.3)	66.0 (61.8-78.5)
Female sex	41 (40.2)	11 (50.0)	21 (37.5)	7 (31.8)	2 (100)
Lifelong treatment initiated	64 (62.7)	4 (18.2)	41 (73.2)	19 (86.4)	0 (0)
Malignancy	26 (25.5)	10 (45.5)	12 (21.4)	4 (18.2)	0 (0)
Renal insufficiency	16/100 (16)	5 (22.7)	6/54 (11.1)	5/22 (22.7)	0 (0)
Acute pancreatitis	17 (16.7)	5 (22.7)	8 (14.3)	4 (18.2)	0 (0)
Liver cirrhosis	6 (5.9)	2 (9.1)	l (l.8)	2 (9.1)	I (50)
Factor V Leiden mutation	17/85 (20.0)	1/11 (9.1)	13/54 (24.1)	3/18 (16.7)	0 (0)
Extensive thrombosis ^a at diagnostic CT	43 (42.2)	5 (22.7)	27 (48.2)	10 (45.5)	I (50)
Bleeding complications					
Major bleeding	15/102 (14.7)	4/22 (18.2)	8/56 (14.3)	2/22 (9.1)	I (50)
Esophageal variceal bleeding	3/102 (2.9)	1/22 (4.5)	2/56 (3.6)	0/22 (0.0)	0(0)
Gastrointestinal bleeding	19/102 (18.6)	4/22 (18.2)	8/56 (14.3)	7/22 (31.8)	0(0)
Intracranial bleeding	3/102 (2.9)	2/22 (9.1)	I (I.8)	0 (0.0)	0 (0)

Table 1. Patient profile, thrombotic and bleeding complications in 102 patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis verified by computed tomography, and treated with anticoagulation during follow-up.

CT: computed tomography; DOAC: direct oral anticoagulant; IQR: interquartile range; LMWH: low molecular weight heparin; VKA: vitamin K antagonist.

^aMesenteric (both central and peripheral), portal and splenic vein thrombosis.

patients treated with DOAC and VKA were $81 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ (IQR = 66–96; n = 22) and $86 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ (IQR = 70–101; n = 54), respectively, p = 0.52.

Vascular and intestinal CT findings

Central and peripheral MVT were documented in 98 (96%) and 73 patients (72%), respectively. Extensive thrombosis at diagnostic CT was found in 43 patients (42%), and intestinal findings in 66 (65%). The most frequent extra-vascular abnormalities were mesenteric oedema (n=63; 62%), ascites (n=52; 51%), small bowel wall oedema (n=40; 39%), and local small bowel dilatation (n=10; 10%).

Radiological outcome—Thrombus recanalization

CT was performed both at diagnosis and after medical treatment in 70 patients after a median follow-up of 6 (IQR = 3–28) months. The overall evaluation showed no change in 20 patients, progression of thrombotic status within the portomesenteric venous system in 4, partial regression in 27, and total regression in 19 patients. Successful recanalization had been achieved in 66% of the 70 patients, 71% of those treated with VKA (n = 41) and 69% of those treated with DOAC (n = 16) (p = 0.88). Patients with and without extensive thrombosis had complete regression of thrombosis after anticoagulation therapy in 11% (3/27) and 37%

 Table 2. The association between extent of thrombosis at diagnosis and complete regression of thrombosis in respective anticoagulation therapy group.

	Extensive th at diagnosis	Univariable	
	Yes (%)	No (%)	(p value)
Complete regression anticoagulation th	n of thrombosi erapy group	s in respective	
LMWH(n = 12)	0/4 (0)	2/8 (25)	0.52
VKA $(n=41)$	2/18 (11)	8/23 (35)	0.080
DOAC $(n = 16)$	1/5 (20)	6/11 (55)	0.31

DOAC: direct oral anticoagulant; LMWH: low molecular weight heparin; VKA: vitamin K antagonist.

(16/43), respectively (p=0.017). The association between extent of thrombosis at diagnosis and complete regression of thrombosis in the respective anticoagulation therapy group are shown in Table 2. One of the 70 patients had no anticoagulation therapy. When entering extensive thrombosis, age, malignancies, and type of therapy (VKA or DOAC) in a multivariable analysis, none of these variables were associated with successful recanalization. Neither was there any correlation between successful recanalization and the time lapse between diagnostic and follow-up CT (r=0.067, p=0.58). No clinical variable was found to be associated with successful recanalization (Table 3).

Variable	Partial or complete recanalization (%)	Univariable analysis (p value)
All patients	46/70 (65.7)	
\geq 75 years	4/5 (80.0)	0.65
Female gender	17/25 (68.0)	0.76
Smoking	14/23 (60.9)	0.55
Previous VTE	12/16 (75.0)	0.37
Factor V Leiden mutation	11/15 (73.3)	0.46
Any inherited thrombophilia	14/21 (66.7)	0.90
Any acquired thrombophilia	7/9 (77.8)	0,48
Malignancy	6/11 (54.5)	0.49
Abdominal malignancy	5/9 (55.6)	0.48
Pancreatic malignancy	1/3 (33.3)	0.27
Metastatic malignancy	1/3 (33.3)	0.27
Pancreatitis	11/17 (64.7)	0.92
Liver cirrhosis	2/4 (50.0)	0.60
Inflammatory bowel disease	4/5 (80.0)	0.65
Renal insufficiency at admission	6/9 (66.7)	1.0
Bowel resection	7/8 (87.5)	0.24
Endovascular therapy	4/6 (66.7)	1.0
Medical therapy		
LMWH	6/12 (50.0)	0.21
VKA	29/41 (70.7)	0.29
DOAC	11/16 (68.8)	0.77

Table	3.	Factors	associate	d with	CT-vei	rified	recanalization	of
the po	rto	mesente	ric venous	throi	nbosis	in 70	patients.	

CT: computed tomography; DOAC: direct oral anticoagulant; LMWH: low molecular weight heparin; VKA: vitamin K antagonist; VTE: venous thromboembolism.

Bowel resection

Among the 102 patients, 17 (17%) underwent bowel resection. There was no difference in bowel resection rate between patients treated with VKA (23% [13/56]) and DOAC (9% [2/22]; p = 0.15).

Bleeding complications

The overall rates of major bleeding, intracranial bleeding, gastrointestinal and esophageal variceal bleeding during anticoagulation were 14.7%, 2.9%, 18.6%, and 2.9%, respectively. The major bleeding rates during VKA and DOAC therapy were 14.3% (8/56) and 9.1% (2/22), respectively (p=0.54). DOAC treatment tended to be associated with a higher rate of gastrointestinal bleeding compared to VKA treatment (p=0.077). Two gastrointestinal bleedings were fatal, one patient with concomitant esophageal variceal bleeding without anticoagulation died after 12 days, and one duodenal ulcer bleeding died at 1 month after initiation of anticoagulation. Three patients suffered from intracranial bleeding; one patient treated with LMWH suffered a subdural bleeding necessitating neurosurgery after 1 month, another patient treated with LMWH had a subarachnoidal bleeding after 28 months, which was managed conservatively. The third patient treated with VKA had an intracerebral bleeding after 8 months, which was managed conservatively (Table 1).

Venous thromboembolic complications

No MVT recurrence occurred during or after cessation (n = 38) of medical treatment. No VTE recurrence occurred during medical treatment. One patient suffered from a DVT in her leg 9 years after cessation of anticoagulation therapy.

Mortality

The 30-day mortality was 7% (7/102). There was no difference in 30-day mortality between patients treated with VKA and DOAC (3.6% [2/56] and 0% [0/22]; p=1.0), respectively. Total mortality at the end of follow-up was 20% (20/102); a Kaplan–Meier curve for survival is shown in Figure 1. Median survival times from MVT diagnosis to end of follow-up for patients with malignant (n=26) and nonmalignant (n=76) disease were 42 (IQR = 5–72) and 50 (IQR = 24–101) months, respectively, (p=0.19), whereas survival in patients with nonmetastatic (n=17) and metastatic cancer (n=9) was 66 (IQR = 27–84) months and 4 (IQR = 2–25) months, respectively (p=0.002).

Discussion

The present study showed that anticoagulation treatment of MVT with LMWH, VKA, and DOAC was effective, and not associated with any recurrence of MVT during a median follow-up of 4 years, and no VTE recurrence during treatment. In a multicenter study on splanchnic vein thrombosis in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms, a 3.3% risk of MVT recurrence was reported.²⁰ It was, however, unclear if any of the patients suffering recurrence had MVT at the index thrombotic event. In the same report, the proportion of patients diagnosed with VTE outside the splanchnic vein circulation was 7.2% during a mean follow-up of 4.1 years.²⁰ In addition, increased VTE recurrence rate has previously been reported after treatment discontinuation in 72 patients with MVT followed for a median time of 3 years.²¹ There was only one patient with VTE recurrence after cessation of treatment in the present study, which presumably not is



Figure 1. Kaplan–Meier analysis of long-term survival in patients with MVT. Life table showing patients at risk at each occasion. Standard error of cumulative proportion surviving at end of interval is stated within parentheses. Censored patients are marked with ticks.

MVT: mesenteric venous thrombosis.

explained by poor validity of data, since Skåne University Hospital is the only unit treating VTE patients in the catchment area. The rates of both major bleeding and intracranial hemorrhage were of concern in the present study, and as well as in the above-mentioned large study.²⁰ In particular, patients with esophageal varices and/or a low platelet count may suffer troublesome bleeding, and in a real-world clinical practice, a certain proportion of patients with portomesenteric venous thrombosis will have to discontinue their anticoagulation therapy as risks conferred by treatment are presumed to exceed the benefits.²² Indeed, two fatal gastrointestinal bleedings were found in the present study, and one of these patients died due to a concomitant esophageal variceal bleeding.

Complete or partial radiological recanalization at follow-up CT was 66% in all patients without difference between those treated with DOAC compared to VKA. It was found that a less extensive initial thrombus burden was associated with a higher rate of complete regression of thrombosis in the 70 evaluable patients, while no such detectable differences were found in the respective small anticoagulation therapy subgroups. The present explorative study was not, however, optimally designed to compare results of VKA and DOAC treatment in MVT. A longer inclusion period and enrolment of a higher proportion of DOAC-treated patients would have been beneficial for our aim. In a recent retrospective comparative study, the factor Xa inhibitor edoxaban was found to be superior to VKA therapy in reducing thrombus volume in cirrhotic patients with PVT.²³ Besides these advantages in cirrhotic patients, DOAC therapy helps to avoid the disadvantages of VKA therapy such as a narrow therapeutic window, extensive food and drug interactions, highly variable dose response, and requirements of frequent dose adjustments and monitoring. Another important issue to consider in MVT patients, however, is the possibility to instantly reverse the anticoagulation effect in case of a life-threatening bleeding or need of immediate surgery due to suspicion of intestinal infarction. Whereas effects of VKA can be reversed by vitamin K, prothrombin complex concentrates, and plasma,²⁴ and effects of the thrombin inhibitor dabigatran can be reversed by idarucizumab,²⁵ there are still no commercially available antidotes for factor Xa inhibitors.

LMWH monotherapy is the current mainstay of treatment in cancer-associated venous thromboembolism and reduces venous thromboembolic events.²⁶ LMWH was also the dominant treatment regime in patients with cancer-associated MVT in the present study. However, VKA therapy was used in 12 patients with malignancies, both solid cancers and myeloproliferative diseases. This is mainly attributed to the retrospective study design with inclusion of patients from 2004. Secondly, MVT has not been proven to share the same characteristics as systemic venous thromboembolism regarding risk factor profiles,²⁷ efficacy, and safety of various treatment regimes. Treatment recommendations for cancer and VTE may therefore not apply strictly to cancer-associated MVT. In addition, four patients with malignancies and MVT in the present study used DOAC, which should be considered as experimental since the use of DOAC is not currently recommended for patients with malignancy and VTE.28 Very recent data from a randomized controlled trial in patients with cancer and VTE has shown that the rate of recurrent VTE was lower but the rate of major bleeding was higher with edoxaban compared to subcutaneous dalteparin.29

The present study has limitations. Follow-up CT was performed in only 69% of the study patients, mainly attributable to the absence of clear treatment recommendations concerning MVT patients during the study period and early mortality after the initial admission. As the diagnosis of MVT is rare and extremely difficult to establish clinically without CT, a prospective study is almost impossible to design. Hence, MVT studies will by necessity be retrospective by nature, with all the inherent limitations of this study design. For instance, CT protocols at diagnosis and follow-up were often different, since the questions asked in the referral letter at the initial assessment were very diverse. Some initial CT examinations were performed with oral contrast media, which was never used at follow-up CT evaluating the extent of portomesenteric venous thrombosis. Furthermore, we did not have a fixed time point for follow-up CT examinations, which might have influenced the thrombotic status in the portomesenteric vein system. A semi-quantitative ordinal scale assessed the thrombotic status between CT examinations. Modern CT software is able to automatically measure differences in PVT volume, providing more accurate changes in thrombotic status.²³ Even if the study material is rather large for a rare disease as MVT, appropriate statistical adjustment for several confounding variables in multivariable analysis was not possible. This study included patients diagnosed between 2004 and 2017, and as DOAC treatment for MVT was not introduced until in 2015 better diagnostic and therapeutic measures during the latter part of the study period might have biased our results. Comorbidity such as cancer has also induced a selection bias concerning the choice of anticoagulation therapy in the present study. The small sample sizes in each anticoagulation therapy group make group comparisons prone to type 2 statistical error. A high-quality evaluation of differences in outcomes between patients treated with DOAC and VKA was therefore not possible.

Conclusion

DOAC and VKA anticoagulation therapy in patients with MVT was clinically and radiologically effective. Bleeding complications during treatment was a concern in both groups, whereas recurrent VTE was not. These data are encouraging for a randomized large multicenter trial of DOAC versus VKA in newly CT diagnosed MVT.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: this research was funded by Scandinavian Research Foundation for Venous Diseases.

Ethical approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund (Dnr 2014/287).

Guarantor

None.

Contributorship

SS and SA researched literature and conceived the study. OE, SA, SS scrutinized the CT images. JE and AG achieved ethical approval. SS and SA wrote the first draft. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

None.

ORCID iD

Stefan Acosta D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-3225-0798

References

- Björck M, Koelemay M, Acosta S, et al. Editor's choice Management of the diseases of mesenteric arteries and veins: clinical practice guidelines of the European Society of Vascular Surgery (ESVS). *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2017; 53: 460–510.
- Zarrouk M, Salim S, Elf J, et al. Testing for thrombophilia in mesenteric venous thrombosis – retrospective original study and systematic review. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol* 2017; 31: 39–48.

- Hagspiel KD, Flors L, Hanley M, et al. Computed tomography angiography and magnetic resonance angiography imaging of the mesenteric vasculature. *Tech Vasc Interv Radiol* 2015; 18: 2–13.
- Blumberg SN and Maldonado TS. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 2016; 4: 501–507.
- Acosta S, Alhadad A, Svensson P, et al. Epidemiology, risk and prognostic factors in mesenteric venous thrombosis. *Br J Surg* 2008; 95: 1245–1251.
- Russell CE, Wadhera RK and Piazza G. Mesenteric venous thrombosis. *Circulation* 2015; 131: 1599–1603.
- Maan A, Padmanabhan R, Shaikh AY, et al. Newer anticoagulants in cardiovascular disease: a systematic review of the literature. *Cardiol Rev* 2012; 20: 209–221.
- Kearon C, Akl EA, Ornelas J, et al. Antithrombotic therapy for VTE disease. CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. *Chest* 2016; 149: 315–352.
- Ageno W, Beyer-Westendorf J, Garcia D, et al. Guidance for the management of venous thrombosis in unusual sites. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2016; 4: 129–143.
- Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, et al.; RE-COVER Study Group. Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. *N Engl J Med* 2009; 361: 2342–2352.
- Bauersachs R, Berkowitz SD, Brenner B, et al. Oral rivaroxaban for symptomatic venous thromboembolism. *N Engl J Med* 2010; 363: 2499–2510.
- Hokusai-VTE Investigators, Büller HR, Decousus H, Grosso MA, et al. Edoxaban versus warfarin for the treatment of symptomatic venous thromboembolism. *N Engl J Med* 2013; 369: 1406–1415.
- Agnelli G, Buller HR, Cohen A, et al. AMPLIFY Investigators. Oral apixaban for the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 799–808.
- EINSTEIN-EP Investigators, Buller HR, Prins MH, et al. Oral rivaroxaban for the treatment of symptomatic pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 1287–1297.
- Wieloch M, Själander A, Frykman V, et al. Anticoagulation control in Sweden: reports of time in therapeutic range, major bleeding, and thrombo-embolic complications from the national quality registry AuriculA. *Eur Heart J* 2011; 32: 2282–2289.
- Schulman S, Angeras U, Bergqvist D, et al. Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in surgical patients. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8: 202–204.

- 17. Grubb A, Nyman U, Björk J, et al. Simple cystatin C-based prediction equations for glomerular filtration rate compared with the modification of diet in renal disease prediction equation for adults and the Schwartz and the Counahan–Barratt prediction equations for children. *Clin Chem* 2005; 51: 1420–1431.
- Acosta S, Alhadad A and Ekberg O. Findings in multidetector row CT with portal phase enhancement in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis. *Emerg Radiol* 2009; 16: 477–482.
- Björck F, Sandén P, Renlund H, et al. Warfarin treatment quality is consistently high in both anticoagulation clinics and primary care setting in Sweden. *Thromb Res* 2015; 136: 216–220.
- De Stefano V, Vannucchi AM, Ruggeri M, et al. Splanchnic vein thrombosis in myeloproliferative neoplasms: risk factors for recurrences in a cohort of 181 patients. *Blood Cancer J* 2016; 6: e493.
- Dentali F, Ageno W, Witt D, et al. Natural history of mesenteric venous thrombosis in patients treated with vitamin K antagonists. A multi-centre, retrospective cohort study. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; 102: 501–504.
- Ageno W, Dentali F and Squizzato A. How I treat splanchnic vein thrombosis. *Blood* 2014; 124: 3685–3691.
- Nagaoki Y, Aikata H, Daijyo K, et al. Efficacy and safety of edoxaban for treatment of portal vein thrombosis following danaparoid sodium in patients with liver cirrhosis. *Hepatol Res.* Epub ahead of print 24 March 2017. DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12895.
- Yates SG and Sarode R. New strategies for effective treatment of vitamin K antagonist-associated bleeding. *J Thromb Haemostat* 2015; 13(Suppl 1): S180–S186.
- Pollack CV Jr, Reilly PA, Eikelboom J, et al. Idarucizumab for dabigatran reversal. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 511–520.
- Akl EA, Kahale L, Barba M, et al. Anticoagulation for the long-term treatment of venous thromboembolism in patients with cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014; 7: CD006650.
- Connors JM. Thrombophilia testing and venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 1177–1187.
- Lyman GH, Bohlke K, Khorana AA, et al. Venous thromboembolism prophylaxis and treatment in patients with cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline update 2014. *J Clin Oncol* 2015; 33: 654–656.
- Raskob GE, van Es N, Bleker SM, et al. Edoxaban for the treatment of cancer-associated venous thromboembolism. *N Engl J Med* 2018; 378: 615–624.

Paper III

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Clinical implications of CT findings in mesenteric venous thrombosis at admission

S. Salim¹ · O. Ekberg² · J. Elf^{1,3} · M. Zarrouk^{1,3} · A. Gottsäter^{1,3} · S. Acosta^{1,3}

Received: 25 January 2018 /Accepted: 16 March 2018 /Published online: 28 March 2018 The Author(s) 2018

Abstract

Purpose The main aim of this study was to evaluate the association of computed tomography (CT) findings at admission and bowel resection rate in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT). It was hypothesized that abnormal intestinal findings on CT were associated with a higher bowel resection rate.

Methods Retrospective study of MVT patients treated between 2004 and 2017. CT images at admission and at follow-up were scrutinized according to a predefined protocol. Successful recanalization was defined as partial or complete recanalization of the portomesenteric venous thrombosis at the latest CT follow-up (n = 70).

Results We studied 102 patients (median age 58 years, 61 men). Lifelong anticoagulation was initiated in 64 patients, and bowel resection rate was 17%. No referral letter indicated suspicion of MVT, whereas three indicated suspected intestinal ischemia. Previous venous thromboembolism was associated with increased bowel resection rate (p = 0.049). No patient with acute pancreatitis (n = 17) underwent bowel resection (p = 0.068). The presence of mesenteric oedema (p = 0.014), small bowel wall oedema (p < 0.001), small bowel dilatation (p = 0.005), and ascites (p = 0.021) were associated with increased bowel resection rate. Small bowel wall oedema remained as an independent risk factor associated with bowel resection (OR 15.8 [95% CI 3.2–77.2]). Successful thrombus recanalization was achieved in 66% of patients.

Conclusion The presence of abnormal intestinal findings secondary to MVT confers an excess risk of need of bowel resection due to infarction. Responsible physicians should therefore scrutinize the CT images at diagnosis together with the radiologist to better tailor clinical surveillance.

Keywords Mesenteric venous thrombosis · CT · Intestinal ischemia · Bowel resection

Introduction

Mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) is an important cause of intestinal ischemia [1], though less common than mesenteric arterial thromboembolism. Unspecific abdominal pain is often present in the early stage of the disease, whereas localized

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10140-018-1601-3) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

S. Acosta Stefan.acosta@med.lu.se

- ¹ Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden
- ² Department of Translational Medicine, Division of Medical Radiology, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden
- ³ Vascular Centre, Department of Cardio-Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Skåne University Hospital, SE-205 02 Malmö, Sweden

abdominal pain develops later. Melena, hematemesis, or hematochezia occurs in only 15%, whereas occult bleeding may be present in 50% of the cases [2]. Fever and signs of peritonitis suggest progression of ischemia to intestinal infarction [3]. Since MVT is extremely seldom diagnosed on clinical grounds, computed tomography (CT) with intravenous contrast enhancement and imaging in the portal phase has become the most important, reliable, and accurate imaging for diagnosis of MVT [4-7]. CT can accurately visualize both the extent of thrombosis within the portomesenteric venous system and secondary abnormal intestinal findings. Thrombosis within the superior mesenteric vein is, in contrast to isolated portal vein thrombosis, associated with symptoms related to intestinal ischemia in the overwhelming majority (92%) [8] and often results in intestinal infarction if left untreated [8, 9]. Patients with MVT are nowadays, however, often diagnosed by CT in time, enabling a conservative medical approach with anticoagulation therapy [10].

One previous report suggests that patient characteristics and CT findings in MVT may be associated with increased bowel resection rate [11]. The main aim of the present large retrospective study was to evaluate the association of CT findings at admission and bowel resection due to intestinal infarction. It was hypothesized that abnormal intestinal findings on CT were associated with a higher bowel resection rate.

Methods

Retrieval of patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund (Dnr 2014/287). Identification of all patients with MVT treated surgically or conservatively at the Skåne University Hospital between 1st of January 2004 and 29th of September 2017 was performed in (1) hospital records based on the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD), tenth edition, codes 181 (portal vein thrombosis [PVT] or MVT) and K55 (mesenteric ischemia), and (2) AuriculA [12] (a Swedish quality registry for patients treated with anticoagulation). All patient records and CT images in patients with PVT or MVT as well as unclear cases of mesenteric ischemia were scrutinized. Only patients with symptomatic thrombosis in the superior mesenteric vein with or without anatomical involvement of portal or splenic veins were included in the present study. Patients with isolated PVT without thrombotic involvement of the superior mesenteric vein were excluded. Median clinical follow-up was 48 months.

Definitions

Patients with abdominal pain of less than 4 weeks of duration were classified as having acute MVT. Those with symptoms for 4 weeks or more but without bowel infarction, and those with asymptomatic MVT diagnosed incidentally on abdominal imaging as a clinically non-significant finding were defined as chronic MVT. Extensive thrombosis was defined as having mesenteric central and peripheral, portal, and splenic vein thrombosis. The first five centimeters of the proximal superior mesenteric vein were defined as central. Small bowel dilatation was defined as ≥ 4 cm in bowel diameter. Patients initially treated with low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) for some weeks and later changed for VKA (vitamin K antagonists) or DOAC (direct-acting oral anticoagulants) were considered as treated with either of the respective oral anticoagulants.

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was calculated with a simplified variant of the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group (MDRD) equation [13], and advanced renal insufficiency was defined as GFR < 25 ml/min.

Renal insufficiency evaluated by serum (s) creatinine alone was defined as a s-creatinine > 105 µmol/l (1.2 mg/dl) in men and >90 µmol/l (1.0 mg/dl) in women. Body mass index (BMI) was defined as weight/length² expressed in kg/m². The term "thrombophilia" was used as a common denominator for factors which might provoke MVT, such as cancer, coagulation disorders, previous or concomitant VTE, oral contraceptive use, or estrogen substitution. Inherited thrombophilic factors were defined as factor V Leiden mutation, prothrombin gene mutation, or deficiencies of protein C, protein S, or antithrombin. Acquired thrombophilic factors were defined as JAK2 V617F (janus-activated kinase gain of function substitute of valine to phenylalanine at position 617) mutation, lupus anticoagulant, or cardiolipin antibodies. A transient risk factor was defined as either recent surgery within 6 weeks, abdominal trauma, or inflammatory disease such as acute pancreatitis. Follow-up CT was defined as the last available CT of the abdomen with intravenous contrast and imaging in the parenchymal/venous phase. Successful recanalization was defined as partial or complete recanalization of the portomesenteric venous system at the follow-up CT after treatment

Computed tomography

Clinical data provided in the referral letter for initial radiological examination at admission were retrieved in a Sectra radiological information system (Sectra AB, Linköping, Sweden). Multi-detector row CT (MDCT) was usually performed with a 0.75-mm slice thickness (Siemens Sensation 16, Erlangen, Germany). Multi-planar reconstruction in axial, coronal, and sagittal planes was usually obtained with a 5-mm thickness. Single-slice CT was usually performed with slice thickness of 3-5 mm. Patients were examined in the portomesenteric venous phase. Intravenous contrast medium was non-ionic contrast medium 300-320 mg I/ml with a total dose of 90 ml, flow rate of 3 ml/s, and delay of 70 s. The diagnostic and follow-up CT scan images of all patients were scrutinized and evaluated by an experienced radiologist (OE) aware of the diagnosis but blinded concerning which treatment the patient received. The main objective was to describe vascular and intestinal findings (Fig. 1) systematically in a predefined protocol [7]. Bowel wall thickness was assessed on non-contracted intestinal segments and defined as normal if 3 mm or less [14]. The patency of the portomesenteric venous system at follow-up CT was categorized as progression, unchanged, partial regression, and complete regression.

Treatment strategy at the study center

After diagnosis of MVT with CT, the mainstay of treatment was conservative with immediate full anticoagulation with either intravenous heparin infusion or subcutaneous LMWH,



Fig. 1 A 59-year-old woman admitted with 3 days of abdominal pain and vomitus. CT with intravenous and oral positive contrast enhancement showed extensive portomesenteric venous thrombosis with secondary abnormal intestinal findings

full bowel rest, total parenteral nutrition, and analgesia. Patients admitted with peritonitis or rapidly progressing towards peritonitis underwent laparotomy and bowel resection. Patients not responding to anticoagulation may have undergone endovascular treatment with or without local thrombolysis, and non-responders were subjected to laparotomy. Clearly necrotic and demarcated bowels were resected and anastomosed. Bowels with unclear viability were usually evaluated at a second look laparotomy, and bowel resections were followed by reconstructions with anastomoses or diverting stomas. Patients with identified transient risk factors were usually treated with oral anticoagulation for 6 months, whereas those with permanent risk factors or unidentified risk factors were prescribed lifelong anticoagulation. Patients with a malignancy were usually treated with LMWH. DOACs were introduced for treatment of MVT at the study center in 2015.

Statistical methods

Data management and statistical analysis were performed using the SPSS for Windows program package (SPSS version 22.0, Chicago, IL, USA) or GraphPad (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). Distribution of variables was expressed with median value and interquartile range (IQR). Differences in proportions were evaluated using the chisquare or Fisher's exact test. Quantitative differences between groups were assessed with the Mann-Whitney U test. When risk factor evaluation for bowel resection was performed, factors with p < 0.1 in the uni-variable analysis were entered in a multi-variable regression analysis and expressed in odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). The Spearman rank test was used for calculating correlations. A p value < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Patient characteristics

During the 14-year period, 102 patients (61 men and 41 women) were diagnosed with MVT. Median age was 58 years (IQR, 47–68), and men (56 [IQR 47–64] years) were younger (p = 0.009) than women (55 [IQR 50–72] years). MVT was defined as acute in 100 (98%) patients and chronic in the remaining 2 (2%). Median BMI was 27.8 (IQR 25.5–31.4) in men (n = 49) and 25.5 (IQR 23.5–33.6) in women (n =34). One (1.0%; 1/100) patient had advanced renal insufficiency. Seventeen (17%) patients had previously been diagnosed with pancreatitis, and 26 (26%) with malignancies. Among 85 patients tested for thrombophilia, 17 (20%) had the factor V Leiden mutation and 9 (9%) had the JAK-2 V617 mutation. In 10 patients with myeloproliferative disease, 9 (90%) were JAK-2 V617 mutation positive. Lifelong anticoagulation was initiated in 64 patients (63%). Fifty-six (55%) patients received VKA, 22 (22%) LMWH, and 22 (22%) DOAC.

Clinical data from the referral letter for initial radiological examination

Among the 102 patients with MVT, initial radiological examinations had been performed by CT in 69 (68%), ultrasound in 26 (26%), plain abdominal X-ray in 5 (5%), and magnetic resonance imaging in 2 (2%). None of the referral letters for initial radiological examination revealed any suspicion of MVT, whereas intestinal ischemia was suspected in 3 (3%) patients. In these 3 patients with suspected intestinal ischemia, intestinal ischemia was mentioned among two, three, or four diagnostic suggestions in the referral letter. The spectrum of suspected clinical diagnoses at initial radiological examinations, respectively, is shown in Supplementary Table 1. The most frequently asked questions concerned intestinal disorders (n = 77), inflammatory disorders (n = 65), biliary or urinary tract disorders (n = 38), malignancies (n = 26), and benign disorders of the liver or spleen (n = 10).

Vascular and intestinal CT findings

Central and peripheral MVTs were documented in 98 (96%) and 73 (72%) patients, respectively. Extensive thrombosis at diagnostic CT was found in 43 (42%) patients, and intestinal findings in 66 (65%). The most frequent extra-vascular abnormalities were mesenteric oedema (n = 63; 62%), ascites (n = 52; 51%), small bowel wall oedema (n = 40; 39%), and local small bowel dilatation (n = 10; 10%) (Table 1). No abnormalities in the colon were found.

Radiological outcome—thrombus recanalization

CT was performed both at diagnosis and after medical treatment in 70 patients after a median follow-up of 6 (IQR 3-28) months. The overall evaluation showed no change in 20 patients, progression of thrombotic status within the portomesenteric venous system in 4 patients, partial regression in 27 patients, and total regression in 19 patients. Successful recanalization had been achieved in 66% of the 70 patients (Table 2), 71% of those treated with VKA and 69% of those treated with DOAC (p = 0.88). When entering age, malignancies, and type of therapy (VKA or DOAC) in a multi-variable analysis, none of these variables were associated with successful recanalization. Neither was there any correlation between successful recanalization and the time lapse between diagnostic and follow-up CT (r = 0.067, p = 0.58). No clinical variable was found to be associated with successful recanalization

 Table 1
 Vascular and intestinal findings on computed tomography at diagnosis of mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) in 102 patients

	Frequency (%)
Vascular findings	
Central MVT	98 (96.1)
Peripheral MVT	73 (71.6)
Isolated MVT	14 (13.7)
Portal vein thrombosis	85 (83.3)
Extra-hepatic portal venous thrombosis	80 (78.4)
Intra-hepatic portal venous thrombosis	60 (58.8)
Splenic vein thrombosis	61 (59.8)
Venous collaterals	52 (51)
Extensive thrombosis ^a	43 (42.2)
Intestinal findings	66 (64.7)
Mesenteric oedema	63 (61.8)
Small bowel wall oedema	40 (39.2)
Local small bowel dilatation	10 (9.8)
Extensive small bowel dilatation	2 (2.0)
Gas in the portomesenteric venous system	0 (0.0)
Ascites	52 (51.0)

^a Mesenteric central and peripheral, portal, and splenic vein thrombosis

Factors associated with bowel resection

Among the 102 patients, 17 (17%) underwent bowel resection. Previous VTE was associated with increased bowel resection rate (p = 0.049). No patient with exclusive transient risk factor (n =15) underwent a bowel resection (p = 0.069). No patient with acute pancreatitis (n = 17) underwent bowel resection (p =0.068). The presence of any intestinal finding at CT (p =0.026), mesenteric oedema (p = 0.014), small bowel wall oedema (p < 0.001), small bowel dilatation (p = 0.005), and ascites (p = 0.021) were associated with increased bowel resection rate (Table 3). After entering small bowel wall oedema, acute pancreatitis, and previous VTE in a multi-variable regression analysis, small bowel wall oedema remained an independent risk factor associated with bowel resection (OR 15.8 [95% CI 3.2–77.2], p = 0.001), and previous VTE tended to be a risk factor for bowel resection (OR 3.3 [95% CI 0.9–12.6], p = 0.080).

Mortality

The 30-day mortality was 7% (7/102). Mortality at the end of follow-up was 20% (20/102).

Discussion

The present study showed that a number of abnormal intestinal CT findings secondary to MVT such as small bowel wall
 Table 2
 Recanalization of portomesenteric venous thrombosis verified by computed tomography (CT) after follow-up in 70 patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT)

Initial CT findings	Frequency of partial or complete recanalization (%)
All patients	46/70 (65.7)
Vascular findings	
Central MVT	45/69 (65.2)
Peripheral MVT	34/46 (73.9)
Portal vein thrombosis	35/57 (61.4)
Extra-hepatic portal venous thrombosis	35/56 (62.5)
Intra-hepatic portal venous thrombosis	28/42 (66.7)
Splenic vein thrombosis	23/43 (53.5)
Venous collaterals	22/39 (56.4)
Extensive thrombosis ^a	17/27 (63.0)
Intestinal findings	29/45 (64.4)
Mesenteric oedema	28/44 (63.6)
Small bowel wall oedema	20/27 (74.1)
Small bowel dilatation	5/7 (71.4)
Ascites	25/36 (69.4)

^a Mesenteric central and peripheral, portal, and splenic vein thrombosis

oedema, small bowel dilatation, mesenteric oedema, and ascites were all associated with increased bowel resection rate, whereof small bowel wall oedema is the strongest risk factor. It therefore seems to be of utmost importance that CT images at diagnosis are scrutinized by the responsible physician together with the radiologist to better individualize clinical surveillance. The study data suggest that patients with small bowel wall oedema need a more close clinical follow-up than patients without secondary findings, with repeated physical examinations, C-reactive protein (CRP), and temperature measurements. In concordance with the present study, a recent study of 66 patients with CT verified MVT reports that bowel wall oedema, contrast enhancement defects of the bowel wall, and ascites were all associated with bowel resection [11]. The extent of thrombosis, involving both the superior mesenteric

 Table 3
 Association between vascular and intestinal findings at initial computed tomography (CT) and later need for bowel resection in 102 patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT)

CT findings	Bowel resection	p value	
All	17/102(16.7)		
Extensive thrombosis ^a	10/43 (23.2)	0.13	
Isolated MVT	2/14 (14.3)	1.0	
Intestinal findings	15/66 (22.7)	0.026	
Mesenteric oedema	15/63 (23.8)	0.014	
Small bowel wall oedema	15/40 (37.5)	< 0.001	
Small bowel dilatation	6/12 (50.0)	0.005	
Ascites	13/52 (25.0)	0.021	

^a Mesenteric central and peripheral, portal, and splenic vein thrombosis

and portal veins as opposed to isolated thrombosis of the superior mesenteric vein, was also found to be associated with bowel resection [11], whereas in the present study, there was no increase in bowel resection rate in patients with extensive MVT, defined as SMV, PV, and splenic vein thrombosis. This might, however, be attributed to a type 2 statistical error. The decreased bowel resection rate in patients with a transient risk factor may imply that these patients have a more benign course of the disease and may therefore justify a limited 6month time period of anticoagulation [11]. In agreement, none of the 15 patients with an exclusive transient risk factor or of the 17 patients with acute pancreatitis, a transient strong provocative trigger, in the present study required bowel resection. In addition, we report a trend towards previous VTE being associated with the need of bowel resection in adjusted analysis, strengthening the indication for lifelong anticoagulation therapy in these patients.

Complete or partial radiological thrombus recanalization at follow-up CT was 66% among all patients, without difference between those treated with DOAC and those on VKA. However, the present explorative study was not optimally designed to compare results of VKA and DOAC treatment in MVT. In a radiological report on patients with acute MVT, 80% showed signs of evolution towards chronic MVT such as vein stenosis or occlusion and development of collateral veins [15]. It was reported that patients with short, isolated central MVT in a wide vein had a better chance of complete radiologic recovery [16]. Long-term imaging sequelae of portal venous hypertension, defined as esophageal varices, portal vein cavernous transformation, splenomegaly, or hepatic atrophy, were reported in 50% of MVT patients, and these radiological findings were associated with lower thrombus recanalization rate and more extensive thrombotic disease at initial CT [16]. Among MVT patients with extensive portomesenteric thrombosis in the present study, 63% achieved successful recanalization, a figure comparable with the overall rate of successful recanalization. To date, there is no proof that a follow-up CT evaluating changes of the status of the portomesenteric venous system is necessary. Nevertheless, the result of such a repeated CT can aid longterm decision-making. In case of complete clot resolution and recanalization, discontinuation of anticoagulation may be considered, particularly in patients with transient risk factors [1].

The retrospective design is a limitation of the present study. As the diagnosis of MVT is difficult to establish clinically as shown by the wide spectrum of conditions asked in the referral letters for the initial radiological assessment, a prospective study is impossible to design before a CT has been performed. After confirmation of MVT diagnosis by CT, the rarity of the disease necessitates multi-center design to enable collection of prospective high-quality data. Another study limitation was that follow-up CT was performed in only 69% of our patients, mainly attributable to the absence of clear treatment recommendations for MVT patients. In addition, CT protocols at diagnosis and follow-up were often different, due to the wide diversity of questions asked in the referral letter for initial CT. Some initial CT examinations were performed with oral contrast media, which was never used at the follow-up CT evaluating the extent of portomesenteric venous thrombosis. When CT follow-up was considered, there was no fixed time point between the initial and follow-up CT. which might have influenced the thrombotic status in the portomesenteric venous system. Furthermore, the changes in thrombotic status were assessed by a semi-quantitative ordinal scale between CT examinations. With a prospective study design, a more modern quantitative evaluation using computer software for automatical or semi-automatical measurements of differences in thrombus volume [17] might be possible. Furthermore, appropriate statistical adjustment for several confounding variables in multi-variable analysis was not possible in our study, despite a rather large cohort of patients with MVT.

Conclusion

Abnormal intestinal CT findings secondary to MVT are related to excess risk of bowel resection due to intestinal infarction. Responsible physicians should therefore scrutinize initial CT images together with the radiologist to better tailor clinical surveillance. Thrombus recanalization rate after anticoagulation therapy was acceptable. Funding Scandinavian Research Foundation of Venous Diseases.

Compliance with ethical standards

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund (Dnr 2014/287).

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Björck M, Koelemay M, Acosta S, Bastos Goncalves F, Kolbel T, Kolkmann JJ, Lees T, Lefevre JH, Menyhei G, Oderich G (2017) Editor's choice—management of the diseases of mesenteric arteries and veins: clinical practice guidelines of the European Society of Vascular Surgery (ESVS). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 53:460–510
- Kumar S, Sarr MG, Kamath PS (2001) Mesenteric venous thrombosis. New England J Med 345:1683–1688
- Hamoud B, Singal AK, Kamath PS (2014) Mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Clin Exp Hepatol 4:257–263
- Oliva IB, Davarpanah AH, Rybicki FJ, Desjardins B, Flamm SD, Francois CJ, Gerhard-Herman MD, Kalva SP, Ashraf Mansour M, Mohler ER 3rd, Schenker MP, Weiss C, Dill KE (2013) ACR Appropriateness Criteria® imaging of mesenteric ischaemia. Abdom Imaging 38:714–719
- Rajesh S, Mukund A, Arora A (2015) Imaging diagnosis of splanchnic venous thrombosis. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2015: 101029
- Wayne E, Ough M, Wu A, Liao J, Andresen KJ, Kuehn D, Wilkinson N (2010) Management algorithm for pneumatosis intestinalis and portal venous gas: treatment and outcome of 88 consecutive cases. J Gastrointest Surg 14:437–448
- Acosta S, Alhadad A, Ekberg O (2009) Findings in multi-detector row CT with portal phase enhancement in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis. Emerg Radiology 16:477–482
- Amitrano L, Guardascione MA, Scaglione M, Pezzullo L, Sangiuliano N, Armellino MF, Manguso F, Margaglione M, Ames PR, Iannaccone L, Grandone E, Romano L, Balzano A (2007) Prognostic factors in noncirrhotic patients with splanchnic vein thromboses. Am J Gastroenterol 102:2464–2470
- Acosta S (2010) Epidemiology of mesenteric vascular disease: clinical implications. Semin Vasc Surg 23:4–8
- Hagspiel KD, Flors L, Hanley M, Norton PT (2015) Computed tomography angiography and magnetic resonance angiography imaging of the mesenteric vasculature. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol 18:2–13
- Kim HK, Hwang D, Park S, Lee JM, Huh S (2017) Treatment outcomes and risk factors for bowel infarction in patients with acute superior mesenteric venous thrombosis. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disorder 5:638–646
- Wieloch M, Själander A, Frykman V, Rosenqvist M, Eriksson N, Svensson PJ (2011) Anticoagulation control in Sweden: reports of time in therapeutic range, major bleeding, and thrombo-embolic

complications from the national quality registry AuriculA. Eur Heart J 32:2282-2289

- Grubb A, Nyman U, Björk J, Lindström V, Rippe B, Sterner G, Christensson A (2005) Simple cystatin C-based prediction equations for glomerular filtration rate compared with the modification of diet in renal disease prediction equation for adults and the Schwartz and the Counahan–Barratt prediction equations for children. Clin Chem 51:1420–1431
- Maglinte DDT, Herlinger H (1989) Anatomy of the small intestine. In Clinical radiology of the small intestine. Ed. Herlinger H and Maglinte DDT. WB Saunders Philadelphia, p 10
- Vietti Violi N, Fournier N, Duran R, Schmidt S, Bize P, Guiu B, Denys A (2014) Acute mesenteric vein thrombosis: factors

associated with evolution to chronic mesenteric vein thrombosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 203(1):54-61

- Maldonado TS, Blumberg SN, Sheth SU, Perreault G, Sadek M, Berland T, Adelman MA, Rockman CB (2016) Mesenteric vein thrombosis can be safely treated with anticoagulation but is associated with significant sequelae of portal hypertension. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 4:400–406
- Nagaoki Y, Aikata H, Daijyo K, Teraoka Y, Shinohara F, Nakamura Y, Hatouka M, Morio K, Nakahara T, Kawaoka T, Tsuge M, Hiramatsu A, Imamura M, Kawakami Y, Ochi H, Chayama K (2017) Efficacy and safety of edoxaban for treatment of portal vein thrombosis following danaparoid sodium in patients with liver cirrhosis. Hepatol Res 48:51–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/hepr.12895

Paper IV



Clinical implications of different risk factor profiles in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis and systemic venous thromboembolism: a population-based study

Saman Salim¹ · Moncef Zarrouk^{1,3} · Johan Elf^{1,3} · Anders Gottsäter^{1,3} · Signy Sveinsdottir² · Peter Svensson^{2,4} · Stefan Acosta^{1,3}

Published online: 12 February 2019 © The Author(s) 2019

Abstract

It is unknown whether the risk factor profile for mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) is different from systemic venous thromboembolism (VTE). The aim of the present population-based study was to compare acquired and inherited risk factors in MVT versus VTE. Identification of all MVT patients at Skåne University Hospital between 2000 and 2015 was performed in patient records and *AuriculA* (Swedish anticoagulation registry). VTE patients were retrieved from the Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS), including 1465 consecutive unselected VTE patients between 1998 and 2008. Patients with MVT (n = 120) were younger (p < 0.001), had higher glomerular filtration rate (p < 0.001), lower smoking rate (p < 0.001), and had less often undergone recent surgery (p = 0.025). The prevalence of solid cancer (19.2% in MVT versus 12.1% in VTE; p=0.026) and intra-abdominal cancer (16.7% versus 2.3%; p < 0.001) were higher in MVT. The prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation without presence of cancer was lower in MVT compared to VTE (26.6% versus 38.9%; p = 0.031). Thirty-day mortality was higher in the MVT group (9.2% versus 0.6%; p < 0.001), but did not differ at long-term follow-up according to Kaplan–Meier analysis (p = 0.73). Patients with MVT have a higher prevalence of cancer and lower prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation than those with systemic VTE. Intra-abdominal cancer should be excluded in MVT patients, and the high prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation in patients without cancer in both groups.

Keywords Mesenteric venous thrombosis · Venous thromboembolism · Thrombophilia testing · Factor V Leiden mutation · Prothrombin mutation

Highlights

- Stefan Acosta Stefan.acosta@med.lu.se
- ¹ Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden
- ² Department of Translational Medicine, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden
- ³ Vascular Centre, Department of Cardio-Thoracic and Vascular Surgery, Skåne University Hospital, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden
- ⁴ Centre of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

- Risk factor profiles in MVT and VTE has never been compared in the same population.
- MVT patients had a higher prevalence of solid and intraabdominal cancer.
- VTE patients had higher prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation.
- Factor V Leiden mutation prevalence in patients without cancer was high in both groups suggesting that screening for thrombophilia should be considered.
- The study findings should be externally validated in another population.

Springer

Introduction

Mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) is a rare and potentially lethal disease [1]. Unspecific abdominal pain is often present in the early stage of the disease, whereas localized abdominal pain develops later. Melena, hematemesis, or hematochezia occurs in only 15%, whereas occult bleeding may be present in 50% of the cases [2]. However, there is rarely any clinical suspicion of MVT, and diagnosis may come as a surprise for clinicians after radiological imaging [3]. Main causes of MVT are coagulation disorders, abdominal inflammatory conditions, malignancies, and liver diseases [4]. When to perform thrombophilia testing in patients with MVT, and how to interpret the results, is debatable. Importantly, since there is a considerable morbidity and mortality associated with MVT, concern and anxiety regarding the underlying cause may lead to testing for thrombophilia in many patients. MVT may also be the first clinical manifestation of myeloproliferative neoplasms [5]. Although inherited and acquired thrombophilias are acknowledged to increase the risk of systemic venous thromboembolism (VTE) some authors argue that the majority of patients with systemic VTE should not be tested for thrombophilia [6]. It is unknown whether the risk factor profile for MVT is the same as for systemic venous thromboembolism (VTE). However, since population based studies on both MVT [7] and systemic VTE [8] have been performed in Malmö, Sweden, there was a unique opportunity to analyse differences in risk factor profile between these two venous thrombotic groups. The aim of the present population-based study was to compare acquired and inherited risk factors in MVT versus VTE, assuming that the risk factor profile would be similar in both groups.

Methods

Retrieval of patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis

Identification of all MVT patients treated surgically or conservatively at Skåne University Hospital between 1st of January 2000 and 31st of December 2015 was performed in patients records and *AuriculA* (Swedish quality registry for patients treated with anticoagulation; [9]), and based on the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD), tenth edition, codes I81 (portal vein thrombosis [PVT] or MVT) and K55 (mesenteric ischemia). All patient records as well as unclear cases of mesenteric ischemia were scrutinized and validated. Only patients with symptomatic thrombosis in the superior mesenteric vein with or without anatomical involvement of portal or splenic vein, diagnosed by radiological imaging (computed tomography [CT]), laparotomy and/or autopsy, were included in the present study. Patients with liver disease were included. Myeloproliferative disease and other malignancies were present or diagnosed at the time of MVT diagnosis. Full thrombophilia panel with eight tests including Janus kinase 2 v617F mutation (JAK2) [7] was available for 74% in the MVT cohort. End of follow-up for MVT patients was September 6, 2017. Median and mean follow up time were 5.4 and 6.2 years, respectively, and interquartile range [IQR] was 2.0–10.6 years.

Retrieval of patients with venous thromboembolism

The Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS) is a prospective population-based study conducted at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, a city of 300.000 inhabitants in southern Sweden. This is the only hospital in the area treating patients with venous thromboembolism (VTE). The MATS cohort includes 1465 consecutive unselected VTE patients that were followed after inclusion in this study (March 1998) until death or the end of the study (September 2017) [10]. Thirteen patients with portal and/or mesenteric vein thrombosis were excluded from this cohort, but those with CT verified MVT were included in the MVT cohort. Seventy percent of all patients treated for VTE at Skåne University Hospital were included in the study. The remaining 30% were excluded due to unwillingness to participate, language barrier, dementia or other severe illness that prevented the patient from participating. The patients had to have objectively verified deep venous thrombosis (DVT) and/or pulmonary embolism (PE) with phlebography, duplex ultrasound, computed tomography (CT), lung scintigraphy or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Other inclusion criteria in MATS were age > 18 years and ability to communicate in the Swedish language. All participants provided written informed consent and the study were approved by the Lund University Ethical Committee (Dnr 2015/143). All patients were treated in accordance to the standard treatment protocol of Skåne University Hospital. Included patients were required to submit blood samples, answer a questionnaire and were evaluated concerning risk factors for VTE. Malignancies were present or diagnosed at the time of VTE diagnosis. No documentation of myeloproliferative disease was done. End of follow-up for VTE patients was September 6, 2017. Median and mean follow up time were 11.4 and 10.2 years, respectively, and IQR was 6.5-13.7 years.

The DNA mutations for factor V Leiden and Prothrombin were analysed using Taqman allele discrimination with gene specific assays for the two factors (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Definitions

Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was calculated as a simplified variant of Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group (MDRD).

Statistics

Data management and statistical analysis were performed using the SPSS for Windows programme package (SPSS version 22.0, Chicago, IL, USA). Distribution of variables was expressed with median value and IQR. Differences in proportions were evaluated using the Chi square or the Fisher's exact test. Quantitative differences between groups were assessed with the Mann–Whitney U test. Cumulative survival was analysed using the Kaplan–Meier method and life table analysis. Log rank test was used in the overall comparison of survival curves for the MVT versus systemic VTE group. Patients were censored for death in both groups until end of follow-up, September 6, 2017. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Comparison of patient characteristics and acquired risk factors in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis versus systemic VTE

Patients with MVT (n = 120; all symptomatic) were younger (p<0.001), had higher glomerular filtration rate (93 ml/min versus 67 ml/min; p < 0.001), lower prevalence of smoking (p < 0.001), and had less often undergone recent surgery (p=0.025) compared to patients with systemic VTE. In six individuals with median age 75 years (IQR 60-82) fatal MVT was detected at autopsy. Previous VTE tended to be more prevalent in patients with MVT (p = 0.072). The prevalences of cancer (19.2% in MVT versus 12.1% in VTE; p=0.026) and intra-abdominal cancer (16.7% in MVT versus 2.3% in VTE; p < 0.001) were both higher in MVT (Table 1). Of nine patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm in the MVT group, eight (89%) were JAK-2 mutation positive. The prevalences of cast therapy, trauma and immobilization in the VTE cohort were 3.9% (57/1452), 8.2% (119/1452) and 17.1% (248/1452), respectively.

Comparison of inherited thrombophilia in tested patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis versus systemic VTE

The prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation was lower in patients with MVT compared to patients with systemic VTE

 Table 1
 Comparison of patient characteristics and acquired risk factors in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis versus systemic VTE

Variable	MVT	Systemic VTE	p value
Number of patients	120	1452	
Median age (IQR); years	58 (47-70)	66 (53-76)	< 0.001
Female sex (%)	53 (44.2)	739 (50.9)	0.16
GFR (ml/min)	93 (74–136) (n=114)	67 (52–79) (n=970)	< 0.001
Platelet count ($\times 10^{9}/L$)	260 (177-340) (n=112)	244 (204–299) (n=1411)	0.35
Ongoing VTE prophylaxis (%)	2/116 (1.7)	30 (2.1)	0.80
Acquired risk factors (%)	82/107 (76.6)	1186/1396 (85.0)	0.022
Previous venous thromboembolism (any)	24/120 (20.0)	203/1451 (14.0)	0.072
BMI \geq 30 kg/m ²	24/88 (27.3)	296/1364 (21.7)	0.22
Smoking (ex or current)	36/103 (35.0)	771/1346 (57.3)	< 0.001
Surgical intervention (≤ 6 weeks)	8/117 (6.8)	207 (14.3)	0.025
Long travel (\geq 3 h)	7/117 (6.0)	102 (7.0)	0.67
Malignancy (solid cancer)	23 (19.2)	176 (12.1)	0.026
Intra-abdominal malignancy	20 (16.7)	33 (2.3)	< 0.001
Hormone therapy (female only)	7/53 (13.2)	161/739 (21.8)	0.14
Pregnancy	0/53 (0)	17/739 (2.3)	0.62
None of these acquired risk factors	25/107 (23.4)	210/1396 (15.0)	0.022
Strong provocative risk factor (recent surgery or malignancy)	28/119 (23.5)	356 (24.5)	0.81

 Table 2
 Comparison of inherited thrombophilia in tested patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis versus systemic VTE

Variable	MVT	Systemic VTE	p value
Number of patients	120	1452	
Heterozygous FVL mutation (%)	19/89 (21.3)	348/1021 (34.1)	0.014
Homozygous FVL mutation (%)	3/89 (3.4)	36/1021 (3.5)	0.94
FVL mutation (any) (%)	22/89 (24.7)	384/1021 (37.6)	0.015
FVL mutation (any) without malignancy (%)	21/79 (26.6)	360/926 (38.9)	0.031
Heterozygous PT mutation (%)	3/89 (3.4)	58/1259 (4.6)	0.79
Homozygous PT mutation (%)	0/89 (0.0)	0/1259 (0.0)	-
PT mutation (any) (%)	3/89 (3.4)	58/1259 (4.6)	0.79
Compound FVL and PT mutation (%)	0/89 (0.0)	11/1245 (0.9)	1.0
FVL or PT mutation (any) (%)	25/89 (28.1)	429/1036 (41.4)	0.014
No FVL or PT mutation (%)	64/89 (72.0)	605/1036 (58.4)	0.013

FVL Factor V Leiden, PT prothrombin

Fig. 1 Kaplan–Meier analysis of long-term survival in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis (MVT) and systemic venous thromboembolism (VTE). Life table showing patients at risk at each time point. Standard error of cumulative proportion surviving at end of interval is stated within parentheses. Censored patients are marked with ticks



 Patients at risk:
 120 (0.04)
 75 (0.04)
 48 (0.04)
 36 (0.05)
 17 (0.09)
 MVT

 1452 (0.01)
 1267 (0.01)
 1111 (0.01)
 992 (0.01)
 610 (0.02)
 Systemic VTE

(24.7% versus 37.6%; p=0.015). The prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation without presence of cancer was also lower in MVT compared to VTE (26.6% versus 38.9%; p=0.031). There was no difference in prevalence of the prothrombin (PT) mutation between the two groups (Table 2).

Comparison of survival in patients with mesenteric venous thrombosis versus systemic VTE

Thirty-day mortality was higher in the MVT group (10.8% versus 0.5% in VTE; p < 0.001), but did not differ at

long-term follow-up according to the Kaplan–Meier analysis (p=0.73) (Fig. 1). The cause of the 13 deaths in the MVT group at 30 days were the following: Intestinal ischaemia (n=9), liver cirrhosis (n=2), pulmonary embolism (n=2) and pancreatic cancer with metastasis (n=2). Among these 13 deaths, eight patients underwent clinical autopsy and additional two underwent bowel resection during surgery. The cause of the seven deaths in the VTE group at 30 days were the following: Metastatic cancer (pulmonary [2], pancreatic [1] and unknown [1]) disease (n=4), operation for gastric cancer (n=1), pulmonary embolism (n=3), acute

myocardial infarction with multiple arterial embolization (n=2) and cerebral haemorrhage (n=1). Among these seven deaths, three underwent clinical autopsy and additional one was operated upon. As multiple causes of death were registered for some patients, the number of causes exceeds the number of patients in each group.

Discussion

Patients with MVT and systemic VTE have different risk factor profile as shown in this population-based comparative study. Patients with MVT have a higher prevalence of cancer, and the present study data suggests that intra-abdominal cancer should simultaneously be excluded at the diagnostic CT examination of the abdomen for MVT. Screening for occult cancer in the chest, breast, cervix or prostate, showed a low prevalence of occult cancer in patients with first unprovoked systemic VTE, not increasing after adding a CT examination of the abdomen and pelvis [11]. The high prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation without presence of cancer in both groups, 27% in MVT and 39% in systemic VTE, suggests that screening for thrombophilia may be considered in both study groups. The much higher 30-day mortality of 10.8% in the MVT group, mostly caused by intestinal infarction, is of particular concern, and anxiety of recurrence of MVT, development towards intestinal infarction and death, may lead to both unselected screening for thrombophilia and consideration of life-long anticoagulation treatment, especially in the absence of a sole reversible risk factor such as first episode of acute pancreatitis and trauma [12, 13].

The vast majority of patients will receive indefinite anticoagulation treatment due to their high MVT related mortality [1, 4]. For patients in whom the decision of indefinite anticoagulation is made due to the presence of a non-reversible strong risk factor, such as active cancer, further thrombophilia testing has no clinical consequences. The principle of indefinite treatment in patients without detection of any risk factor is in line with current American College of Chest Physicians guidelines for VTE, recommending indefinite anticoagulation treatment for patients "with a first VTE that is an unprovoked proximal DVT of the leg or PE and who have a low or moderate bleeding risk" [14].

Importantly, testing for thrombophilia including both inherited factors such as Factor V Leiden mutation, prothrombin gene mutation, and deficiencies of protein C, protein S, antithrombin, and acquired thrombophilic factors such as Janus kinase 2 v617F (JAK2) mutation, lupus anticoagulant, and cardiolipin antibodies is not expensive in relation to other diagnostic tests. Current price at the present study centre is $302 \in [15]$. The duration of anticoagulation therapy in patients with an identified non-reversible provoking factor such as Factor V Leiden mutation is a matter of debate on the other hand [4]. In a population-based study including 900 VTE patients, patients with heterozygous FVL mutation had an increased risk (Odds ratio 2.4) for new VTE recurrence during a mean follow up of 5 years [8]. The high rate of inherited and acquired prothrombotic factors present in patients with MVT [7] and potential severe clinical consequences of recurrence makes experts tend to offer patients with identified laboratory-confirmed thrombophilia indefinite anticoagulation, despite low level of evidence. Consequently, routine laboratory screening may be considered in patients with MVT without an identified provocative factor on CT scan. The European Society of Vascular Surgery guidelines recommend lifelong anticoagulation in patients with MVT with proven thrombophilia [4].

The limitations of the study are attributed to the retrospective design of data collection in patients with MVT. whereas systemic VTE data in MATS were prospectively registered. The finding that MVT patients were less likely smokers than patients with systemic VTE might have been attributed to younger age [16] and retrospective data sampling in the MVT group. The younger age of MVT patients is more difficult to explain taking into account that the prevalence of cancer, which increases with age [17], was higher in this group, and that an aged subgroup of six individuals with MVT detected at autopsy were included in the MVT group. This age discrepancy between the two groups needs to be externally validated in another comparative cohort study. In fact, it seems likely that younger age in the MVT group is a factor contributing to the absence of mortality difference at long-term.

Only Factor V Leiden and prothrombin mutation was documented for the systemic VTE patients in MATS, whereas a full thrombophilia panel with eight tests including JAK2 mutation [7] was available for 74% in the MVT cohort. In contrast to the prevalence of heterozygous FVL mutation, the small sample size of patients with homozygous FVL mutation makes evaluation of differences in prevalence between the two groups impossible. It would have been very interesting to evaluate differences in prevalence of JAK2 mutation and clinical consequences between these two groups, considering the relative high incidence of myeloproliferative neoplasm in the MVT group [5]. A prospective large nationwide cohort study with sufficient number of patients with both MVT and systemic VTE is needed to evaluate differences in risk factor profiles of other thrombophilias than factor V Leiden and prothrombin mutation. Novel candidate markers for venous thrombosis such as plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 should then be considered in the test panel [18, 19]. Since thrombophilia profiles may vary greatly in different populations [7, 20], the fact that the compared cohorts are from the same population constitutes an important strength of the present study.

In conclusion, patients with MVT have different risk factor profile than those with systemic VTE; higher prevalence of cancer and lower prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation. Intra-abdominal cancer should be excluded in MVT patients, and the high prevalence of factor V Leiden mutation without presence of cancer in both groups suggests that screening for thrombophilia in patients without cancer should be considered in this population for both groups unless the clinician beforehand irrespective of thrombophilia can decide to give indefinite anticoagulation.

Funding Scandinavian Research Foundation for Venous Diseases.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Acosta S, Alhadad A, Svensson P, Ekberg O (2008) Epidemiology, risk and prognostic factors in mesenteric venous thrombosis. Br J Surg 95:1245–1251
- Kumar S, Sarr MG, Kamath PS (2001) Mesenteric venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med 345:1683–8
- Salim S, Ekberg O, Elf J, Zarrouk M, Gottsater A, Acosta S (2018) Clinical implications of CT findings in mesenteric venous thrombosis at admission. Emerg Radiol 25:407–413
- Bjorck M, Koelemay M, Acosta S, Bastos Goncalves F, Kolbel T et al (2017) Editor's choice—management of the diseases of mesenteric arteries and veins: Clinical Practice Guidelines of the European Society of Vascular Surgery (ESVS). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 53:460–510
- De Stefano V, Vannucchi AM, Ruggeri M, Cervantes F, Alvarez-Larran A, Iurlo A et al (2016) Splanchnic vein thrombosis in myeloproliferative neoplasms: risk factors for recurrences in a cohort of 181 patients. Blood Cancer J 6:e493
- Connors JM (2017) Thrombophilia testing and venous thrombosis. N Engl J Med 377:1177–1187
- Zarrouk M, Salim S, Elf J, Gottsater A, Acosta S (2017) Testing for thrombophilia in mesenteric venous thrombosis—retrospective

original study and systematic review. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 31:39-48

- Sveinsdottir SV, Saemundsson Y, Isma N, Gottsater A, Svensson PJ (2012) Evaluation of recurrent venous thromboembolism in patients with Factor V Leiden mutation in heterozygous form. Thromb Res 130:467–471
- Wieloch M, Själander A, Frykman V, Rosenqvist M, Eriksson N, Svensson PJ (2011) Anticoagulation control in Sweden: reports of time in therapeutic range, major bleeding, and thrombo-embolic complications from the national quality registry AuriculA. Eur Heart J 32:2282–2289
- Isma N, Svensson PJ, Gottsäter A, Lindblad B (2009) Prospective analysis of risk factors and distribution of venous thromboembolism in the populaion-based Malmö Thrombophilia Study (MATS). Thromb Res 124:663–666
- Carrier M, Lazo-Langner A, Shivakumar S, Tagalakis V, Zaryachanski R et al for the SOME Investigators (2015) Screening for occult cancer in unprovoked cancer in unprovoked venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 373:697–704
- Ahmed SU, Rana SS, Ahluwalia J, Varma N, Sharma R, Gupta R et al (2018) Role of thrombophilia in splanchnic venous thrombosis in acute pancreatitis. Ann Gastroenterol 31:371–378
- Cannon KA, Badiee J, Brill JB, Olson EJ, Sise MJ, Bansal V, Sise CB, Shackford SR (2018) Hereditary thrombophilia in trauma patients with venous thromboembolism: is routine screening necessary? J Trauma Acute Care Surg 84:330–333
- Kearon C, Akl EA, Ornelas J, Blaivas A, Jimenez D, Bounameaux H et al (2016) Antithrombotic therapy for VTE disease: CHEST guideline and expert panel report. Chest 149:315–352
- Zarrouk M, Salim S, Elf J, Gottsäter A, Acosta S (2018) Thrombophilia testing in mesenteric venous thrombosis, when to screen. AME Med J 3:90
- Ali SM, Chaix B, Merlo J, Rosvall M, Wamala S, Lindström M (2009) Gender differences in daily smoking prevalence in different age strata: a population-based study in southern Sweden. Scand J Publ Health 37:146–152
- Ohlsson H, Merlo J (2011) Place effects for areas defined by administrative boundaries: a life course analysis of mortality and cause specific morbidity in Scania, Sweden. Soc Sci Med 73:1145–1151
- Sundquist K, Wang X, Svensson PJ, Sundquist J, Hedelius A, Larsson Lönn S et al (2015) Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 4G/5G polymorphism, factor V Leiden, prothrombin mutations and the risk of VTE recurrence. Thromb Haemost 114:1156–1164
- Prabhudesai A, Shetty S, Ghosh K, Kulkarni B (2017) Investigation of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) 4G/5G promoter polymorphism in indian venous thrombosis patients: a case-control study. Eur J Haematol 99:249–254
- Sutkowska E, Mcbane RD, Tafur AJ, Sutkowski K, Grill DE, Slusser JP et al (2013) Thrombophilic differences in splanchnic vein thrombosis and lower extremity deep venous thrombosis in North America. J Gastroenterol 48:1111–1118